
1800 12th Street | PO Box 2004 | Cayce SC 29171 
P 803 796 9020 | F 803 796 9072 

caycesc.gov 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
City of Cayce 

Regular Council Meeting 
Tuesday, January 2, 2024 

6:00 p.m. – Cayce City Hall – 1800 12th Street 
www.caycesc.gov  

 
To Access Council Meeting Livestream, click 
https://www.youtube.com/@cityofcayce1137/streams 

 
 

 
I. Call to Order 

 
A. Invocation and Pledge of Allegiance 

 
B. Approval of Minutes 

December 5, 2023 Regular Council Meeting  
 

II. Public Comment Regarding Items on the Agenda 
    

 III.        Presentations  
 

A.       Presentation of Distinguished Budget Presentation Award for Fiscal Year 2023- 
2024 from the Government Finance Officers Association of the United States and 
Canada 
 

B. Presentation of a Certificate of Achievement for Excellence in Financial Reporting 
Award for Fiscal Year 2021-2022 from the Government Finance Officers 
Association of the United States and Canada 

 
C. Presentation of the City of Cayce FY 2021-2022 Comprehensive Annual Financial 

Report by Mauldin & Jenkins, CPA   
 

IV.        Resolution  
 

A.       Consideration and Approval of Resolution Recognizing Mr. Danny Crowe’s 25  
Years Serving as the City of Cayce’s City Attorney 

 
V.       Ordinance 
 

A.       Discussion and Approval of Ordinance 2024-01 Amending City Code Section  
2-66 Concerning Regular Meetings of Council – First Reading  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Mayor 
Elise Partin 

Mayor Pro-Tem Council Members City Manager      Deputy City  Manager 
          Tim James Phil Carter Tracy Hegler       

             Hunter Sox 
            Byron Thomas 

Jim Crosland 

Assistant City Manager 
Michael Conley  

http://www.caycesc.gov/
https://www.youtube.com/@cityofcayce1137/streams


 
 
 
 
 
 
 

B. Discussion and Approval of Ordinance 2024-02 Granting Lumos Fiber of South 
Carolina, LLC a Nonexclusive Franchise for the Use of Public Streets and Public 
Rights-of-Way for Facilities for Telecommunications Services – First Reading 
 

 
VI. Committee Matters 

 
A.        Appointments and Reappointments 

Planning Commission – One (1) Position  
Beautification Foundation – Two (2) Positions  
 

    VII.  City Manager’s Report 
 

VIII.        Council Comments 
   

  IX. Executive Session 
 

A.   Receipt of legal advice relating to claims and potential claims by and against the 
City and other matters covered by the attorney-client privilege 
 
a. Update on Lexington County’s Cancellation of Road Maintenance Agreement 
b. Claim for Improvements to Taylor Street at New State Road 

 
B.        Discussion of negotiations incident to proposed contractual arrangements and 

proposed purchases of property 
 

C.   Discussion of compensation of an employee - City Manager’s benefit package 
review 
 

 X. Reconvene  
 

  XI. Possible actions by Council in follow up to Executive Session 
   

 XII. Adjourn 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

SPECIAL NOTE:  Upon request, the City of Cayce will provide this document in 
whatever form necessary for the physically challenged or impaired. 



1800 12th Street | PO Box 2004 | Cayce SC 29171 
P 803 796 9020 | F 803 796 9072 

caycesc.gov 

 
 

City of Cayce 
Regular Council Meeting 

Tuesday, December 5, 2023 

The December 5, 2023, Regular Council Meeting was held this evening at 6:00 p.m. in 
Council Chambers.  Those present included Mayor Elise Partin, Mayor Pro Tem Tim James and 
Council Members Phil Carter, Hunter Sox and Byron Thomas.  City Manager Tracy Hegler, 
Deputy City Manager Jim Crosland, Assistant City Manager Michael Conley, Municipal Clerk 
Mendy Corder, Police Chief Chris Cowan, Fire Chief Steven Bullard, Finance Director Kelly 
McMullen, Human Resources Director Lynn Dooley and Utility Director Betsy Catchings were 
also in attendance.   

Mayor Partin asked if members of the press and the public were duly notified of the 
meeting in accordance with the FOIA.  Ms. Corder confirmed they were notified.   

Call to Order 

Mayor Partin called the meeting to order and Mayor Pro Tem James gave the invocation.  
Mayor Partin led the assembly in the Pledge of Allegiance. 

Approval of Minutes 

Mayor Pro Tem James made a motion to approve the November 15, 2023 Regular 
Council Meeting minutes as written.  Council Member Thomas seconded the motion which was 
unanimously approved by roll call vote.  

Public Comment Regarding Items on the Agenda 

No one signed up for Public Comment.   

Presentations 

A. Presentation of Cayce Calendar Contest Winners

Mayor Partin stated that every year the City had a photo contest for the Cayce Calendar 
that was given to all residents.  She stated that Ms. Amanda Bundrick’s photo of her dog Elliot 
was chosen as the 2024 winner and was featured on the cover of the calendar.  She stated that 
the grand prize winner was awarded $200 and the other winners were awarded $100.  She 
thanked everyone for their participation and advised that calendars were available to be picked 
up at City Hall.  

Mayor 
Elise Partin 

Mayor Pro-Tem Council Members City Manager      Deputy City  Manager 
          Tim James Phil Carter Tracy Hegler   

             Hunter Sox 
    Byron Thomas

Jim Crosland 

Assistant City Manager 
Michael Conley  

ITEM I. B. 



City of Cayce 
Minutes of 12/05/2023 Regular Council Meeting 
Page Number 2 

 
B.  Presentation of Whole Sole Award 

 
Mayor Partin asked the City’s School Resource Officers to join her at the podium.  Officers 

Andrew Lopez, Daniel Green, Eddie Lowry, Eddie West. Jarvis Riley, Justin Smith, Mandy 
Fournier, Neville Richardson, Sidai Cochrane and Terrell Thailand joined her in front of the 
assembly.  Mayor Partin stated that the Police Community Services Division hosted their second 
annual Cayce Character Camp this past summer for 33 local children.  During the two (2) weeks 
the children interacted with the City’s police team and local leaders while learning theme 
character traits. This year's theme was designed to help the children succeed through practicing 
patience, motivation, honesty, dependability, and thoughtfulness.  The police team orchestrated 
several field trips that included the Summit Trampoline Park, the South Carolina Fire Academy 
and the Cayce Wastewater Treatment Plant.  Through the camp, the kids were able to see the 
human side of the City’s amazing officers and their desire to see the campers succeed.  By being 
creative, flexible, compassionate, and empathetic as they always were, the City’s officers were 
able to form relationships with the children and the community.  Mayor Partin stated that while not 
normally seen as a routine part of a Police Officer’s job, the team made the character camp such 
an overwhelming success that they were already planning next year's camp.  
 

Mayor Partin stated that two (2) staff members at the City’s Wastewater Treatment Plant 
went above and beyond there to make the field trip fun and informative for the children.  
Administrative Coordinator Lindsay Reynolds and Lab Director Denis Bergeron’s contribution to 
the event was creative and special.  She stated that they decided to take the field trip to a 
completely different level and to make it a memorable experience for the attendees. They 
immediately began to plan how to make the visit not only educational, but fun as well. They spent 
hours brainstorming and coming up with creative ways to explain Wastewater Treatment at a 
level the children could relate to and understand. Their planning resulted in making a mini 
desktop version of the Wastewater Treatment Plant where one could visually see how solids go 
through the plant and get treated. After the demonstration and a brief talk about wastewater 
treatment basics the kids were able to participate in fun and educational activities such as a toilet 
paper toss, having their picture taken in a poop emoji photo stand and a water squirting toilet 
game. All these things were designed and built because of the brainstorming between Lindsay 
and Dennis.  Mayor Partin stated that Lindsay and Dennis's exceptional creativity, hard work and 
efforts towards teaching children the importance of wastewater treatment were commendable 
and helped to turn a field trip tour into an event that the kids would not soon forget.  She stated 
that they went the extra mile and were very deserving of the Whole Sole Award.  

 
Resolution 
 
A. Consideration and Approval of Resolution Recognizing the Greater Cayce West 

Columbia Chamber of Commerce for Being Awarded the Carolinas Outstanding 
Chamber of the Year 

 
Council Member Thomas made a motion to approve a Resolution recognizing the Greater 

Cayce West Columbia Chamber of Commerce for being Awarded the Carolinas Outstanding 
Chamber of the Year.  Council Member Sox seconded the motion which was unanimously 
approved by roll call vote. 
 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



City of Cayce 
Minutes of 12/05/2023 Regular Council Meeting 
Page Number 3 
 
 
Ordinance 

 
A. Discussion and Approval of Ordinance 2023-13 Adopting a Revised Business License 

Ordinance in Accordance with the Business License Standardization Act (2020 Act 
No. 176) – Second Reading 

 
Ms. Hegler stated that there has been a slight change to the Ordinance from First 

Reading.  She stated that the change was an amendment to ensure that what was being 
proposed by the State did not conflict with the City’s existing Ordinances.  She stated that the 
City Attorney drafted the amendment.   

 
Councilmember Sox made a motion to amend the proposed Ordinance and it’s exhibit as 

to conform to the version in the agenda packet by adding exhibit A, heading. Two, adding the 
indicated language to sub section 22 Utilities and adding sub section 2211 Electric Power and 
sub section 2212 Natural Gas with language for each as indicated.  Mayor Pro Tem James 
seconded the motion which was unanimously approved by roll call vote.   

 
Council Member Sox made a motion to approve Ordinance 2023-13 as amended.  

Council Member Thomas seconded the motion which was unanimously approved by roll call vote.   
 

Items for Discussion and Possible Approval 
 
A. Discussion and Approval of 2024 Council Meeting Dates 

 
Ms. Hegler stated that she had the opportunity to speak to Council Members Sox and 

Thomas that day and would like to work with the rest of Council over the next few weeks to 
discuss adopting a new format for Council Meetings.  She stated that it would require an 
Ordinance amendment since the current Ordinance established how Council meets.  She stated 
that she would like to present the amended Ordinance to Council in January.  Ms. Hegler stated 
that it was very likely that the dates would change based on how they worked on a meeting 
format to incorporate work sessions and less business meetings.  
 

Council Member Carter made a motion to approve the 2024 Council Meeting dates.  
Council Member Sox seconded the motion which was unanimously approved by roll call vote.   

 
B. Discussion and Approval of a Grant Award from the Rural Infrastructure Authority for 

Six Mile Creek Sewer Interceptor 
 

Ms. Hegler stated that the Six Mile Creek Sewer Interceptor was the City's largest 
transmission line and consisted of a 30-inch and a 36-inch gravity sewer lines that served the 
western half of the City surface area and the areas surrounding the Six Mile Creek drainage 
basin.  She stated that this area was around the Moss Creek Neighborhood.  She stated that the 
flow of this line was transmitted to Pump Station One with the pipe material since the majority of 
the interceptor was concrete.  She stated that over the years sewer gases had caused severe 
deterioration of the concrete pipe, resulting in unfortunate failures of the interceptor.  Ms. Hegler 
stated that the most recent failure occurred in 2022 and the failures had resulted in emergency 
repairs and significant expenses to the City.  She stated that supply chain issues had further 
complicated repair since a large diameter line as this size pipe was difficult to find. 
 

 
 
 
 
 



City of Cayce 
Minutes of 12/05/2023 Regular Council Meeting 
Page Number 4 
 

 
 
Ms. Hegler stated that as the need increased to mitigate future failures it was the goal of 

the Utility Department to rehabilitate the remaining sections of the interceptor. She stated that the 
entire length for this interceptor was nearly four (4) miles long, thus making it a very expensive 
and monumental task.  She stated that the Utility Department proposed to break it down into 
more manageable phases.  She stated that staff had the opportunity over the last few months to 
apply for and were looking to receive a million dollars in grant funding from the Rural 
Infrastructure Authority for the first phase of the project.  Ms. Hegler stated that the proposed 
project would include the rehabilitation which was the lining of approximate 1,200 feet of a 30-
inch gravity sewer, and 1,430 feet of a 36-inch gravity sewer.  She stated that in addition, 
approximately 20 manholes would be rehabilitated under this proposed project.  She stated that 
the total construction cost of that phase was estimated to be $1.4 million and the engineering 
support for this project would be provided by the City’s Utility staff.  Ms. Hegler stated that the 
City would be required to pay a minimum of 25% of the total construction costs and anything in 
excess of that amount thus it was estimated that the City would be responsible for approximately 
$408,000.  She stated that the final amount would be determined after the engineering design 
was finished and staff got some quotes.   
 

Council Member Sox made a motion to approve the award letter from the South Carolina 
Rural Infrastructure Authority for a million dollar grant for the rehabilitation of the Six Mile Creek 
sewer interceptor phase one, authorize the City Manager to execute the grant agreement and 
approve the match and the additional funding required to complete this phase of the project not to 
exceed $408,000 and use Utility Capital Reserves funds for that.  Council Member Thomas 
seconded the motion.  Council Member Sox asked Ms. Hegler how much money was in that 
account.  She stated approximately $1.3 million was in the account.  Mayor Partin called the 
question which was unanimously approved by roll call vote.    
 

C. Discussion and Approval for Purchase of a Sewer Camera 
Ms. Hegler stated that in September 2006 Council approved the purchase of a sewer 

camera and since that purchase City staff had used the camera on a regular basis for the 
examination of City sewer lines.  She stated that the camera had been extremely helpful in 
locating sewer main blockages, locating sewer taps for customers that did not have cleanouts 
and locating sewer manholes that had been buried.  She stated that the camera was also used to 
visually inspect the condition of sewer laterals, assess sewer main pipe material and condition, 
inspect for inflow and infiltration and to perform final inspections on newly installed sewer lines 
and veins.  Ms. Hegler stated that the camera had reached the end of its useful life and had 
become unreliable.  She stated that it had been sent off for repair several times and the repairs 
only provided a temporary fix.  

 
Ms. Hegler stated that the Utilities Field Operation staff was currently using a loaner 

camera while the City's camera was again being evaluated for repairs that would likely only 
provide a temporary solution.  She stated that a replacement camera would cost approximately 
$27,500 without tax and that price included trading in the aged camera.  She stated that an Aries 
camera was proposed and was compatible with the existing tracker system that was used to 
transport the camera within the lines and was compatible with the software that the City already 
had.  She stated that staff was asking Council to waive the informal bid procedure so staff could 
purchase this particular camera.  Ms. Hegler stated that per City Ordinance Council could waive 
the informal and formal procedures when it was to the advantage for the City to acquire goods 
and or services on a most convenient source basis or sole source basis in situations of prolonged 
supply chain delays, or on the basis of a previously awarded vendor contract which this would fall 
under.  She stated that since this item was unbudgeted, staff was requesting it be funded through 
the Utilities Capital Reserves. 

 
 



City of Cayce 
Minutes of 12/05/2023 Regular Council Meeting 
Page Number 5 

 
 

 
     
Council Member Sox made a motion to waive the formal bid process and allow staff to 

purchase a new Aries sewer camera at a cost not to exceed $27,500 plus tax.  Council Member 
Thomas seconded the motion.  Council Member Sox asked how much the City was being 
credited for turning in the current camera.  Ms. Catchings stated approximately $6,000.  Mayor 
Partin called the question which was unanimously approved by roll call vote.    

 
D. Discussion and Approval to Purchase a Replacement Wastewater Collections Vehicle 

 
Ms. Hegler stated that the City’s Wastewater Collections Department had a 2015 

Chevrolet Silverado 1500 Crew Cab that had suffered a major engine failure.  She stated that this 
vehicle was primarily used for the repair and maintenance of the City’s pump stations throughout 
its large service area.  She stated that a replacement motor for this vehicle had been estimated to 
cost approximately $7,400 and the current replacement schedule for these trucks was five (5) 
years or 400,000 miles, so it was already on the replacement schedule for the upcoming year.  
Ms. Hegler stated that the total cost to replace the vehicle was $48,768 which included the 
vehicle delivery and all associated equipment.  She stated that staff was requesting to use Utility 
funds from the Utility fund balance for this unexpected and unbudgeted purchase.  She stated 
that the vehicle was currently available at Love Chevrolet on a State contract.   

 
Council Member Sox made a motion to approve the purchase of one (1) 2024 Chevrolet 

Silverado Crew Cab for the Utility Department to replace the current truck in the amount of 
$48,768, utilizing Utility fund balance.  Council Member Thomas seconded the motion.  Council 
Member Carter stated that the Utility Budget had really taken a beating that night.  He asked what 
was the normal increase in the fund balance from year to year.  Ms. Hegler stated that this was 
just one (1) of the Utility fund balances that the City had that was a capital reserve account.  She 
stated there was a variety of them and that funding was meant to be used for unexpected 
expenses.  Mayor Partin called the question which was unanimously approved by roll call vote.   

 
Committee Matters    

 
A. Approval to Enter the following Committee Approved Minutes into the City’s Record 

Events Committee – October 12, 2023 
 

Council Member Sox made a motion to enter the October 12, 2023 Events Committee 
meeting minutes into the City’s record.  Council Member Thomas seconded the motion which 
was unanimously approved by roll call vote.      

 
B. Appointments and Reappointments 

Beautification Foundation – Two (2) Positions 
Municipal Election Commission – One (1) Position 
 

Mayor Partin stated that Ms. Colleen Bradley and Ms. Kelly King’s terms on the 
Beautification Foundation expired in December and they both would like to serve again.  Council 
Member Sox made a motion to reappoint Ms. Bradley and Ms. King to the Beautification 
Foundation.  Council Member Carter seconded the motion which was unanimously approved by 
roll call vote.   

 
 
 
 
 



City of Cayce 
Minutes of 12/05/2023 Regular Council Meeting 
Page Number 6 

 
Mayor Partin stated that the City had received a potential member application from Ms. 

Fonda Wilkins for the Cayce Municipal Election Commission.  Council Member Carter made a 
motion to approve Ms. Wilkins’ appointment. Council Member Sox seconded the motion which 
was unanimously approved by roll call vote. 

 
 
City Manager’s Report 
 
Ms. Hegler stated that staff was very disappointed in having to cancel two (2) of the 

Christmas in Cayce events the past weekend due to forecasted inclement weather.  She stated 
that staff closely watched the weather forecast all week and had to make the call for the safety of 
staff and visitors.  She stated that the Museum was planning to hold a smaller version of its event 
that Sunday from 2pm to 5pm.  She encouraged everyone to attend the event and thanked staff 
for all the work that went into planning these events for the community and visitors.  She stated 
that it was a lot more work than people realized and so canceling an event was very 
disappointing to staff. 
 
 Ms. Hegler stated that the treasured Greater Cayce West Columbia Chamber of 
Commerce Parade of Lights was being held that Saturday.  She stated that Council might have 
seen posts online or received calls about Lumos fiber optics being in the community.  She stated 
that the City did not regulate them and they were actually permitted by SC DOT to work in public 
rights of way and utility easements.  She stated that staff had been advising citizens of that and if 
they had concerns to contact the Lumos customer support line, or the Public Service Commission 
which regulated those issues.   
 

Ms. Hegler stated that the City’s Police Department rolled out a new initiative focused on 
the safety of the elderly and aging population in the City.  She stated that the initiative was called 
CASE, Cayce assisting seniors and elderly.  She stated that it was geared towards serving and 
advocating for those in the advanced years of life and the Police Department was launching the 
new initiative to reduce crime and protect the vulnerable population in the community.  She stated 
that specifically, this initiative was being unveiled during the holidays as a reminder that this was 
a time of year when criminals often target the senior and elderly populations.  Ms. Hegler stated 
that CASE was going to work with partnerships around the City to identify potentially vulnerable, 
elderly citizens in the population so staff could keep them on file and check on them regularly to 
ensure they were being cared for and not being victimized and also to check to see if they 
needed any added support.  She stated that also through those partnerships and identification of 
those that needed support the Police Department would be providing free training opportunities to 
enable them to connect with resources that they might need.  Ms. Hegler stated kudos to the 
City’s Police Department for rolling out such a unique and necessary tool for the City’s citizens.  

 
Ms. Hegler stated that she was extremely proud of Ms. McMullen and the City’s finance 

team for being awarded two (2) awards.  She stated that the first award was a Certificate of 
Achievement for Excellence in Financial Reporting for the fiscal year 2021/ 2022.  She stated that 
this report prepared by the finance team had been judged by an impartial panel to ensure it met 
the highest standards of the program to include demonstrating constructive spirit of full disclosure 
to clearly communicate its financial story and motivate potential users and user groups to read 
the report.  She stated that the City was also awarded for the first time ever GFOA's 
Distinguished Budget Presentation award.  Ms. Hegler stated that it was not common to win this 
award.  She stated that it represented a significant achievement by the City and reflected the 

 
 
 
 
 
 



City of Cayce 
Minutes of 12/05/2023 Regular Council Meeting 
Page Number 7 

 
 

commitment of the governing body and staff to meet the highest principles of governmental 
budgeting and was totally initiated by Ms. McMullen to propel and highlight the City’s budgeting 
process.  She stated that this process would lead to a smoother format for sending regular 
budget updates to Council.  She stated that this was an awesome job of the City’s finance team 
not only for their continued excellence in financial reporting, but for going after first-ever awards.  
She stated that she would like to bring the finance team to a future meeting to do a formal 
presentation.  Ms. Hegler stated that she wanted to recognize that the City’s attorney, Mr. Danny 
Crowe, was starting his 25th year of work for the City.   
 

Council Comments 
 

Mayor Pro Tem James asked if there was any licensing required by the City for fiber optic 
companies that did work in the right-of-way.  Ms. Hegler stated that those businesses were 
permitted by the DOT to be in the public right of way and they were heavily protected by State 
law.  She stated that the City of Columbia shut them down recently because they hit some gas 
lines causing leaks.  She stated that there were obviously some safety concerns but otherwise, 
the City was preempted.  Mayor Partin stated that it was a preemption by State law of 
municipalities stopping them from being able to make those decisions themselves.  Mayor Pro 
Tem James stated that there were several people in the community being negatively impacted by 
the project.  Ms. Hegler stated that she had seen where there were issues with AT&T lines being 
cut but that was an issue between AT&T and Lumos.  Mayor Pro Tem James stated that the work 
crews were driving up in people's yards and digging up people's driveways.  Council Member Sox 
asked if the City coordinated with Lumos on marking lines.  Ms. Catchings stated that Lumos only 
had to submit a utility linking request.  Council Member Thomas asked if there was any way that 
citizens could take pictures and report damaged yards.  He stated that he had watched the work 
crews destroy his and his neighbor's yard.  Ms. Hegler stated that she would encourage residents 
to do that and call the Lumos customer support line.  Mayor Pro Tem James asked if the City 
could publicize the customer service line on its social media so it did not appear as though the 
City just turned a blind eye to it.  Ms. Hegler stated that she could talk to the City’s Public 
Relations Consultant about proactively planning something.  Council Member Carter asked if 
Lumos and Spectrum fell under some sort of general franchise agreement.  Ms. Hegler stated 
that they did.  Council Member Carter asked if the City could potentially not enter into a new 
agreement with them.  Ms. Hegler stated that the City was currently negotiating with them but 
they could not charge them the way they did other utilities.  She stated that they were preempted 
from that as well.  Council Member Sox stated that they only had to pay approximately $700.  Ms. 
Hegler stated that State law was supportive of trying to put in fiberoptic and the companies were 
given carte blanche to do that.  Mayor Partin stated that she did not want the City to be in the 
position of making blanket statements about a business not being a good partner.  Mayor Pro 
Tem James stated that he did want the City to say anything derogatory about a business but just 
tell the City’s residents how to report any issues. 

   
Council Member Thomas stated he wanted to thank Lieutenant West and Corporal Lopez 

for all they had been doing in the community.  He stated that he really appreciated seeing them in 
the community.  He stated that he literally met Lieutenant West that day when he stopped by 
while he was having a tour with Dominion.  He stated that he really appreciated Lt. West coming 
by and giving him his opinion on what they were talking about.  He stated that he was very nice 
and very classy and he could not wait to meet more Police Officers out in the community.  
Council Member Thomas stated that over the Thanksgiving break, he had the honor of giving 
food with the Cayce Action Group in the Pocomo community and it was a blessing to see so  

 
 
 
 
 



City of Cayce 
Minutes of 12/05/2023 Regular Council Meeting 
Page Number 8 
 

 
many beautiful elderly people in the community feel so appreciated and loved to receive those 
meals.  He stated that he also wanted to thank everyone that was involved with the Cayce 
Christmas tree lighting ceremony, especially to witness Cayce collecting canned goods for those 
in need.  He stated that the C in Cayce definitely meant community.  He stated that he was very, 
very proud of the City.  He stated that sadly some Christmas in Cayce events were canceled due 
to potential inclement weather, which was out of the City’s control.  Council Member Thomas 
stated that looking forward, he would love to look for ways for the City to be proactive in the event 
of weather.  He stated that he knew the City committees worked very hard to put together 
amazing programs and they wanted people that did not live in Cayce to come and take 
advantage of what was being offered.  He stated that these events brought families of all walks of 
life together and a beautiful Christmas feel to the City as well as visitors shopping and dining in 
the City after the events were over.   

                       
          Executive Session 

 
A. Receipt of legal advice relating to claims and potential claims by and against the City 

and other matters covered by the attorney-client privilege 
 

B. Personnel Matter – City Manager’s annual evaluation and salary review 
 

C. Discussion of appointment of City Attorney 
 

Council Member Sox made a motion to move into Executive Session.  Council Member 
Thomas seconded the motion which was unanimously approved by roll call vote.    

 
Reconvene 
 
After the Executive Session was concluded, Council Member Sox made a motion to 

reconvene the Regular meeting.  Mayor Pro Tem James seconded the motion which was 
unanimously approved by roll call vote.  Mayor Partin announced that no vote was taken in 
Executive Session other than to adjourn and resume the Regular meeting.   
 

Possible actions in follow up to Executive Session 
 
Council Member Sox made a motion to approve the City Manager’s salary as discussed in 

executive session with possible further action on a benefits package in January.  Mayor Pro Tem 
James seconded the motion.  Mayor Partin stated that she would like to say how awesome Ms. 
Hegler was and thanked her for all the good work that she did for the City and for Council.  She 
called the question which was unanimously approved by roll call vote.     

 
Mayor Pro Tem James stated that on behalf of the rest of Council, it gave him great 

privilege to make a motion to reappoint Mr. Danny Crowe as the City Attorney.  He stated that Mr. 
Crowe had done a wonderful job for the City for a quarter of a century.  He stated that also on 
behalf of Council he would like to ask the City Clerk to prepare a Resolution that celebrated Mr. 
Crowe’s 25 years of being the City Attorney.  Council Member Thomas seconded the motion.  
Mayor Partin thanked Mr. Crowe for all the awesome work he did for the City.  She stated that Mr. 
Crowe was one of the foremost municipal attorneys in the entire state of South Carolina.  Mayor 
Partin called the question which was unanimously approved by roll call vote.   

 
 
 
 
 
 



City of Cayce 
Minutes of 12/05/2023 Regular Council Meeting 
Page Number 9 
 

 
 
Mayor Partin stated that Council had to go back into Executive Session for the items that 

did not need any other further action, but just some discussion.  Council Member Carter made a 
motion to move into Executive Session for receipt of legal advice relating to claims and potential 
claims by and against the City and other matters covered by the attorney client privilege.  Council 
Member Thomas seconded the motion which was unanimously approved by roll call vote.   

 
Adjourn 

 
Mayor Pro Tem James made a motion to adjourn the meeting.  Council Member Carter 

seconded the motion which was unanimously approved by roll call vote.  There being no further 
business, the meeting adjourned at 9:23pm.    

 
   

 
      _______________________________  
      Elise Partin, Mayor 
 

ATTEST: 
_______________________________   
Mendy Corder, CMC, Municipal Clerk 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



FOR IMMEDIATE RELEASE

11/10/2023 For more information, contact: 
Technical Services Center
Phone: (312) 977-9700
Email: budgetaward@gfoa.org

(Chicago, Illinois)—Government Finance Officers Association is pleased to announce that City of Cayce, 
South Carolina received GFOA's Distinguished Budget Presentation Award for its budget.

The award represents a significant achievement by the entity. It reflects the commitment of the governing 
body and staff to meeting the highest principles of governmental budgeting. In order to receive the budget 
award, the entity had to satisfy nationally recognized guidelines for effective budget presentation. These 
guidelines are designed to assess how well an entity's budget serves as:

 a policy document
 a financial plan
 an operations guide
 a communications device

Budget documents must be rated "proficient" in all four categories, and in the fourteen mandatory criteria 
within those categories, to receive the award.

There are over 1,700 participants in the Budget Awards Program. The most recent Budget Award recipients, 
along with their corresponding budget documents, are posted quarterly on GFOA's website. Award 
recipients have pioneered efforts to improve the quality of budgeting and provide an excellent example for 
other governments throughout North America.

Government Finance Officers Association (GFOA) advances excellence in government finance by providing best 
practices, professional development, resources, and practical research for more than 22,500 members and the 
communities they serve.

ITEM III. A. 



12/4/2023

Kelly McMullen

City of Cayce, South Carolina

Dear Kelly:

Congratulations!

We are pleased to notify you that your annual comprehensive financial report for the fiscal year ended 
June 30, 2022 has met the requirements to be awarded GFOA's Certificate of Achievement for Excellence 
in Financial Reporting. The GFOA established the Certificate of Achievement for Excellence in Financial 
Reporting Program (Certificate Program) in 1945 to encourage and assist state and local governments to 
go beyond the minimum requirements of generally accepted accounting principles to prepare annual 
comprehensive financial reports that evidence the spirit of transparency and full disclosure and then to 
recognize individual governments that succeed in achieving that goal. The Certificate of Achievement is 
the highest form of recognition in governmental accounting and financial reporting. Congratulations, 
again, for having satisfied the high standards of the program.

Your electronic award packet contains the following:

 A "Summary of Grading" form and a confidential list of comments and suggestions for
possible improvements. We strongly encourage you to implement the recommended
improvements in your next report. Certificate of Achievement Program policy requires that
written responses to these comments and suggestions for improvement be included with your
2023 fiscal year end submission. If a comment is unclear or there appears to be a discrepancy,
please contact the Technical Services Center at (312) 977-9700 and ask to speak with a
Certificate of Achievement Program in-house reviewer.

 Certificate of Achievement. A Certificate of Achievement is valid for a period of one year. A
current holder of a Certificate of Achievement may reproduce the Certificate in its immediately
subsequent annual comprehensive financial report. Please refer to the instructions for reproducing
your Certificate in your next report.

 Award of Financial Reporting Achievement. When GFOA awards a government the Certificate
of Achievement for Excellence in Financial Reporting, we also present an Award of Financial
Reporting Achievement (AFRA) to the department identified in the application as primarily
responsible for achievement of the Certificate.

 Sample press release. Attaining this award is a significant accomplishment. Attached is a sample
news release that you may use to give appropriate publicity to this notable achievement.

ITEM III. B. 



In addition, award recipients will receive via mail either a plaque (if first-time recipients or if the 
government has received the Certificate ten times since it received its last plaque) or a brass medallion to 
affix to the plaque (if the government currently has a plaque with space to affix the medallion). Plaques 
and medallions will be mailed separately.

As an award-winning government, we would like to invite one or more appropriate members of the team 
that put together your annual comprehensive financial report to apply to join the Special Review 
Committee. As members of the Special Review Committee, peer reviewers get exposure to a variety of 
reports from around the country; gain insight into how to improve their own reports; achieve professional 
recognition; and provide valuable input that helps other local governments improve their reports. Please 
see our website for eligibility requirements and information on completing an application.

Thank you for participating in and supporting the Certificate of Achievement Program. If we may be of 
any further assistance, please contact the Technical Services Center at (312) 977-9700.

Sincerely,

Michele Mark Levine
Director, Technical Services

https://www.gfoa.org/CAFR-reviewer-eligibility
https://gfoa.org/certificate-achievement-excellence-financial-reporting-program-special-review-committee-applicatio-0


FOR IMMEDIATE RELEASE

12/4/2023 For more information contact: 
Michele Mark Levine, Director/TSC
Phone: (312) 977-9700
Fax: (312) 977-4806
Email: mlevine@gfoa.org

(Chicago, Illinois)—Government Finance Officers Association of the United States and Canada (GFOA) has 
awarded the Certificate of Achievement for Excellence in Financial Reporting to City of Cayce for its annual 
comprehensive financial report for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2022. The report has been judged by an 
impartial panel to meet the high standards of the program, which includes demonstrating a constructive "spirit 
of full disclosure" to clearly communicate its financial story and motivate potential users and user groups to read 
the report. 

The Certificate of Achievement is the highest form of recognition in the area of governmental accounting and 
financial reporting, and its attainment represents a significant accomplishment by a government and its 
management.

Government Finance Officers Association (GFOA) advances excellence in government finance by providing best 
practices, professional development, resources, and practical research for more than 21,000 members and the 
communities they serve.

ITEM III. B. 



ANNUAL
COMPREHENSIVE
FINANCIAL
REPORT

YEAR ENDED
JUNE 30,  2023
City of Cayce, South Carolina
www.caycesc.gov

ITEM III. C. 



CITY OF CAYCE 
ANNUAL COMPREHENSIVE 

FINANCIAL REPORT 
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2023 

TRACY L. HEGLER, AICP 
City Manager 

JAMES E. CROSLAND 
Deputy City Manager 

MICHAEL CONLEY 
Assistant City Manager 

Prepared by: 
Finance Department 



CITY OF CAYCE, SOUTH CAROLINA 

FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2023 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

  Page 

INTRODUCTORY SECTION 

 Letter of Transmittal ......................................................................................................................................... i - v 

List of Principal Officials .................................................................................................................................... vi 

 Organizational Chart .......................................................................................................................................... vii 

GFOA Certificate of Achievement .................................................................................................................... viii 

FINANCIAL SECTION 

 Independent Auditor’s Report ........................................................................................................................ 1 - 4 

 Management’s Discussion and Analysis .................................................................................................... 5 - 11 

Basic Financial Statements: 

Government-wide Financial Statements 

 Statement of Net Position ........................................................................................................................ 12 

Statement of Activities .............................................................................................................................. 13 

Fund Financial Statements 

Balance Sheet – Governmental Funds .................................................................................................... 14 

Reconciliation of the Governmental Funds Balance Sheet to the  

 Statement of Net Position .................................................................................................................... 15 

Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund 

 Balances – Governmental Funds ........................................................................................................ 16 

Reconciliation of the Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in  

Fund Balances of Governmental Funds to the Statement of Activities .......................................... 17 

Statement of Net Position – Proprietary Fund Type – Enterprise Fund .............................................. 18 

Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Fund Net Position –  

 Proprietary Fund Type – Enterprise Fund .......................................................................................... 19 

Statement of Cash Flows – Proprietary Fund Type – Enterprise Fund ................................... 20 and 21 

Statement of Fiduciary Net Position – Fiduciary Funds ....................................................................... 22

Statement of Changes in Fiduciary Net Position – Fiduciary Funds ................................................... 23

Notes to Financial Statements .............................................................................................................. 24 - 73 

  Required Supplementary Information: 

General Fund – Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in 

Fund Balances – Budget and Actual – GAAP Basis .......................................................................... 74 

Notes to Required Supplementary Information ..................................................................................... 75 

Schedule of Changes in the City’s Total OPEB Liability and Related Ratios ..................................... 76 

Schedule of the City’s Proportionate Share of the Net Pension Liability –  

 South Carolina Retirement System ..................................................................................................... 77 

Schedule of the City’s Proportionate Share of the Net Pension Liability –  

South Carolina Police Officers Retirement System ........................................................................... 77 

Schedule of the City’s Contributions –  

 South Carolina Retirement System ..................................................................................................... 78 

Schedule of the City’s Contributions –  

South Carolina Police Officers Retirement System ........................................................................... 78 

Notes to the Schedule of the City’s Contributions ................................................................................ 79 



CITY OF CAYCE, SOUTH CAROLINA 

FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2023 

TABLE OF CONTENTS (CONTINUED) 

  Page 

FINANCIAL SECTION (CONTINUED) 

 Supplementary Information: 

Combining and Individual Nonmajor Fund Financial Statements and Schedules: 

Combining Balance Sheet – Nonmajor Governmental Funds .............................................................. 80 

Combining Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund 

 Balances – Nonmajor Governmental Funds ...................................................................................... 81 

Water and Sewer Utility Fund: 

Water and Sewer Utility Fund - Schedule of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in 

Fund Net Position – Budget and Actual – GAAP Basis .................................................................... 82 

  Custodial Funds: 

Combining Statement of Fiduciary Net Position – Fiduciary Funds ................................................... 83 

Combining Statement of Changes in Fiduciary Net Position - Fiduciary Funds ................................ 84 

Victim’s Rights Assistance: 

Uniform Schedule of Court Fines, Assessments, and Surcharges (per ACT 96) ................... 85 and 86 

STATISTICAL SECTION 

 Financial Trends: 

  Net Position by Component ......................................................................................................................... 87 

  Changes in Net Position ................................................................................................................... 88 and 89 

Program Revenue by Function .................................................................................................................... 90 

Fund Balances – Governmental Funds ....................................................................................................... 91 

Changes in Fund Balances – Governmental Funds ...................................................................... 92 and 93 

 Revenue Capacity: 

Assessed Value and Estimated Actual Value of Taxable Property .......................................................... 94 

Property Tax Rates – Direct and Overlapping Governments ................................................................... 95 

  Principal Property Taxpayers....................................................................................................................... 96 

  Property Tax Levies and Collections .......................................................................................................... 97 

 Debt Capacity: 

Ratios of Outstanding Long-term Debt by Type ........................................................................................ 98 

Ratios of General Bonded Debt Outstanding ............................................................................................. 99 

  Total Direct and Overlapping Debt ............................................................................................................ 100 

  Legal Debt Margin Information .................................................................................................................. 101 

Pledged Revenue – Revenue Bond Coverage Water and Sewer Enterprise Fund ............................... 102 

  Construction Values ................................................................................................................................... 103 

Demographic and Economic Information: 

Demographic and Economic Statistics ..................................................................................................... 104 

  Principal Employers (Ten Largest) ............................................................................................................ 105 

 Operating Information: 

Full-time Equivalent City Government Employees by Function ............................................................ 106 

  Operating Indicators by Function ................................................................................................ 107 and 108 



CITY OF CAYCE, SOUTH CAROLINA 

FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2023 

TABLE OF CONTENTS (CONTINUED) 

  Page 

COMPLIANCE SECTION 

Independent Auditor’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting 

and on Compliance and Other Matters Based on an Audit of Financial  

Statements Performed in Accordance with Government Auditing Standards ....................... 109 and 110 

Independent Auditor’s Report on Compliance for Each Major Federal 

Program and on Internal Control over Compliance Required by the Uniform ............................ 111 - 113 

 Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards ............................................................................................... 114 

Notes to the Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards ......................................................................... 115 

Schedule of Findings and Questioned Costs .................................................................................. 116 and 117 

 Schedule of Prior Year Findings ..................................................................................................................... 117 



INTRODUCTORY
SECTION

Contact Us
803-796-9020

Visit Our Website
www.caycesc.gov

City of Cayce, South Carolina



December 7, 2023

To the Honorable Mayor, Members of City Council, and the Citizens of Cayce: 

We are pleased to submit the Annual Comprehensive Financial Report of the

City of Cayce, South Carolina for the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2023 (FY 

2023). The report contains a comprehensive analysis of the City’s financial 

position and activities for the period. This report is presented in three sections: 1) 

Introductory Section consisting of this transmittal letter, a listing of City 

officials, and the organization structure; 2) Financial Section, which consists of 

the independent auditor’s report, management’s discussion and analysis, basic 

financial statements, notes to the financial statements, required supplemental 

information along with detailed combined and individual fund statements; 3) 

Statistical Section, which contains pertinent financial and general information 

indicating trends for comparative fiscal periods. 

Responsibility for both accuracy of the data and the completeness and fairness of 

the presentation, including all disclosures, rests with the City of Cayce. We 

believe the enclosed information is accurate in all material aspects, and that it is 

presented in a manner designed to fairly set forth the financial position and 

results of operation of the various funds of the government in accordance with 

accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America 

(GAAP); and that all disclosures necessary to enable the reader to gain an 

understanding of the City’s financial activity have been included. Management 

has established and maintains a system of internal control to provide for this 

assurance.  

In accordance with Section 5-13-30 of the South Carolina Code of Laws, the City 

of Cayce’s financial statements have been audited by the firm of Mauldin and 

Jenkins, C.P.A., P.A., and Associates.  The goal of the independent audit was to 

provide reasonable assurance that the financial statements are free of material 

misstatement. The auditor’s report in the Financial Section provides a discussion 

of the audit, procedures, and their opinion. The independent auditor has rendered 

an unmodified opinion on the City of Cayce’s financial statements for the year 

ended June 30, 2023, in that they are fairly presented in accordance with GAAP. 

The Management’s Discussion and Analysis Section of this report contains 

discussion on the City of Cayce’s current financial activities for the year ended 

June 30, 2023.  

Mayor 
Elise Partin 

Mayor Pro-Tem 
James E. Jenkins 

Council Members 
Phil Carter 
Tim James 
Hunter Sox 

City Manager 
Tracy Hegler, AICP 

Deputy City 
Manager 

James E. Crosland 

Assistant City 
Manager 

Michael Conley 

City Treasurer 
Kelly McMullen, 

CGFO 

City Clerk 
Mendy Corder 

(803) 796-9020
Fax: (803) 796-9072 

1800 12th Street 
PO Box 2004 

Cayce, SC 29171 

www.caycesc.gov

i



The annual comprehensive financial report is presented in four sections: introductory, financial, statistical, and 

compliance. The introductory section includes this transmittal letter, the government’s organizational chart,

and a list of principal officials.  The financial section includes the general-purpose financial statements, the 

combining and individual fund financial statements, and schedules.  The statistical section includes selected 

financial and demographic information, generally presented on a multi-year basis.  The governmental auditing 

standards section includes the auditor’s reports on the internal control structure and compliance with 

applicable laws and regulations.  

This report includes all funds of the City of Cayce.  The City provides a full range of services, which include 

police and fire protection; sanitation services; the maintenance of highways, streets, and infrastructure; 

recreational activities; planning and zoning, in addition to general government activities. The City also has a 

hospitality tax fund that accounts for tourism related activities. The City owns and operates a municipal water and 

sewer system serving residents and businesses within its corporate limits and in the territory adjacent thereto.  

Therefore, this activity also is included in the reporting entity.  

GAAP require that management provide a narrative introduction, overview, and analysis to accompany the basic 

financial statements in the form of Management’s Discussion and Analysis (MD&A).  This letter of transmittal is 

designed to complement MD&A and should be read in conjunction with it.  The City of Cayce’s MD&A can be 

found immediately following the independent auditors’ report. 

Profile of the Government 

The City of Cayce (the “City” or “Cayce”) was incorporated in 1914 and is located along the Congaree River in 

Lexington and Richland counties in the central midlands of South Carolina.    

The City serves a population of approximately 13,649 and is empowered to levy a property tax on both real and 

personal property located within its corporate limits. It is also empowered by State Statute to extend its corporate 

limits by voluntary annexation, which occurs periodically when deemed appropriate by the City Council. 

The City operates under a council-manager form of government.  Policy making and legislative authority are 

vested with the City Council comprised of a mayor and four council members (elected from single member 

districts). The City Council is responsible, among other things, for passing ordinances, adopting a budget, hiring 

the City Manager, and selecting the independent auditor to audit the financial statements. The City Manager is 

responsible for carrying out the policies and ordinances of the City Council, overseeing the day-to-day operations 

of the City and appointing the heads of the various departments.  The council is elected on a non-partisan basis.  

Council members serve four-year staggered terms, with two council members elected every two years.  The mayor 

is elected to serve a four-year term.  All four council members are elected by district.  The mayor is elected at 

large. 

The annual budget serves as the foundation for the City’s financial planning and control. The South Carolina 

General Statutes require all governmental units to adopt a balanced budget by July 1st of each year for all funds 

for which an annual budget is required.  Activities of the General Fund, and the Water and Sewer Utility Fund are 

budgeted annually.  Budget-to-actual comparisons are provided in this report for each governmental fund for 

which an appropriated budget has been adopted. As demonstrated by the statements and schedules included in the 

financial section of this report, the City continues to meet its responsibility for sound financial management. 

Factors Affecting Financial Condition 

The information presented in the financial statements is perhaps best understood when it is considered from the 

broader perspective of the specific environment within which the City of Cayce operates. 

ii



Local Economy – The City of Cayce is located near the City of Columbia, the state capital of South Carolina.  

The City is part of the greater Columbia Metropolitan area which has been experiencing stable economic 

conditions.  The City and its neighbors, the Cities of West Columbia and Columbia, have built a regional 

park system along the banks of the Congaree River. The portion located in the City is known as the Cayce 

Riverwalk Park and it is part of the Three Rivers Greenway project. The Riverwalk Park is located from the 

border of the City of West Columbia to the Timmerman Trail that connects to the Lexington County 

Recreation and Aging Commission Tennis Center next to I-77. This is a joint effort among several agencies.  

Dominion Energy has also connected their corporate headquarters to the Cayce Riverwalk through the 

Timmerman Trail for the enjoyment of their employees and visitors. 

The Congaree River has always played a dominant role of strategic importance in Cayce’s development from 

the early days when barge and boat traffic from the low country were a part of everyday commerce on the 

river. Cayce became an outpost for this trade.  The Cayce Riverwalk Park includes a public nature park along 

the river with amenities such as lighted boardwalks and concrete walkways, picnic shelters, park benches, 

and river over-looks with magnificent views of the Columbia skyline. Development on both sides of the river 

is a driving force in the continuing economic development of the City of Cayce.   

Economic development on the 12th Street Extension corridor continues. The Lexington County Medical Park 

that was finished in 2018 and continues to add to the City’s tax base and enhance the master plan.  The 

townhome project known as Otarre Point was completed in 2018, adding 299 upscale townhomes, and 

construction was completed a couple years ago on a 100-unit Marriott Hotel.  An approximately 60-acre tract 

of land, referred to as Southern Commons, has sold and is currently under plans for a combination of retail, 

entertainment, office, and residential land uses (estimated to be a $65 million investment). A development of 

this type and size will serve as a catalyst for the development of the surrounding area and supporting corridors.  

Construction on the Matheson Gas and Liquid Oxygen facility has been completed and is currently 

operational.   This company is supporting CMC Steel and will help to grow the property tax and business 

license base. Also, recently completed on the 12th Street extension is a rehabilitation center housing 44 beds. 

Sitework and planning continue to develop a Visitors Center at the 12,000 Year History Park, which is being 

spurred by two (2) separate million-dollar investments from the State.  Located along the Congaree Creek 

and Timmerman Trail, the 12,000 Year History Park is a unique archeological site in Cayce, where history 

and nature converge. The park boasts archeological remnants of at least 12,000 years of continuous human 

activity, including undisturbed earthworks from an 1865 Civil War battle. Throughout this time, the area has 

had an array of inhabitants, including mammoths, Native American tribes and Revolutionary and Civil War 

soldiers. The City provides guided historical walking tours of the Park all year long, led by National Park 

Service trained volunteers.  These tours are filled with stories of the Battle of Congaree Creek, Fort Congaree 

and Native American Lifeways. There are also special events including Nature Days, Civil War 

Encampments and Lantern Tours. 

The City of Cayce has been diligently working for years to build a Visitor Center to highlight this treasure.  

The building will orient visitors to the site and provide a space to host educational programs for children and 

adults.  The Visitor Center is projected to attract 150,000 visitors a year. 

In December 2019 Steel Hands Brewery opened. This is an on-premises brewery and restaurant that 

manufactures their own brand of beer to sell to the public and to other commercial businesses within a several 

state region.  Their continued production and sales are still growing rapidly.  

An upscale apartment community similar to Advenir at One Eleven, called Indigo at Brickworks, is complete 

and is occupied.  We were also happy to see a new Starbucks coffee shop, East Bay Deli, Firehouse Subs, a 

climbing gym and Poke Bowl open on Knox Abbott. We believe this will help encourage new restaurants 

and will continue to enhance the Knox Abbott corridor.  We continue to see more vacant and underutilized 

buildings and property being rehabbed and occupied along Knox Abbott which includes the construction of 

a new Lexington Urgent Care and rehabilitation of an old bank building into a new restaurant.   

iii



The City of Cayce has established and is now expanding a River Arts District to encourage an artist 

community and revitalize the historic downtown State Street area.  In the past several years, eight (8) new 

businesses have moved to State Street, a multi-purpose Art Lot has been developed, buildings are being 

restored and many pieces of public art, funded predominantly by third-party grants, have been installed.  Its 

growth is expected to rapidly continue as we receive great interest from businesses wishing to relocate here. 

Other known projects include the Saxe Gotha Industrial Park that Lexington County is continuing to expand 

in the unincorporated area abutting Cayce City Limits.  The City of Cayce has agreements in place to provide 

water and sewer service to the industrial park.  This more than 400 acre industrial park is being developed off 

of 12th Street and will extend almost to the12th Street interchange of Interstate 77 at Exit 2.  Lexington 

County has expanded 12th Street to four lanes to accommodate the expected growth. Amazon has a 

distribution center within the Industrial Park and, though not within the City of Cayce, is having a beneficial 

impact on Cayce and the surrounding area.  Nephron, a pharmaceutical company built within the Industrial 

Park, has also helped maintain great water and sewer sales, and is currently under a large expansion. 

The City of Cayce and Lexington County have consistently demonstrated a commitment to provide adequate 

infrastructure, services and quality of life initiatives for the citizens and businesses in the Cayce greater area. 

By offering the Fee-in-Lieu Abatement Programs, the County and City encourage expansion and relocation 

of new industries into the City to establish a spirit of opportunity for those living in this area.  

The City continues to provide water and sewer service to the South Carolina State Farmer’s Market.  The 

farmer’s market, relocated from Bluff Road in Richland County (across the street from USC’s William Brice 

Stadium) to Lexington County on US Highway 321, and continues to experience growth, which includes the 

relocation of state Department of Natural Resources (DNR) state offices. 

To better position the City for residential growth, the City commissioned a housing study in 2020 to identify 

trends in housing.  This study outlined current demographic data, assessed housing demand and supply and 

recommended policies that is helping Council make decisions on how to grow wisely, all while protecting 

the integrity and attractiveness of our existing neighborhoods.  We are receiving frequent inquiries about new 

housing developments. 

Long-Term Financial Planning – Revenue forecasts for the next several years suggests that new residential 

and commercial construction and continued economic growth throughout the City and region will keep pace 

with the operational needs of the various departments.  To help provide the highest standards for our residents, 

the City Council did implement a Hospitality Tax that is being used for the upkeep and expansion of our 

Parks system.  Also, the City is aggressive (and successful) in its pursuit of grants to assist in the provision 

of excellent services without burdening our residents through tax increases. 

The City continues to promote tourism with the Cayce Riverwalk Park on the Congaree River, the Cayce 

Historical Museum, and at the 12,000 Year History Park, which includes regular tours and the planned 

development of a Visitors Center to showcase this unique feature.    These resources, as well as our abundant 

art, food and entertainment offerings are part of an ongoing targeted marketing effort to attract tourists to the 

City, which increase revenue sources such as business licenses, hospitality taxes and accommodations taxes. 

Financial Information – Management of the government is responsible for establishing and maintaining an 

internal control structure designed to ensure that the assets of the government are protected from loss, theft, 

or misuse and to ensure that adequate accounting data are compiled to allow for the preparation of financial 

statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles.  The internal control structure is 

designed to provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance that these objectives are met.  The concept of 

reasonable assurance recognizes that: 1) The cost of a control should not exceed the benefits likely to be 

derived; and 2) the valuation of costs and benefits requires estimates and judgments by management. 

Budgeting Controls – In addition, the government maintains budgetary controls.  The objective of these 

budgetary controls is to ensure compliance with legal provisions embodied in the annual appropriated  

iv



budget approved by the government’s governing body.  Activities of the general fund only are included 

in the annual appropriated budget.  The level of budgetary control (that is, the level at which 

expenditures cannot legally exceed the appropriated amount) is established by function and activity 

within an individual fund.   

The government also maintains an encumbrance accounting system as one technique of accomplishing 

budgetary control. The City Ordinances also provide for a non-appropriated budget for the proprietary 

and special revenue funds to facilitate the management review and approval process.  As demonstrated 

by the statements and schedules included in the financial section of this report, the government 

continues meeting its responsibility for sound financial management. 

Proprietary Operations – The government’s enterprise operation is comprised of the water and sewer 

utility system. Several of the government’s major initiatives directly relate to the water and sewer 

activities.  The demand for housing in the City’s water service area is at an all-time high, resulting in 

the construction of many new housing developments and an increased demand on water services.   

Cash Management Policies and Practices – The government’s investment policy is to minimize credit 

and market risks while maintaining a competitive yield on its portfolio.  Accordingly, deposits were 

either insured by federal depository insurance or collateralized.  All collateral on deposits was held 

either by the government, its agent or a financial institution’s trust department in the government’s 

name.  It is the policy of the City of Cayce to hold investments to maturity. 

Risk Management – The City maintains an employee health insurance plan for all full-time employees 

through the South Carolina Public Employee Benefit Authority (PEBA), which is a state funded 

insurance program administered by Blue Cross / Blue Shield of South Carolina and workmen’s 

compensation insurance through a municipal pool, the South Carolina Municipal Insurance Trust 

(SCMIT).  Specific excess insurance, such as liability insurance, is provided through the South Carolina 

Municipal Insurance and Risk Financing Fund (SCMIRF). 

Other Information 

Awards – The Government Finance Officers Association of the United States and Canada (GFOA) 

awards a Certificate of Achievement for Excellence in Financial Reporting. The Certificate of 

Achievement is the highest form of recognition for excellence in state and local government financial 

reporting.  In order to be awarded a Certificate of Achievement, a government unit must publish an 

easily readable and efficiently organized annual comprehensive financial report, whose contents

conform to program standards.  Such ACFR must satisfy both generally accepted accounting 

principles and applicable legal requirements.  A Certificate of Achievement is valid for a period of 

one year only.  We believe our current report continues to conform to the Certificate of 

Achievement Program requirements and are submitting it to the GFOA. 

Acknowledgments – The preparation of the annual comprehensive financial report on a timely basis 

was made possible by the dedicated service of the entire staff and finance department.  Each member 

of the department has our sincere appreciation for the contributions made in preparation of this report. 

In closing, without the leadership and support of the Mayor and City Council, preparation of this report 

would not have been possible.  We gratefully acknowledge the role played by the governing body. 

Sincerely, 

S S 
Kelly McMullen, CGFO Tracy Hegler, AICP 

City Treasurer  City Manager 

v



CAYCE CITY COUNCIL 

Elise Partin, Mayor 

COUNCIL MEMBERS 

James E. Jenkins, Mayor Pro-Tempore 

Phil Carter 

Tim James 

Hunter Sox 

CITY ADMINISTRATION 

Tracy Hegler, AICP, City Manager  

James E. Crosland, Deputy City Manager 

Michael Conley, Assistant City Manager  

Kelly McMullen, CGFO, City Treasurer 

vi



City of Cayce Organization Chart

Citizens

Mayor and 
Council

City 
Manager

Administration

Court

Human 
Resources

Contracts

Public 
Buildings

Events/Medi
a 

Coordination

Museum

Fleet 
Maintenance

Finance

Grants

Budget

Fixed Assets

Accounts 
Payable & 
Receivable

Purchasing 
and Audits

Bond & Debt 
Development

Payroll

Police and 
Fire

Law 
Enforcement

Community 
Policing

School 
Resource 
Officers

Fire

Parks & 
Sanitation

Parks 
Maintenance 

& 
Development

Municipal 
Grounds 

Maintenance

Events 
Coordination

Recycling & 
Sanitation

Planning & 
Development

Zoning

Building 
Codes

Plan Review

Business 
Licenses & 

Permits

Code 
Enforcement

Utilities

Water 
Treatment 

Wastewater 
Treatment

Water 
Distribution

Septage & 
Grease

Wastewater 
Collection

Customer 
Service & 

Billing

Information 
Technology

Infrastructure

Capital Asset 
Replacement

Cybersecurity

Network and 
Switches

Helpdesk

City 
Attorney

Municipal 
Judges

vii



Government Finance Officers Association

Certificate of 
Achievement
for Excellence

in Financial 
Reporting

Presented to

City of Cayce
South Carolina

For its Annual Comprehensive
Financial Report

For the Fiscal Year Ended

June 30, 2022

Executive Director/CEO

viii



FINANCIAL
SECTION

Contact Us
803-796-9020

Visit Our Website
www.caycesc.gov

City of Cayce, South Carolina



508 HAMPTON STREET, 1ST FLOOR • COLUMBIA, SOUTH CAROLINA  29201 • 803-799-5810 • FAX 803-799-5554 • www.mjcpa.com 
MEMBERS OF THE AMERICAN INSTITUTE OF CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 

To the Honorable Mayor and Members of the City Council 
Cayce, South Carolina 
Report on the Financial Statements 

Opinions 

We have audited the financial statements of the governmental activities, the business-type activities, each 
major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of the City of Cayce, South Carolina (the “City”), as of 
and for the year ended June 30, 2023, and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively 
comprise the City’s basic financial statements as listed in the table of contents. 

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, 
the respective financial position of the governmental activities, the business-type activities, each major fund, 
and the aggregate remaining fund information of the City, as of June 30, 2023, and the respective changes in 
financial position, and, where applicable, cash flows thereof for the year then ended in accordance with accounting 
principles generally accepted in the United States of America. 

Basis for Opinions 

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 
America (GAAS) and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, 
issued by the Comptroller General of the United States. Our responsibilities under those standards are further 
described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We 
are required to be independent of the City and to meet our other ethical responsibilities, in accordance with 
the relevant ethical requirements relating to our audit. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinions. 

Responsibilities of Management for the Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance 
with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, and for the design, 
implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial 
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial statements, management is required to evaluate whether there are conditions or 
events, considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about the City’s ability to continue as a going 
concern for twelve months beyond the financial statement date, including any currently known information 
that may raise substantial doubt shortly thereafter. 

1



Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinions. 
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not absolute assurance and therefore is not a guarantee 
that an audit conducted in accordance with GAAS and Government Auditing Standards will always detect a material 
misstatement when it exists. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for 
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the 
override of internal control. Misstatements are considered material if there is a substantial likelihood that, individually 
or in the aggregate, they would influence the judgment made by a reasonable user based on the financial 
statements. 

In performing an audit in accordance with GAAS and Government Auditing Standards, we: 

 Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.
 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or

error, and design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. Such procedures include
examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements.

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of
the City’s internal control. Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed.

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting
estimates made by management, as well as evaluate the overall presentation of the financial statements.

 Conclude whether, in our judgment, there are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, that raise
substantial doubt about the City’s ability to continue as a going concern for a reasonable period of time.

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned 
scope and timing of the audit, significant audit findings, and certain internal control-related matters that we identified 
during the audit. 

Required Supplementary Information  

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the Management’s Discussion 
and Analysis (on pages 5 through 11), the budgetary comparison for the General Fund (on page 74), the Schedule 
of Changes in the City’s Total OPEB Liability and Related Ratios (on page 76), the Schedule of the City’s 
Proportionate Share of the Net Pension Liability (on page 77), and the Schedule of the City’s Contributions (on 
pages 78 and 79) be presented to supplement the basic financial statements.  

2



Such information is the responsibility of management and, although not a part of the basic financial statements, is 
required by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board who considers it to be an essential part of financial 
reporting for placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate operational, economic, or historical context. We 
have applied certain limited procedures to the required supplementary information in accordance with GAAS, which 
consisted of inquiries of management about the methods of preparing the information and comparing the information 
for consistency with management’s responses to our inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other knowledge 
we obtained during our audit of the basic financial statements. We do not express an opinion or provide any 
assurance on the information because the limited procedures do not provide us with sufficient evidence to express 
an opinion or provide any assurance. 

Supplementary Information  

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements that collectively comprise 
the City’s basic financial statements. The accompanying combining and individual nonmajor fund financial 
statements, the enterprise fund budget and actual schedules, the Uniform Schedule of Court Fines, Assessments 
and Surcharges (per ACT 96), as required by the State of South Carolina, and the schedule of expenditures of 
federal awards, as required by Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal Regulations Part 200, Uniform Administrative 

Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards are presented for purposes of additional 
analysis and are not a required part of the basic financial statements. Such information is the responsibility of 
management and was derived from and relates directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to 
prepare the basic financial statements. The information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the 
audit of the basic financial statements and certain additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling such 
information directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements or 
to the basic financial statements themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance with GAAS. In our 
opinion, the combining and individual nonmajor fund financial statements, the enterprise fund budget and actual 
schedules, the Uniform Schedule of Court Fines, Assessments and Surcharges (per ACT 96), and the schedule of 
expenditures of federal awards are fairly stated, in all material respects, in relation to the basic financial statements 
as a whole. 

Other Information  

Management is responsible for the other information included in the annual report. The other information comprises 
the introductory and statistical sections but does not include the basic financial statements and our auditor’s report 
thereon. Our opinions on the basic financial statements do not cover the other information, and we do not express 
an opinion or any form of assurance thereon. 

In connection with our audit of the basic financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and 
consider whether a material inconsistency exists between the other information and the basic financial statements, 
or the other information otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work performed, we conclude 
that an uncorrected material misstatement of the other information exists, we are required to describe it in our report. 

3



Other Reporting Required By Government Auditing Standards 

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated December 7, 2023, on 
our consideration of the City’s internal control over financial reporting and on our tests of its compliance with certain 
provisions of laws, regulations, contracts and grant agreements and other matters. The purpose of that report is 
solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over financial reporting and compliance and the results 
of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the City’s internal control over financial reporting 
or on compliance. That report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing 

Standards in considering the City of Cayce, South Carolina’s internal control over financial reporting and 
compliance. 

Columbia, South Carolina 
December 7, 2023 

4



City of Cayce, SC 

Management’s Discussion and Analysis 

The City of Cayce’s (the “City”) discussion and analysis offers readers of the City’s financial statements a 
narrative overview and analysis of the City’s financial activities for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2023. We 
encourage readers to consider the information presented here in conjunction with additional information that 
we have furnished in our letter of transmittal, in the financial statements and the notes to the financial 
statements. 

Financial Highlights 

 The City of Cayce’s total assets and deferred outflows exceeded its total liabilities and deferred
inflows on June 30, 2023 by $115,907,549 (net position). The City’s total net position increased
$2,812,068 with an increase of $2,423,894 from governmental activities and an increase of $388,174
resulting from business-type activities.

 The City’s total assets increased $2,138,998 over the prior year. This is due, in large part, to the City
receiving the second tranche of the Coronavirus State and Local Fiscal Recovery Funds (SLFRF).
The remaining largely consists of depreciation expense and improvement projects that were
underway as of June 30, 2023. Some of these projects include a stormwater improvement project on
Axtell Drive, a brownsfield assessment study, upgrades to the City’s Pump Station, and the expansion
of the Septage Receiving Station. Detailed asset information can be found in Note 6.

 The City’s total liabilities increased $1,617,174 from the prior year. This increase is mostly
attributable to the deferral of American Rescue Plan Funds – Tranche Two – into Fiscal Year ending
June 30, 2024.

 The City’s governmental fund balance sheet reported a combined ending fund balance of
$17,516,464, an increase of $1,789,996 from the previous fiscal year. Of this amount, $9,347,735 is
unassigned.

 The City’s General Fund reported actual revenues of $1,121,514 over budgeted amounts and
expenditures $180,413 over budgeted appropriations. General Fund expenditures includes
$1,626,352 in capital outlay for projects funded by bond proceeds and grants, as well as $493,505 in
debt service.

 The City’s governmental funds’ total long-term liabilities increased by $1,099,225 for the current
fiscal year. The main reason for the increase of the governmental outstanding long-term liabilities is
the issuance of new installment debt and an increase in net pension liability.

Overview of the Financial Statements 

This discussion and analysis is intended to serve as an introduction to the City of Cayce’s basic financial 
statements. The basic financial statements are comprised of three components: 1) governmentwide financial 
statements, 2) fund financial statements and 3) notes to the financial statements. This report also contains 
other supplementary information in addition to the basic financial statements themselves. 

5



Overview of the Financial Statements (continued) 

Government-wide financial statements – The government-wide financial statements are designed to 
provide readers with a broad overview of the City’s finances in a manner similar to a private-sector business. 
The statement of net position presents information on all the City’s assets, liabilities, and deferred 
inflows/outflows of resources with the difference between them being reported as net position. Over time, 
increases or decreases in net position may serve as a useful indicator of whether the financial position of the 
City is improving or deteriorating. The statement of activities presents information showing how the City’s 
net position changed during the most recent fiscal year. All changes in net position are reported as soon as 
the underlying event giving rise to the change occurs, regardless of the timing of related cash flows. Thus, 
revenues and expenses are reported in this statement for some items that will result in cash flows in future 
fiscal periods (uncollected taxes and earned but unused vacation leave). 

Both of the government-wide financial statements distinguish functions of the City of Cayce that are 
principally supported by taxes and intergovernmental revenues (governmental activities) from other functions 
that are intended to recover all or a significant portion of their costs through user fees and charges (business-
type activities). The City’s governmental activities include general administration, police, fire, public works, 
and hospitality tax. The City’s business-type activities include a water and sewer utility system.  

The government-wide financial statements can be found on pages 12 - 13 of this report. 

Fund financial statements – A fund is a grouping of related accounts that is used to maintain control over 
resources that have been segregated for specific activities or objectives. The City of Cayce, like other state 
and local governments, uses fund accounting to ensure and demonstrate compliance with finance-related legal 
requirements. All the funds of the City can be divided into three categories: governmental funds, proprietary 
funds, and fiduciary funds. 

Governmental funds – Governmental funds are used to account for essentially the same functions reported 
as governmental activities in the government-wide financial statements. However, unlike the government-
wide financial statements, governmental fund financial statements focus on near-term inflows and outflows 
of spendable resources, as well as on balances of spendable resources available at the end of the fiscal year. 
Such information may be useful in evaluating a government’s near-term financing requirements. 

Because the focus of governmental funds is narrower than that of the government-wide financial statements, 
it is useful to compare the information presented for governmental funds with similar information presented 
for governmental activities in the government-wide financial statements. By doing so, readers may better 
understand the long-term impact of the government’s near-term financing decisions. Both the governmental 
funds balance sheet and the governmental funds statement of revenues, expenditures and changes in fund 
balances provide a reconciliation to facilitate this comparison between governmental funds and governmental 
activities. 

The City of Cayce maintained two major governmental funds during the fiscal year 2022-2023. Information 
is presented in the governmental funds balance sheet and in the governmental funds statement of revenues, 
expenditures, and changes in fund balances for the General Fund and Capital Projects Fund which are both 
major funds. 

The City of Cayce adopts an annual appropriated budget for its General fund. Budgetary comparison 
statements have been provided for this fund to demonstrate compliance with the budget. 

The basic governmental fund financial statements can be found on pages 14 - 17 of this report. 

6



Overview of the Financial Statements (continued) 

Proprietary funds – The City of Cayce maintains one type of proprietary fund. Enterprise funds are used to 
report the same functions presented as business-type activities in the government-wide financial statements. 
The City uses enterprise funds to account for its water and sewer utility system. 

Financial statements of proprietary funds provide the same type of information as the government-wide 
financial statements, but in greater detail. The proprietary fund financial statements provide separate 
information for the City of Cayce’s water and sewer utility system, which is considered to be a major fund of 
the City. 

The basic proprietary fund financial statements can be found on pages 18 - 21 of this report. 

Fiduciary funds – The City acts as agent, or fiduciary, for other resources. The City is responsible for 
ensuring that the assets reported in these funds are used for their intended purposes. All of the City’s fiduciary 
activities are reported in a separate statement of fiduciary net position. We exclude these activities from the 
City’s government-wide financial statements because the City cannot use these assets to finance its 
operations. 

The fiduciary fund financial statements can be found on page 22 - 23 of this report. 

Notes to the financial statements – The notes provide additional information that is essential to a full 
understanding of the data provided in the government-wide and fund financial statements. 

The notes to the financial statements can be found on pages 24 - 73 of this report. 

Government-wide Financial Analysis 

The government-wide financial statements are provided as part of the approach mandated by the GASB, 
which sets the uniform standards for presenting government financial reports. These reports provide complete 
comparative information as summarized in this Management’s Discussion and Analysis. As noted earlier, net 
position may serve over time as a useful indicator of a government’s financial position. In the case of City of 
Cayce, assets and deferred outflows of resources exceeded liabilities and deferred inflows by $115,907,549 
at the close of the most recent fiscal year. The City’s increase in net position for this fiscal year amounts to 
$2,812,068. The City’s increase in net position can be largely accounted for with significant changes to total 
assets and deferred outflows of resources, and total liabilities and deferred inflows of resources. The largest 
significant impact to net position for fiscal year 2022-2023 was related to SLFRF funding. 

The City’s governmental activities total current assets increased by approximately $3.79 million largely due 
to receiving Tranche Two of the Coronavirus State and Local Fiscal Recovery Funds (SLFRF) in the amount 
of $3,487,148. Tranche Two of the SLFRF also had a direct effect on total liabilities for governmental 
activities, with unearned revenue increasing by approximately $1.6 million, due to unspent or unallocated 
SLFRF funds at June 30, 2023. 

The following page is a ‘condensed’ Statement of Net Position at June 30, 2023, which depicts the major 
components of the City’s assets, deferred outflows, liabilities, and net position (with comparative amounts 
for June 30, 2022). 

7



Government-wide Financial Analysis (continued) 

An additional portion of the City’s net position represents resources that are restricted as to how they may be 
used. The remaining balance of unrestricted assets may be used to meet the government’s ongoing obligations 
to citizens, creditors, and customers within the respective governmental and business-type activities. At the 
end of the current fiscal year, the City of Cayce is able to report positive balances in both categories of net 
position as a whole and individually within the governmental and business-type activities. 

The changes in net position displayed below shows the governmental and business-type activities during the 
fiscal year. The increase in entity-wide net position is due, in large part, to the governmental activities revenues 
being in excess over expenses. Property taxes, franchise fees, and grants all exceeded projected revenues 
during the fiscal year. Business-type activities experienced an increase of approximately 5.6% in operating 
revenues from the prior year. This increase is mainly attributed to growth. Total business-type expenses 
increased by $857,746 from the prior year. This is mainly due to increases in product costs across all operating 
expense categories. 

8



Government-wide Financial Analysis (continued) 

Financial Analysis of City of Cayce Funds 

As noted earlier, the City of Cayce utilizes fund accounting to ensure and demonstrate compliance with 
finance-related legal requirements. 

Governmental Funds – The focus of the city’s governmental funds is to provide information on near-
term inflows, outflows, and balances of spendable resources. Such information is useful in assessing 
the city’s financing requirements. In particular, unassigned fund balance may serve as a useful measure 
of a government’s net resources available for spending at the end of the fiscal year. 

As of June 30, 2023, the City of Cayce governmental funds reported combined fund balances of 
$17,516,464, an increase of $1,789,996 from prior year balances. Approximately fifty-four percent 
(54%) of this total amount constitutes unassigned fund balance, which is available for spending at the 
City’s discretion. 

9



Financial Analysis of City of Cayce Funds (Continued) 

The remainder of the fund balance is split between a nonspendable amount of $193,176; a restricted 
amount of $876,295 that is not available for new spending since it has already been restricted for 
specific purposes; $25,000 being committed by City Council; and $995,938 being assigned. 

The General Fund is the primary operating fund of the City. On June 30, 2023, the total fund balance 
in the general fund was $10,561,849. The General Fund balance increased by $941,149 during the 
current fiscal year. This increase is mainly a result of property taxes and franchise fees exceeding 
budgeted projections. Tax revenues for the year grew as a result of an 8% rate increase on all classes of 
property, as well as an 6% increase in taxable property values, which are driven by increased local real 
estate market values. Also, actual expenditures were under budget in several expenditure categories. 

Proprietary Funds – The City’s Proprietary Fund provides the same type of information found in the 
government-side financial statements, but with greater detail.  On June 30, 2023, total net position of 
the Water and Sewer Utility System amount to $97,266,250 as compared to a balance of $96,878,076 
at June 30, 2022. The increase in net position of $388,174 for the current fiscal year is due mainly to 
actual expenditures coming in under budget in several expenditure categories. 

General Fund Highlights 

A budget to actual statement is provided for the General Fund. Columns for both the original budget 
adopted for fiscal year 2023 as well as the final budget are presented. Quarterly budget amendments 
and supplemental appropriations were approved during the 2022-2023 budget year.  

The General Fund current year revenues of $15,865,579 before other financing sources exceeded prior 
year revenues of $14,156,349 before other financing sources. This is mainly due to increased property 
tax assessments and franchise fees. Expenditures in the current year were $17,202,478 before other 
uses, which exceeded prior year expenditures of $15,303,589. Expenditures increased mainly as a result 
of increased product costs, increased capital outlay, and increased retirement costs to the City in the 
current fiscal year. The City budgeted estimated proceeds from the sale of assets of $80,000. 

Capital Assets and Debt Administration 

Capital assets – The City of Cayce’s investments in capital assets for its governmental and business-
type activities as of June 30, 2023, amounts to $100,124,884 (net accumulated depreciation). This 
investment in capital assets includes land, buildings, improvements, machinery, and equipment. Major 
capital asset events in the current year included the following: 

 In order for the City of Cayce to meet the needs of its citizens and continue to provide high
quality services, the City purchased a replacement sanitation truck at $250,000.

 The City has multiple water and sewer capital projects in progress, which accounts for an
increase in non-departmental expenses.

 The City is issued a General Fund Installment Purchase in September 2022 in an amount not to
exceed $488,000. The purpose of the lease-purchase was to fund the purchase of eight Police
Department vehicles, one Fire Department vehicle, and seven mobile radios.

Long-Term Debt – At the end of the current fiscal year, the City of Cayce had total bonded debt 
outstanding of $58,331,830, consisting of tax increment financing (TIF) bonds totaling $6,408,670, 
Revenue bonds totaling $25,447,767 and State Revolving Fund (SRF) loans totaling $25,506,495. The 
City also had installment purchase notes totaling $968,898 for Governmental Activities at June 30, 
2023. 

10



 Capital Assets and Debt Administration (Continued) 

The TIF bonds outstanding debt is secured by the incremental property tax revenues generated within 
the Redevelopment District, as well as a pledge of Net Revenues from the Water and Sewer Utility 
System resulting in a junior lien of the Water and Sewer Utility.  The outstanding balance of the revenue 
bonds is secured by a pledge of the gross revenue of the Water and Sewer Utility System.. 

The net pension liability was introduced in fiscal year 2014-2015 with the adoption of GASB Stmt. No. 
68 and represents the long-term liabilities for payments to retirees, net of the City’s current pension 
investments. For additional information concerning the City’s outstanding debt as of June 30, 2023, 
please see Notes 1(M) and 7 in the Notes to the Financial Statements. In the fiscal year 2017-2018, 
GASB No. 75 was implemented and represents the long-term liabilities associated with the City’s other 
post-employment benefits (OPEB) plan. For additional information concerning this plan, please see 
Notes 1(R) and 9. 

Economic Factors and Next Year’s Budgets and Rates 

 The City of Cayce was allocated approximately $6.9 million from the Coronavirus State and
Local Fiscal Recovery Funds (SLFRF) to be received in two equal tranches in fiscal years 2021-
2022 and 2022-2023. Most expenditures related to the first tranche were budgeted in the fiscal
year 2022-2023. The second tranche was budgeted in conjunction with the City’s fiscal year
2023-2024 budget process. At July 1, 2023, the only unallocated SLFRF funds consist of interest
earned.

 The city continues to struggle with open positions. In this post-pandemic environment, the city
is finding it difficult to recruit qualified candidates for a variety of roles and experience levels.

These factors were taken into account when adopting the general fund budget for 2023-2024.  Amounts 
available for appropriation in the general fund budget are $19,731,716, an increase of roughly $2.73 
million from the final 2023 budget of $16,997,065. The budget increase is mainly attributable to the 
increase in anticipated grant revenue from $525,000 in fiscal year 2023 to $2,224,727 in fiscal year 
2024. It should also be noted that the appropriated budget for fiscal year 2023-2024 includes $484,920 
in budgeted revenues to service current installment purchase obligations of the city, including an 
additional installment purchase planned in the amount of $500,000. 

Property tax revenues for the coming year are projected to increase due to growth through improving 
economic conditions and overall assessments. The City will monitor economic conditions closely and 
make necessary budget adjustments as deemed appropriate.  

Budgeted expenditures for 2024 have increased over the actual 2023 expenditures due mainly to 
increases in operating costs. The city does not anticipate entering into any major land acquisitions for 
economic development purposes in fiscal year 2023-2024. 

The City is continuing to upgrade its septage receiving station for the Water and Sewer Utility system 
to ensure that it can better meet the demand of customers. The project is estimated to be completed in 
fiscal year 2024.   

Requests for Information 

This financial report is designed to provide our citizens, taxpayers, and creditors with a general 
overview of the City’s finances and to demonstrate the City’s accountability for the money it receives. 
If you have questions about this report or need additional financial information, contact Kelly 
McMullen, CGFO, City of Cayce, Treasurer. 

11



BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 



ASSETS
CURRENT ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents $ 18,984,676          $ 7,570,650            $ 26,555,326          
Accounts receivables, net 2,106,680            3,438,331            5,545,011            
Internal balances 88,461 (88,461) - 
Inventory 113,200 234,117 347,317 
Prepaid items 79,976 74,711 154,687 
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 3,688,520            10,740,238          14,428,758          

   Total current assets 25,061,513          21,969,586          47,031,099          

NONCURRENT ASSETS
Capital assets, non-depreciable 8,229,492            4,866,918            13,096,410          
Capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation 15,015,051          128,806,935        143,821,986        
Other assets, net of accumulated amortization - 324,221 324,221 

Total noncurrent assets 23,244,543          133,998,074        157,242,617        

    Total assets 48,306,056          155,967,660        204,273,716        

DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Deferred outflows related to pensions 2,399,295            1,076,827            3,476,122            
Deferred outflows related to OPEB 469,393               103,897               573,290               
Deferred refunding charges - 392,895 392,895 

Total deferred outflows of resources 2,868,688            1,573,619            4,442,307            

    Total assets and deferred outflows of resources $ 51,174,744          $ 157,541,279        $ 208,716,023        

LIABILITIES 
CURRENT LIABILITIES

Accounts payable $ 2,300,460            $ 482,327 $ 2,782,787            
Accrued salaries and related expenses 549,920 246,300 796,220 
Accrued compensated absences - current portion 211,877 120,193 332,070 
Accrued interest payable 9,410 209,345 218,755 
Other liabilities - 2,258 2,258 
Customer deposits 46,233 74,276 120,509 
Unearned revenue 4,484,953            - 4,484,953 
Installment purchase contracts payable - current portion 368,301 - 368,301 
Revenue bonds and loans payable - current portion 340,000 3,273,174            3,613,174 
Total other post-employment benefit (OPEB) liability - current portion 138,405 2,825 141,230 

Total current liabilities 8,449,559            4,410,698            12,860,257          

LONG-TERM LIABILITIES 
Accrued compensated absences 299,842 100,716 400,558 
Unearned revenue - future capacity charges and credits - 34,042 34,042 
Installment purchase contracts payable 600,597 - 600,597 
Revenue bonds and loans payable 6,068,670            47,681,088          53,749,758          
Net pension liability 14,417,179          7,254,100            21,671,279          
Total other post-employment benefit (OPEB) liability 1,248,081            314,150 1,562,231            

Total long-term liabilities 22,634,369          55,384,096          78,018,465          

Total liabilities 31,083,928          59,794,794          90,878,722          

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Deferred inflows related to pensions 632,025 253,560 885,585 
Deferred inflows related to OPEB 817,492 226,675 1,044,167            

Total deferred inflows of resources 1,449,517            480,235 1,929,752            

NET POSITION
Net investment in capital assets 17,012,398          83,112,486          100,124,884        
Restricted: 

Debt service 4,113,935            9,406,448            13,520,383          
Capital projects and redevelopment plan 2,410 - 2,410 
Tourism and community development 1,559,801            - 1,559,801 
Law enforcement 62 - 62 
ABC permit activities 54,664 - 54,664 
Pension and employee benefits - 543,520 543,520 

Unrestricted (4,101,971)          4,203,796 101,825 

Total net position 18,641,299          97,266,250          115,907,549        

Total liabilities, deferred inflows of resources and net position $ 51,174,744          $ 157,541,279        $ 208,716,023        

CITY OF CAYCE, SOUTH CAROLINA

STATEMENT OF NET POSITION  

JUNE 30, 2023

Total
 Business-type 

Activities 
 Governmental 

Activities 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.    

12



Program Revenues
Operating Capital

Charges for Grants and Grants and Governmental Business-type
Functions/Programs  Expenses Services Contributions Contributions Activities Activities Total

Governmental activities:  
General government $ 3,535,487      $ 8,860             $ 2,519,773      $ -                    $ (1,006,854)            $ -                    $ (1,006,854)    
Information technology 276,670         -                    -                    -                    (276,670)               -                    (276,670)       
Finance 336,322         -                    -                    -                    (336,322)               -                    (336,322)       
Public safety 8,092,126      694,194         187,423         -                    (7,210,509)            -                    (7,210,509)    
Public works 1,797,991      999,868         43,992           -                    (754,131)               -                    (754,131)       
Planning and community development 896,122         -                    109,990         -                    (786,132)               -                    (786,132)       
Parks and museum 975,063         -                    1,425             -                    (973,638)               -                    (973,638)       
Garage 456,775         -                    -                    -                    (456,775)               -                    (456,775)       
Depreciation (unallocated) 2,343,719      -                    -                    -                    (2,343,719)            -                    (2,343,719)    
Interest 259,677         -                    -                    -                    (259,677)               -                    (259,677)       

Total governmental activities    18,969,952    1,702,922      2,862,603      -                    (14,404,427)          -                    (14,404,427)  

Business-type activities:
Water and sewer utility 21,192,444    20,154,448    -                    1,139,847      -                            101,851         101,851         

Total business-type activities $ 21,192,444    $ 20,154,448    $ -                    $ 1,139,847      -                            101,851         101,851         

General revenues:
Property taxes 6,153,903              -                    6,153,903      
Accommodation and hospitality taxes 1,918,615              -                    1,918,615      
State shared and unallocated intergovernmenta 690,395                 -                    690,395         
Business licenses, taxes, and penalties 5,226,170              -                    5,226,170      
Unrestricted investment earnings 248,435                 245,052         493,487         
Gain on sale of assets 90,999                   41,271           132,270         
Miscellaneous 2,499,804              -                    2,499,804      

Total general revenues 16,828,321            286,323         17,114,644    

Change in net position 2,423,894              388,174         2,812,068      

Net position, beginning of year 16,217,405            96,878,076    113,095,481  
Net position, end of year $ 18,641,299            $ 97,266,250    $ 115,907,549  

Changes in Net Position
Net (Expenses) Revenues and 

CITY OF CAYCE, SOUTH CAROLINA

STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES   

FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2023

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.   
13



Total
ARPA Grant Governmental Governmental

Fund Funds Funds
ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents $ 8,755,604     $ 4,446,316 $ 5,782,756          $ 18,984,676      
Receivables, net of allowance 2,043,139     -                         63,541               2,106,680        
Due from other funds  104,066        9,355 21,808               135,229           
Inventory 113,200        -                         -                         113,200           
Prepaid items 79,976          -                         -                         79,976             
Restricted assets:
  Restricted cash and cash equivalents 957,145        -                         2,731,375          3,688,520        

Total assets  $ 12,053,130   $ 4,455,671          $ 8,599,480          $ 25,108,281      

LIABILITIES  
Accounts payable   $ 623,170        $ 57,385 $ 1,619,905          $ 2,300,460        
Accrued liabilities 549,920        -                         -                         549,920           
Deposits and prepayments 46,233          -                         -                         46,233             
Due to other funds   21,544          264 24,960               46,768             
Unearned revenue 86,931 4,398,022 -                         4,484,953        

Total liabilities   1,327,798     4,455,671          1,644,865          7,428,334        

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES  
Unavailable revenue - property taxes  163,483 -                         -                         163,483           

            Total deferred inflows of resources  163,483        -                         -                         163,483           

FUND BALANCES  
Nonspendable in:

Inventories and prepaid items 193,176        -                         -                         193,176           
Restricted for:

Debt service -                   -                         4,113,935          4,113,935        
Tourism and community development -                   -                         1,559,801          1,559,801        
ABC permit activities -                   -                         54,664               54,664             
Capital projects and redevelopment plan -                   -                         1,147,833          1,147,833        
Law enforcement -                   -                         62                      62                    

Committed for:
UST program 25,000          -                         -                         25,000             

Assigned for:
Christmas in Cayce 3,904            -                         -                         3,904               
Congaree Blue Grass Festival 34,889          -                         -                         34,889             
Museum -                   -                         78,320               78,320             
History park 957,145        -                         -                         957,145           

Unassigned  9,347,735     -                         -                         9,347,735        

Total fund balances   10,561,849   -                         6,954,615          17,516,464      

Total liabilities, deferred inflows   
  of resources, and fund balances   $ 12,053,130   $ 4,455,671          $ 8,599,480          $ 25,108,281      

CITY OF CAYCE, SOUTH CAROLINA

Nonmajor
General

Fund

BALANCE SHEET - GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS

JUNE 30, 2023

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 
14



CITY OF CAYCE, SOUTH CAROLINA

RECONCILIATION OF THE GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS BALANCE SHEET

TO THE STATEMENT OF NET POSITION

JUNE 30, 2023

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the Statement of Net Position are different because:

Total fund balances - governmental funds $ 17,516,464    

Capital assets $ 41,026,314    
Accumulated depreciation (17,781,771)   

23,244,543    

Property taxes receivable 163,483         

Deferred outflows related to other post-employment benefits $ 469,393         
Deferred outflows related to pensions 2,399,295      

2,868,688      

Bonds and installment purchase contracts payable $ (7,377,568)     
Accrued interest payable (9,410)            
Compensated absences payable (511,719)        
Total other postemployment benefits liability (1,386,486)     
Net pension liability (14,417,179)   

(23,702,362)   

Deferred inflows related to other post-employment benefits $ (817,492)        
Deferred inflows related to pensions (632,025)        

(1,449,517)     

    Net position of governmental activities $ 18,641,299    

Deferred outflows of resources related to the recording of net pension and liability and total OPEB
liability are recognized as expense over time and, therefore, are not reported in the funds.

Certain long-term liabilities are not due and payable in the current period and, therefore, are not
reported in the funds.  

Capital assets used in governmental activities are not financial resources and, therefore, are not
reported in the funds.

Other long-term assets not available to pay for current period expenditures and, therefore, are not
reported in the funds.

Deferred inflows of resources related to pensions and other post-employment benefits are not due
and payable in the current period and, therefore, are not reported in the funds.

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.    
15



Nonmajor Total
General ARPA Grant Governmental

Fund Fund Funds
Revenues:

Property taxes $ 5,010,946   $ -                         $ 1,168,802        $ 6,179,748        
Accommodation and hospitality taxes -                 -                         1,918,615        1,918,615        
Licenses and permits 5,226,170   -                         -                      5,226,170        
Fines and forfeitures 197,280      -                         -                      197,280           
State shared revenue 515,413      -                         174,982           690,395           
Charges for services 1,505,642   -                         -                      1,505,642        
Intergovernmental 801,838      1,950,775 23,000             2,775,613        
Interest income 108,486      50,349 89,600             248,435           
Miscellaneous 2,499,804   -                         86,990             2,586,794        

        Total revenues 15,865,579 2,001,124          3,461,989        21,328,692      

Expenditures:
Current:

General government 1,688,748   2,001,124 -                      3,689,872        
Information technology 279,833      -                         -                      279,833           
Finance 336,710      -                         -                      336,710           
Public safety 8,649,397   -                         3,451               8,652,848        
Public works 1,806,199   -                         -                      1,806,199        
Community relations 151,849      -                         -                      151,849           
Planning and community development 620,836      -                         131,953           752,789           
Parks and museum 987,214      -                         -                      987,214           
Garage 470,666      -                         -                      470,666           
Non-departmental and support services 91,169        -                         -                      91,169             

Capital outlay 1,626,352   -                         461,076           2,087,428        
Debt service:

Principal retirement 454,324      -                         325,000           779,324           
Interest 39,181        -                         242,613           281,794           
        Total expenditures 17,202,478 2,001,124          1,164,093        20,367,695      

        Excess (deficiency) of revenues
         over (under) expenditures (1,336,899) -                         2,297,896        960,997           

Other financing sources (uses):  
Issuance of installment purchase contract 738,000      -                         -                      738,000           
Sales of assets 90,999        -                         -                      90,999             
Transfers in 1,449,049   -                         10,650             1,459,699        
Transfers out -                 -                         (1,459,699)      (1,459,699)       

        Total other financing
            sources (uses), net 2,278,048   -                         (1,449,049)      828,999           

        Net change in fund balances 941,149      -                         848,847           1,789,996        

Fund balances, beginning of year 9,620,700   -                         6,105,768        15,726,468      
Fund balances, end of year $ 10,561,849 $ -                         $ 6,954,615        $ 17,516,464      

Governmental
Funds

CITY OF CAYCE, SOUTH CAROLINA

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND  

CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES  

GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS   

FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2023

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
16



CITY OF CAYCE, SOUTH CAROLINA

RECONCILIATION OF THE STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES  

AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES OF GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS   

TO THE STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES  

FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2023

Net change in fund balances - total governmental funds     $ 1,789,996       

                   Capital outlay $        2,444,221 
                   Depreciation expense      (2,343,719)

100,502          

 Property taxes $           (25,845)
 Contractual rights (10,000)          

(35,845)           

                   Issuance of debt $ (738,000)        
                   Principal payments 779,324         

41,324            

             Compensated absences $ (59,283)          
             Accrued interest on long-term debt 533                
             Net pension liability and related deferred inflows and outflows of resources 297,166         
             Amortization of bond premiums and discounts 31,584           
             Total other postemployment benefits liability, net of 

  related deferred outflows and inflows of resources 257,917         
527,917          

Change in net position of governmental activities $ 2,423,894       

Some expenses reported in the Statement of Activities do not require the use of current financial
resources and therefore are not reported as expenditures in the governmental funds. The details are as
follows:

Governmental funds report capital outlays as expenditures. However, in the Statement of Activities, the
cost of those assets is allocated over their estimated useful lives as depreciation expense. This is the
amount by which capital outlay exceeded depreciation expense in the current period.

Other long-term assets are not available to pay for current period expenditures and, therefore, are
reported as unavailable revenue in the funds.  These amounts are:

The issuance of long-term debt (e.g., bonds, leases) provides current financial resources to the
governmental funds, while the repayment of the principal of long-term debt consumes the current financial 
resources of the governmental funds.  Neither transaction, however, has any effect on net position.  

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.    
17



ASSETS
CURRENT ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents $ 7,570,650
Receivables, net:

Water and sewer 3,299,515
Other 138,816

Prepaid expense 74,711
Inventory 234,117
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 10,740,238    

   Total current assets 22,058,047    

NONCURRENT ASSETS
Capital assets, non-depreciable 4,866,918
Capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation 128,806,935
Other assets, net of accumulated amortization 324,221

Total noncurrent assets 133,998,074  
    Total assets 156,056,121  

DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Deferred outflows related to OPEB 103,897         
Deferred outflows related to pensions 1,076,827      
Deferred refunding charges 392,895

Total deferred outflows of resources 1,573,619      
    Total assets and deferred outflows of resources $ 157,629,740  

LIABILITIES 
CURRENT LIABILITIES

Accounts payable $ 482,327
Accrued payroll and related taxes 246,300
Accrued compensated absences - current portion 120,193
Accrued interest payable 209,345
Other liabilities 2,258
Due to other funds 88,461           
Customer prepayments 74,276
Revenue bonds and loans payable - current portion 3,273,174      
Total other post-employment benefit (OPEB) liability - current portion 2,825             

Total current liabilities 4,499,159      

LONG-TERM LIABILITIES 
Accrued compensated absences 100,716
Unearned revenue - future capacity charges and credits 34,042
Revenue bonds and loans payable 47,681,088
Net pension liability 7,254,100
Total other post-employment benefit (OPEB) liability 314,150

Total long-term liabilities 55,384,096    
Total liabilities 59,883,255    

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Deferred inflows related to OPEB 226,675
Deferred inflows related to pensions 253,560

Total deferred inflows of resources 480,235         
NET POSITION

Net investment in capital assets 83,112,486
Restricted: 

Debt and capital projects 9,406,448
Pension and employee benefits 543,520

Unrestricted 4,203,796      
Total net position 97,266,250    
Total liabilities, deferred inflows of resources and net position $ 157,629,740  

CITY OF CAYCE, SOUTH CAROLINA

STATEMENT OF NET POSITION

PROPRIETARY FUND TYPE - ENTERPRISE FUND   

JUNE 30, 2023

Water and 
Sewer Utility

Fund

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 
18



Operating Revenue
Water:

Sales $ 5,796,616
Connection fees 107,295

Sewer:
Service charges 12,599,305

Septage/grease services:
Sales and permits 1,179,438
Pretreatment set-up fees 79,140

Reconnection fees 44,440
Penalties 220,940
Miscellaneous 127,274

          Total operating revenue 20,154,448    

Operating Expenses
Administrative 574,064
Utility billing 985,837
Water treatment plant 1,637,205
Water distribution and maintenance 1,637,738
Wastewater treatment plant 4,996,646
Sewer collection and outfall lines 1,571,359
Septage and grease receiving station 571,867
Non-departmental and support services 2,134,138
Depreciation and amortization 6,035,123

          Total operating expenses 20,143,977    

          Operating income 10,471           

Non-operating Revenue (Expenses)
Interest income 245,052
Gain from sale of capital assets 41,271           
Interest expense (887,463)        
Amortization of bond refunding losses (151,145)        
Fiscal agent fees (9,859)            

          Total non-operating expenses, net (762,144)        

          Loss before capital contributions (751,673)        

Capital Contributions
Capacity charges and other capital contributions 1,139,847

Change in net position 388,174         

Net position, beginning of year 96,878,076    

Net position, end of year $ 97,266,250    

Sewer Utility
Fund

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENSES, AND CHANGES IN FUND NET POSITION

PROPRIETARY FUND TYPE - ENTERPRISE FUND   

FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2023

Water and 

CITY OF CAYCE, SOUTH CAROLINA

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 
19



CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:

Receipts from customers and users $ 19,013,966    
Cash paid to suppliers (9,121,465)     
Cash paid to employees (5,300,822)     

Net cash provided by operating activities 4,591,679      

CASH FLOWS USED IN CAPITAL AND RELATED FINANCING ACTIVITIES:

Proceeds from sale of capital assets 41,271           
Acquisition and construction of capital assets (3,178,427)     
Interest and fiscal agent fees paid on capital related debt (1,494,211)     
Principal payments on debt (3,081,194)     
Proceeds from the issuance of loans 2,318,340      
Capacity charges and other capital contributions 1,139,847      

Net cash used in capital and related financing activities (4,254,374)     

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Interest earned on investments 245,052         

Net cash provided by investing activities 245,052         

NET INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 582,357         

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT BEGINNING OF YEAR 17,728,531    

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF YEAR $ 18,310,888    

CLASSIFIED AS:

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS $ 7,570,650      
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, RESTRICTED 10,740,238    

$ 18,310,888    
(Continued)

CITY OF CAYCE, SOUTH CAROLINA

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

PROPRIETARY FUND TYPE - ENTERPRISE FUND   

FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2023

Water and 
Sewer Utility

Fund

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 
20



RECONCILIATION OF OPERATING LOSS TO NET CASH

PROVIDED BY OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
Operating loss $ 10,471           
Adjustments to reconcile operating loss to

net cash provided by operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization 6,035,123

Changes in assets, deferred outflows of resources, liabilities, and deferred inflows of resources:
   (Increase) decrease in assets and deferred outflows:

Change in accounts receivable (716,250)        
Change in other receivables (117,535)        
Change in prepaid expenses (37,758)          
Change in inventory (34,146)          
Change in deferred outflows or resources - pension and OPEB 98,654           

   Increase (decrease) in liabilities and deferred inflows:
Change in accounts payable (147,918)        
Change in accrued payroll and related taxes 43,745           
Change in other liabilities (61)                 
Change in due to other funds (15,056)          
Change in customer deposits (32,533)          
Change in accrued compensated absences 24,210           
Change in unearned revenue (274,164)        
Change in net pension liability 486,354         
Change in OPEB liability (10,807)          
Change in deferred inflows of resources - pension and OPEB (720,650)        

Net cash provided by operating activities $ 4,591,679      

CITY OF CAYCE, SOUTH CAROLINA

Fund

Water and 
Sewer Utility

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

PROPRIETARY FUND TYPE - ENTERPRISE FUND   

FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2023

21



Custodial Funds
ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents - unrestricted $ 23,913                  
Cash and cash equivalents - restricted 131,847                
          Total assets 155,760                

LIABILITIES
Amounts due to others 150,389                
          Total liabilities 150,389                

NET POSITION

Restricted for individuals, organizations
  and other governments 5,371                    

$ 5,371                    

CITY OF CAYCE, SOUTH CAROLINA

STATEMENT OF FIDUCIARY NET POSITION

FIDUCIARY FUNDS

JUNE 30, 2023

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 
22



Custodial Funds
ADDITIONS

Insurance fees $ 55,630                  
Seizures 15,404                  
Interest income 802                       
Miscellaneous 80                         

Total additions 71,916                  

DEDUCTIONS
Other custodial disbursements 67,072                  

Total deductions 67,072                  

Change in fiduciary net position 4,844                    

Net position, beginning of year 527                       

Net position, end of year $ 5,371                    

CITY OF CAYCE, SOUTH CAROLINA

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN

FIDUCIARY NET POSITION

FIDUCIARY FUNDS

FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2023

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
23



CITY OF CAYCE, SOUTH CAROLINA 
 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2023 

 
 

 

NOTE 1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 

The City of Cayce, South Carolina (the "City") was incorporated September 7, 1914, under the 
laws of the State of South Carolina for the incorporation of municipal governments and as 
amended by Act 283 of the 1975 Code (Home Rule City Act). The City operates under a 
Council-Manager form of government and provides the following services as authorized by its 
charter: public safety (police and fire), streets, sanitation, health, culture-recreation, public 
improvements, planning, zoning, and general administrative services.  
 
The financial statements of the City have been prepared in conformity with accounting 
principles generally accepted in the United States of America (GAAP) as applied to 
government units.  The Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) is the accepted 
standard-setting body for establishing governmental accounting and financial reporting 
principles. The more significant of the government's accounting policies are described below.  
 

A. Reporting Entity 
 
Using the criteria of GASB Statement No. 14, The Financial Reporting Entity, as amended, the 
basic financial statements of the City present the reporting entity that consists of the primary 
government and those legally separate organizations for which the elected officials of the 
primary government are financially accountable and for which the nature and significance of 
their relationship with the primary government are such that exclusion could cause, in 
management's judgment, the City's financial statements to be misleading or incomplete.  
 
Financial accountability is defined as appointment of a voting majority of the separate 
organization's board and either a) the ability to impose will by the primary government, or b) the 
possibility that the separate organization will provide a financial benefit to or impose a financial 
burden on the primary government.   "Blended" component units are separate entities that are, 
substantially, part of the primary government's operations and are combined with financial data 
of the primary government. "Discretely presented" component units, on the other hand, are 
reported in separate columns in the Government-wide financial statements to emphasize that 
they are legally separate from the operations of the primary government.  The City has no 
component units as of June 30, 2023.

24



 
 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

 
 

 

NOTE 1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 

B. Government-wide and Fund Financial Statements 
 

Government-wide Statements 

 
The Government-wide financial statements consist of a Statement of Net Position and a 
Statement of Activities and reports information on all of the nonfiduciary activities of the 
government as a whole. All fiduciary activities are reported only in the fund financial 
statements. Separate columns are used to distinguish between the City's governmental and 
business-type activities. Governmental activities are generally those activities financed by 
taxes, intergovernmental revenues, and other non-exchange revenues. These activities are 
usually reported in Governmental Funds. Business-type activities are those activities which are 
financed in whole or in part by user fees charged to external parties for goods and services. 
These activities are usually reported in Enterprise Funds.  
 
The Statement of Net Position reports all financial and capital resources of the City and reports 
the difference between assets and deferred outflows less liabilities and deferred inflows as net 
position not fund balance or equity. The Statement of Activities demonstrates the degree to 
which the direct expenses of a given function or segment are offset by program revenues and 
reflects the net (expenses) revenue of the City's individual functions before applying general 
revenues.  
 
Direct expenses are those that are clearly identifiable with a specific function or segment 
Program revenues are derived directly from the program itself or from parties outside the 
reporting government's taxpayers or citizenry, as a whole, and thus reduce the net cost of the 
function to be financed from the government's general revenues.  They include (1) charges to 
customers or applicants who purchase, use, or directly benefit from goods, services, or 
privileges provided by a given function or segment, (2) operating grants and contributions, and 
(3) capital grants and contributions, including special assessments that are restricted to 
meeting the operational or capital requirements of a particular function or segment. Internally 
dedicated resources are reported as general revenues rather than as program revenues. All 
revenues are 'general' revenues unless they are required to be reported as program revenues. 
 
Fund Financial Statements 

 
Separate financial statements are provided for governmental funds, proprietary funds, and 
fiduciary funds, even though the latter are excluded from the Government-wide financial 
statements. The focus of governmental and proprietary fund financial statements is on major 
funds. Major individual governmental funds and major individual proprietary funds are reported 
as separate columns in the fund financial statements, with non-major funds being 
aggregated and displayed in a single column. 

25



 
 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

 
 

 

NOTE 1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 

B. Government-wide and Fund Financial Statements (Continued) 
 

Fund Financial Statements (Continued) 

 
The City reports the General Fund and the ARPA Grant Fund as the major governmental funds 
and the Water and Sewer Utility Fund as the major proprietary fund.  Combining schedules for 
the non-major funds are presented in the supplementary information section of this report. 
Because of the basis of accounting and reporting differences, summary reconciliations to the 
Government-wide financial statements are presented as a part of the basic financial 
statements. 
 
The City reports the following major governmental funds: 
 

The General Fund is the City’s general operating fund. It accounts for all financial 
resources of the general government, except those required to be accounted for in another 
fund. 
 
The ARPA Grant Fund is used to account for the activities associated with the 
City’s allocation of grant monies under the Coronavirus State and Fiscal Recovery 
Funds program.  

 
The City reports the following major proprietary fund:  
 

The Water & Sewer Utility Fund is used to account for operations (a) that are financed 
and operated in a manner similar to private business enterprises - where the intent of the 
governing body is that the cost (expenses, including depreciation) of providing goods or 
services to the general public on a continuing basis be financed or recovered primarily 
through user charges; or (b) where the governing body has decided that periodic 
determination of revenue earned, expenses incurred, and/or net income is appropriate for 
capital maintenance, public policy, management control, accountability, or other purposes.  
 

Additionally, the City reports the following fund types: 
 
The Special Revenue Funds are used to account for the proceeds of specific revenue 
sources (other than special assessments, expendable trusts, or major capital projects) 
that are legally (or donor) restricted to expenditures for specified purposes other than debt 
service or capital projects.  The City maintains  special  revenue  funds  for continuing 
grant programs  for  law enforcement;  state restricted funds  for accommodation  
taxes and  alcohol permits;  restricted hospitality taxes; plus, the Cayce Museum Fund.  
 
 

26



 
 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

 
 

 

NOTE 1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 

B. Government-wide and Fund Financial Statements (Continued) 
 

Fund Financial Statements (Continued) 

 
The Debt Service Fund is used to account for the accumulation of financial resources 
for the payment of interest and principal on certain general long-term debt of the City, 
other than debt service payments financed by proprietary fund types. The City maintains 
this fund for the resources of taxes collected in the tax increment financing (TIF) district 
used for retirement of long-term debt. 
 
The Capital Projects Fund is used to account for the acquisition and construction of 
major capital facilities and other capital assets other than those financed by the 
proprietary fund. The City maintains this fund for its resources and activities in the TIF 
district. 
 
Fiduciary Funds - All of the City's fiduciary activities are reported in a separate 
Statement of Fiduciary Net Position and a Statement of Changes in fiduciary Net 
Position.  

 
Accordingly, the Custodial Funds are used to account for assets held by the City as 
an agent for individuals, private organizations, other governments, and/or other funds.  
At June 30, 2023, these included the Police Fund and the Firemen's Fund. 
Accordingly, the Firemen's Fund accounts for monies collected from the State for the 
benefit of the fire department. The Police Fund accounts for monies collected through drug 
seizures and other similar activities. For the two custodial funds of the City, the assets of 
the funds are for the benefit of other entities and individuals and the assets are not derived 
from the City providing goods or services to these other entities and individuals. 

 
During the course of operations, the government has activity between funds for various 
purposes. Any residual balances outstanding at year end are reported as due from/to other 
funds and advances to/from other funds. While these balances are reported in fund financial 
statements, certain eliminations are made in the preparation of the government-wide financial 
statements. Balances between the funds included in governmental activities (i.e., the 
governmental and internal service funds, when applicable) are eliminated so that only the net 
amount is included as internal balances in the governmental activities column. Similarly, 
balances between the funds included in business-type activities (i.e., the enterprise funds) are 
eliminated so that only the net amount is included as internal balances in the business-type 
activities column. 
 

27



 
 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

 
 

 

NOTE 1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 

B. Government-wide and Fund Financial Statements (Continued) 
 

Further, certain activity occurs during the year involving transfers of resources between funds. 
In fund financial statements these amounts are reported at gross amounts as transfers in/out. 
While reported in fund financial statements, certain eliminations are made in the preparation of 
the government-wide financial statements. Transfers between the funds included in 
governmental activities are eliminated so that only the net amount is included as transfers in 
the governmental activities column. Similarly, balances between the funds included in 
business-type activities are eliminated so that only the net amount is included as transfers in 
the business-type activities column. 

 
C. Measurement Focus and Basis of Accounting  

 
Basis of accounting refers to when revenues and expenditures are recognized in the accounts 
and reported in the financial statements. Basis of accounting is a conceptual description of the 
timing of the accounting measurements made.  
 
The Government-wide and Proprietary Fund financial statements use the economic resources 
measurement focus and the accrual basis of accounting, in accordance with GASB Statement 
No. 34. Revenues are recorded when earned and expenses are recorded when a liability is 
incurred, regardless of the timing of related cash flows. Property taxes are recognized as 
revenues in the year for which they are levied. Grants and similar items are recognized as 
revenue as soon as all eligibility requirements imposed by the grantor have been met.  
 
As a general rule, the effect of interfund activity (i.e., advances or short-term loans) has been 
eliminated from the Government-wide financial statements, except for amounts due between 
the City's governmental activities and business-type activities.  
 
Governmental Fund financial statements are reported using the current financial resources 
measurement focus and the modified accrual basis of accounting. Under the modified accrual 
basis concept, revenues susceptible to accrual (e.g., property taxes, franchise taxes, state 
shared and intergovernmental revenues) are recognized when they become measurable 
(estimable as to the net amount to be collected) and available as current assets. Such 
revenues are considered to be available when they are collected within the current period or 
soon enough thereafter (not exceeding 60 days) to pay liabilities of the current period. 
Expenditures generally are recorded when a liability is incurred, as under accrual accounting.  

28



 
 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

 
 

 

NOTE 1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 

C. Measurement Focus and Basis of Accounting (Continued) 
 
However, debt service expenditures, as well as expenditures related to compensated absences 
and claims and judgments, are recorded only when payment is due.  
 
Proprietary Fund statements reflect net position and revenues, expenses and changes in net 
position using the economic resources measurement focus and the accrual basis of 
accounting.  Under the accrual basis concept, revenues are recognized when earned and 
expenses are recognized when incurred.  
 
Proprietary Funds distinguish operating revenues and expenses from non-operating items. 
Operating revenues and expenses generally result from providing services and producing and 
delivering goods in connection with a proprietary fund's principal ongoing operations.    
Operating expenses for enterprise funds include the cost of sales and services, administrative 
expenses, and depreciation on capital assets.  All revenues and expenses not meeting this 
definition are reported as non-operating revenues and expenses.  
 
When restricted, committed, and/or assigned resources are available for use, it is the 
government's policy to use restricted resources first, then committed resources, then assigned 
resources, then unrestricted resources as they are needed.  
 

D. Budgets and Budgetary Accounting 
 

Budgets and Encumbrances 

 

Generally, budgets are adopted on a basis consistent with generally accepted accounting 
principles. A legal operating budget is prepared annually for the General Fund and Water and 
Sewer Utility Fund. Informal budgetary controls are maintained for other funds.  
 
The City Manager is authorized to administer the budget and transfer amounts within and 
between departments and funds as necessary and designate continuing projects from fund 
balances or additional unbudgeted revenue and transfers. Subsequent expenditures 
(expenses) approved by Council shall automatically carry amendments to fund appropriation 
where applicable.  

 

29



 
 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

 
 

 

NOTE 1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 

D. Budgets and Budgetary Accounting (Continued) 
 

Budgets and Encumbrances (Continued) 

 

The General Fund operated under a final expenditure budget totaling $17,022,065. Final 
budgeted revenues totaled $14,744,065 and other financing sources (uses) totaled $2,253,000, 
leaving a net change in fund balance of $25,000. As further described in the Required 
Supplementary Information, a budgetary comparison schedule for the General Fund is 
provided. The Water and Sewer Utility Fund operated under a budget totaling $15,566,402 
(including operation and maintenance, capital improvements, debt service principal amounts 
and coverages).  Actual operating expenses totaled $20,143,977 (including a charge of 
$6,035,123 for depreciation and amortization).  
 
Encumbrances represent outstanding purchase orders or commitments related to unperformed 
contracts for goods or services.  Encumbrance accounting, under which purchase orders, 
contracts and other commitments for the expenditure of resources are recorded to reserve that 
portion of the applicable budgeted appropriation, is utilized in the governmental funds.  There 
were no material encumbrances at June 30, 2023.  

 

E. Cash and Cash Equivalents 
 
Cash includes amounts held in demand deposits. For purpose of the Statement of Cash Flows, 
the City considers all savings and short-term investments purchased with maturities of three 
months or less to be cash equivalents.  State statutes authorize the City to invest in obligations 
of the U.S. Treasury, commercial paper, corporate bonds and repurchase agreements.   
Investments are reported at fair value.  
 

F. Receivables and Allowance for Doubtful Accounts  
 

Accounts receivable include amounts receivable from customers, users, others, and other 
governments and such amounts are stated net of any applicable allowance for uncollectible 
accounts.  
 

30



 
 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

 
 

 

NOTE 1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 

G. Restricted Assets  
 
Restricted assets include monies or other resources, the use of which is restricted by legal or 
contractual requirements. In the Enterprise Fund restricted assets arise from certain bond and 
contract ordinances.  
 

H. Other Assets  
 
Other assets consist of purchases of intangible assets, or contractual rights to use capital asset 
resources. The Business-type Activities contract rights result from the purchase of expanded 
wastewater collection lines owned by a third-party (Red Bank Line) where the City uses the 
additional line capacity. The purchase price (cost) totaling $563,864 is being amortized over 
the life of the contract (40 years). Amortization expense for the year ended June 30, 2023, 
totaled $14,097. The Governmental Activities rights result from the purchase and cost 
contribution to Lexington County to construct a new animal services/shelter services and to 
provide the City future services. The purchase price (cost) totaling $100,000 is to be amortized 
over the life of the contract (10 years). Accumulated amortization as of June 30, 2023, totaled 
$100,000.  
 

I. Interfund Receivables and Payables  
 

During the course of operations, numerous transactions result in loans or advances between 
individual funds. Interfund loans   outstanding at   year-end   are   recorded   as    Interfund 
Receivables/Payables and are expected to be paid within one year. The lending fund reports 
amounts due from other funds, while the borrowing fund reports amounts 'due to other funds'. 
These interfund receivables and payables are classified as internal balances on the 
Government-wide Statement of Net Position and have been eliminated. The City considers all 
interfund receivables, net of any payables to be short-term. Advances to/from other fluids (if 
any) represent long-term interfund loans receivable and payable.  
 

J. Inventory and Prepaid Items  
 

Inventory is valued at cost or estimated historical cost on a first-in, first-out (FIFO) basis. 
Inventory consists of expendable supplies of the garage and water/wastewater maintenance, 
held for consumption. Reported inventory expenditures or expenses and prepaid items are 
recognized when consumed. Additionally, certain payments to vendors reflect costs for 
services applicable to future periods and are reported as prepaid items. Prepaid items are 
accounted for under the consumption method. 

31



 
 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

 
 

 

NOTE 1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 

K. Capital Assets and Depreciation  
 

Capital assets, which include land, buildings, improvements, machinery and equipment, and 
infrastructure assets, are reported in the applicable governmental or business-type activities 
columns in the Government-wide financial statements. Capital assets of the City that are not 
specifically related to activities reported in proprietary or fiduciary funds have been reported as 
assets in the governmental funds column of the Government-wide financial statement. Capital 
assets are defined by the City as those assets with an initial, individual cost of more than 
$5,000 and an estimated useful life in excess of two years.  
 
All capital assets are valued at historical cost if purchased, constructed or estimated historical 
cost if actual historical cost is not available. Donated capital assets are valued at their 
estimated acquisition value on the date donated. The costs of normal repairs and maintenance 
that do not add to the value of the asset or materially extend asset lives are not capitalized.  
 
Public domains (rights-of-way and easements) have been capitalized using actual and 
estimated historical costs of such assets that were acquired by the City.  The City owns .98 
mile of paved subdivision streets at June 30, 2023.   However, the City is not responsible for 
maintenance or reconstruction costs associated with the roads.  
 
Depreciation of all exhaustible capital assets has been provided based on the estimated useful 
lives of the class of assets, or individual assets using the straight-line method with service lives 
as follows:  
 Years 
Buildings 15 to 40 
Improvements 10 to 30 
Machinery and equipment 3 to 20 
Water and sewer systems 10 to 50  
 

32



 
 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

 
 

 

NOTE 1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 

L. Compensated Absences (Accrued Vacation and Sick Leave) 
 
City employees are entitled to accrue and early forward at fiscal year-end accumulated unused 
days of annual vacation leave and sick leave. Typically, employees consume newly earned 
increments of leave in future periods. Effective July 1, 1994, accumulated annual and sick 
leave is capped at 400 hours and 720 hours, respectively, per employee. Upon termination of 
employment, employees are entitled to be paid at current salary levels for accumulated unused 
annual vacation leave.  Prior to July 1, 1994, the City's policy for employees receiving 
compensation for unused sick leave upon termination was as follows: 15 years of service = 
25%; 20 years of service = 50%; 25 years of service = 75%; 30 years of service = 100%.  
 
In the Government-wide and Proprietary Fund financial statements, vacation pay is accrued 
when incurred and reported as a current and long-term liability. In the Governmental Funds, 
expenditures and liabilities related to these obligations are recognized when they mature 
(become due). Vacation pay that is expected to be liquidated, for example, as a result of 
employee resignations and retirements, with expendable available financial resources is 
reported as an expenditure and a fund liability in the General Fund, when applicable.  
 

M. Long-term Obligations 
 
In the Government-wide financial statements, and the Proprietary Fund types in the fund 
financial statements, long-term debt and other long-term obligations are reported as liabilities in 
the applicable governmental activities, business-type activities, or proprietary fund type 
Statement of Net Position. Long-term debt represents unmatured principal of general obligation 
and revenue bond indebtedness, and outstanding portions due on long-term contracts.  These 
obligations are reported net of bond premiums and discounts, which are amortized over the life 
of the related bond issue using the effective interest method.  Other long-term obligations 
represent outstanding net present value portions due on installment purchase contracts, and 
long-term portions of claims or judgments.  Liabilities arising from interfund activities do not 
constitute general long-term liabilities. In the Governmental Fund financial statements, bond 
premium and discounts, as well as bond issuance, costs are recognized as expenditures of the 
current period. The face amount of the debt issued, along with any bond premium and 
discounts, is reported as other financing sources.  
 

 

33



 
 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

 
 

 

NOTE 1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 

N. Unearned Revenue  
 

In the Government-wide and Proprietary financial statements, certain assets are not 
recognized in connection with a transaction before the earnings process is complete.  These 
assets are generally offset by a corresponding liability entitled unearned revenue and represent 
various deposits and grants received in advance of eligibility requirements having been met.  

 
O. Contract Obligation  

 

Under an intergovernmental agreement, the City is obligated to provide financial credit to a 
wastewater treatment purchaser of $1,950,000, which resulted from a prior-year receipt of 
wastewater capacity payments. The City applies the credit against future contract charges and 
services. At June 30, 2023, the current credit balance outstanding equals $30,852.  

 
P. Deferred Outflows/Inflows of Resources and Unearned Revenue 

 
Deferred Outflows of Resources 

Deferred outflows of resources represent a consumption of net assets by the government that 
is applicable to a future period, while an asset is a resource with present service capacity that 
the government presently controls. A deferred inflow of resources is an acquisition of net 
assets by the government that is applicable to a future reporting period, while a liability is a 
present obligation to sacrifice resources that the government has little or no discretion to avoid. 
Deferred outflows and inflows of resources are reported separate from assets and liabilities, 
respectively, in the Statement of Net Position and the Governmental Funds Balance Sheet.  
 
At June 30, 2023, the City reported deferred outflows of resources consisting of debt refunding 
losses (resulting from the difference between the new refunding debt (reacquisition price) and 
the net carrying amount of the old, refunded debt), pension related, and OPEB related 
outflows. The debt funding losses amount is being amortized over the remaining life of the old 
debt or the life of the new debt, whichever is shorter.  
 
The City reported deferred outflows/inflows of resources related to pensions and OPEB at 
June 30, 2023, as follows.  
 
In addition to assets, the Statement of Net Position reports a separate section for deferred 
outflows of resources. This separate financial statement element represents a consumption of 
net assets that applies to a future period(s) and so will not be recognized as an outflow of 
resources (expense/expenditure) until then. The City has four (4) items that qualify for reporting 
in this category, which are related to pension and OPEB obligations as follows:  
 
 
 
 

34



 
 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

 
 

 

NOTE 1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 

P. Deferred Outflows/Inflows of Resources and Unearned Revenue (Continued) 
 
Deferred Outflows of Resources (Continued) 

1. Pension and OPEB contributions made subsequent to the measurement date, which will be 
recognized as a reduction of the net pension liability and the total OPEB liability in the 
subsequent year. 

2. The differences between expected and actual experience is amortized into pension and 
OPEB expense beginning in the year the deferral occurs over a closed period equal to the 
average remaining service lives of all plan participants. 

3. The changes in proportion and differences between employer contribution and 
proportionate share of contributions, which will be deferred and amortized over the 
remaining service lives of all plan participants. 

4. Changes in assumptions, which will be amortized into pension and OPEB expense over a 
closed five-year period.  
 

Deferred Inflows of Resources  

In addition to liabilities, the Statement of Net Position reports a separate section for deferred 
inflows of resources. This separate financial statement element represents an acquisition of net 
assets that applies to a future period(s) and so will not be recognized as an inflow of resources 
(revenue) until that time. The City has the following items that qualify for reporting in this 
category, which are related to pension and OPEB obligations as follows: 
 
1. The differences between expected and actual experience is amortized into pension and 

OPEB expense beginning in the year the deferral occurs over a closed period equal to the 
average remaining service lives of all plan participants.  

2. The changes in proportion and differences between employer contribution and 
proportionate share of contributions, which will be deferred and amortized over the 
remaining service lives of all plan participants. 

3. Changes in assumptions, which will be amortized into OPEB expense over a closed five-
year period.  

4. The net difference between the projected and actual earnings on pension plan investments 
which is deferred and amortized over a closed five-year period. 

    
The City also has inflows which arise under the modified accrual basis of accounting that 
qualify for reporting in this category. The item, unavailable revenue, is reported only in the 
governmental funds balance sheet. As such, under the modified accrual basis of accounting, 
the governmental funds report unavailable revenues from property taxes. These amounts are 
deferred and recognized as an inflow of resources in the period that the amount became 
available. 
 
Unearned Revenue 

The City also defers revenue recognition in connection with resources that have been billed or 
received, but not yet earned. 

35



 
 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

 
 

 

NOTE 1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 

Q. Pensions  
 
For purposes of measuring the net pension liability, deferred outflows of resources and 
deferred inflows of resources related to pensions, and pension expense, information about the 
fiduciary net position of the South Carolina Retirement System (SCRS) and South Carolina 
Police Officers Retirement System (PORS) and additions to/deductions from the plans' 
fiduciary net position have been determined on the same basis as they are repotted by the 
related plan. For this purpose, benefit payments (including refunds of employee contributions) 
are recognized when due and payable in accordance with the benefit terms. Investments are 
reported at fair value.  
 

R. Total OPEB Liability  
 
For the purposes of measuring the Total OPEB Liability, deferred outflows of resources and 
deferred inflows of resources related to OPEB, and OPEB expense, information about the Plan 
has been determined on the basis of an actuarial report for the plan. The City does not have a 
separate Trust for the plan and the plan has no plan assets. For this purpose, benefit payments 
(including refunds of employee contributions) are recognized when due and payable in 
accordance with the benefit terms.  The Total OPEB Liability is the portion of the actuarial 
present value of projected benefit payments that is attributed to past periods of employee 
service.  Changes in the Total OPEB Liability that have not been included in OPEB expense 
are reported as deferred outflows or deferred inflows of resources related to OPEB. 
 
The City's valuation method is the Entry Age Normal Cost Method under which the actuarial 
present value of the projected benefits of each individual included in an actuarial valuation is 
allocated on a level basis over the earnings or service of the individual between entry age and 
assumed exit age(s).  
  

S. Net Position and Fund Balance  
 
In the Government-wide financial statements, the difference between the City's total assets and 
deferred outflows, less total liabilities and deferred inflows represents net position. Net position 
for both the governmental activities and proprietary fund types displays three components - net 
investment in capital assets; restricted (distinguished between major categories of restrictions); 
and unrestricted. Unrestricted net position represents the assets available for future operations.  
In the Fund financial statements, governmental funds are reported in classifications that 
comprise a hierarchy based primarily on the extent to which the government is bound to honor 
the constraints on the specific purposes for which amounts in those funds can be spent.    
  

36



 
 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

 
 

 

NOTE 1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 

S. Net Position and Fund Balance (Continued) 
 
Fund equity at the governmental fund financial reporting level is classified as fund balance.  
Fund equity for all other reporting is classified as net position. 
 
Fund Balance – Generally, fund balance represents the difference between the assets and 
deferred outflows of resources and liabilities and deferred inflows of resources under the current 
financial resources measurement focus and modified accrual basis of accounting. In the fund 
financial statements, governmental funds report fund balance classifications that comprise a 
hierarchy based primarily on the extent to which the City is bound to honor constraints on the 
specific purposes for which amounts in those funds can be spent.  Fund balances are classified as 
follows: 
 
Nonspendable – Fund balances are reported as nonspendable when amounts cannot be spent 
because they are either; (a) not in a spendable form; or (b) legally or contractually required to be 
maintained intact.  
 
Restricted – Fund balances are reported as restricted when there are limitations imposed on their 
use either through the enabling legislation adopted by the City or through external restrictions 
imposed by creditors, grantors or laws and regulations of other governments. 
 
Committed – Fund balances are reported as committed when they can be used only for specific 
purposes pursuant to constraints imposed by formal action of the Council through the passage of an 
ordinance.  Only the Council may modify or rescind the commitment. 
 
Assigned – Fund balances are reported as assigned when amounts are constrained by the City’s 
intent to be used for specific purposes but are neither restricted nor committed. Intent can be 
expressed by the Council or by an official or body to which the Council delegates the authority. The 
Council has delegated such authority to the City Manager. 
 
Unassigned – Fund balances are reported as unassigned as the residual amount when the 
balances do not meet any of the above criterion.  The City reports positive unassigned fund balance 
only in the General Fund.  Negative unassigned fund balances may be reported in all funds. 
 

Flow Assumptions – When both restricted and unrestricted amounts of fund balance are available 
for use for expenditures incurred, it is the City’s policy to use restricted amounts first and then 
unrestricted amounts as they are needed.  For unrestricted amounts of fund balance, it is the City’s 
policy to use fund balance in the following order: 1) committed, 2) assigned, and 3) unassigned. 

 
 
 
 
 

37



 
 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

 
 

 

NOTE 1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 

T. Property Taxes  
 

The City assesses and levies property taxes in accordance with applicable laws of the State of 
South Carolina.  Real property and personal property of every description owned and used in 
the City, except that which is exempt from taxation under the Constitution and Laws of the 
State, is subject to taxation. An annual ordinance establishing the millage rate associated with 
the levy is adopted each year as a part of the budget adoption process.  
 
Real property and all personal property other than vehicles are assessed for property tax 
purposes as of December 31 of each year. The basis for value of taxable property within the 
City is taken from the records of the Lexington County Assessor or the Richland County 
Assessor. Taxes are levied on July 1 with the passage of the fiscal year budget and millage 
ordinance, billed in October, and are due by January 15 in the year following their levy. 
A penalty of 3% is added to the tax bill on January 16; with an additional 7% added on 
February 2; and an additional 5% to the tax bill on March 17.  
 
New vehicle property taxes are assessed and levied within 120 days of the registration date of 
the vehicle and payment is due upon receipt of the property tax notice. Other vehicle property 
taxes are assessed and levied in the month the vehicle is scheduled for license renewal with 
the South Carolina Department of Transportation and payment is due before the end of the 
month of the scheduled renewal.  
 
For Government-wide financial statements, property taxes are recognized as revenue in the 
year for which they are levied.  For Government Fund financial statements, City property tax 
revenues are recognized for the budget period to which they apply when they become 
measurable and available. Delinquent and unpaid property taxes are reported as receivables, 
less amounts estimated to be uncollectible.  
 

U. Program and General Revenue  
 

The City charges public fees for building permits and inspections, and admission fees for 
certain recreational activities.  These fees as well as fines for traffic violations and grant 
revenues are recorded as program revenue in the Statement of Activities. General revenues 
reported by the City include property taxes, state-shared taxes, business licenses (which are 
appropriately not classified as program revenue charges for services due to their non-matching 
characteristics) and other government imposed non-exchange fees (e.g., franchise fees, which 
are general revenue fees-in-lieu of business licenses).  
 
 
 

38



 
 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

 
 

 

NOTE 1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 

V. Interfund Activities  
 

Transfers between governmental and business-type activities on the Government-wide 
statements are reported in the same manner as general revenues. Exchange transactions 
between funds are reported as revenues in the seller funds and as expenditure/expenses in the 
purchaser funds. Flows of cash or goods from one fund to another without the requirement for 
repayment are reported as interfund transfers. Interfund transfers are reported as other 
financing sources/uses in governmental funds and after non-operating revenues/expenses in 
proprietary funds. Repayments from funds responsible for particular expenditures/expenses to 
the funds that initially paid for them are not presented on the financial statements.  

 

W. Encumbrances 
 
Encumbrance accounting, under which purchase orders, contracts and other commitments for 
expenditures are recorded to reflect the use of the applicable spending appropriations, is used 
by the General Fund during the year to control expenditures. Encumbrances do not constitute 
expenditures or liabilities. For budget purposes, encumbrances and unused expenditure 
appropriations lapse at year-end. 

 
X. Accounting Estimates  

 
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting 
principles requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts 
reported in the financial statements and accompanying notes. Estimates are used to determine 
depreciation expense, and the allowance for doubtful accounts among other accounts. Actual 
results could differ from those estimates.  
 

Y. Proprietary Funds Operating and Non-operating Revenues and Expenses  
 

Proprietary funds distinguish operating revenues and expenses from non-operating items. 
Operating revenues and expenses generally result from providing goods and services in 
connection with a proprietary fund’s principal ongoing operations. The City’s business-type 
activities accounted for in proprietary funds are water and sewer sales and services. Operating 
expenses for proprietary funds include the cost of sales and services, administrative expenses, 
and depreciation on capital assets. All revenues and expenses not meeting this definition are 
reported as non-operating revenues and expenses. 

39



 
 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

 
 

 

NOTE 2. STEWARDSHIP, COMPLIANCE AND ACCOUNTABILITY 
 
Budgetary Information 
 
The City utilizes the following procedures in establishing the budgetary data reflected in the financial 
statements: 
 

1. Budgets are adopted on a GAAP basis. During the spring, the City’s Administration, with 
other department input, develops a preliminary budget model for operational and capital 
expenditures, and develops revenue projections as a proposed means of financing the 
proposed expenditures. 

 
2. Upon receipt of the budget estimates, the Council holds a first reading of the budget 

ordinance. Information about the budget ordinance is then published in the local 
newspaper. The ordinance sets the limit at the fund level, for which expenditures may not 
exceed appropriations. After two readings of the budget, the Council legally adopts the 
budget through the passage of the ordinance. 
 

3. Budget accountability rests primarily with the operating departments of the City. In 
accomplishing the programs and objectives for which the budget was authorized, 
department directors are responsible for ensuring that their respective expenditures do not 
exceed the prescribed funding levels.  

 
4. For each assigned function, a department is obligated to stay within budget for his area. 

The City Manager has the authority to make transfers across departments and funds. Such 
transfers are entered on the City’s records. All unused expenditure appropriations lapse at 
year-end. However, the Council must approve any revisions that alter the total expenditures 
of any fund.  
 

5. Budgeted amounts are as originally adopted, or as amended by the Council. 
 

Excess of Expenditures over Appropriations  
 

For the fiscal year ended June 30, 2023, expenses exceeded appropriations in the General 
Fund and the Water and Sewer Utility Fund in the amounts of $180,413 and $5,618,042, 
respectively. These over-expenditures were financed by certain revenues, capital contributions, 
and the use of fund balance/net position. 

40



 
 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

 
 

 

NOTE 3. CASH AND INVESTMENTS 
 

As of June 30, 2023, the City had the following cash and cash equivalent balances:  
 
Cash on hand $ 850                    
Carrying amount of cash and cash equivalents 41,138,994         

$ 41,139,844         
Statement of Net Position:

Cash and cash equivalents $ 26,555,326         
Cash and cash equivalents - restricted 14,428,758         

Statement of Fiduciary Net Position:
Cash and cash equivalents 155,760             

$ 41,139,844         

 
Certain cash and cash equivalents of the City are legally restricted for specified purposes.  The 
major types of restrictions at June 30, 2023, were those imposed by the revenue source (i.e., 
hospitality tax, drug fund, etc.) and as stipulated in the bond offering documents. 
 
Under State law, the City is authorized to hold funds in deposit accounts with banking 
institutions and invest funds in the following items: obligations of the United States and 
agencies thereof, obligations of the State of South Carolina or any of its political units, banks 
and savings and loan associations to the extent insured by an agency of the federal 
government, and/or certificates of deposit where the certificates are federally insured or 
collaterally secured by collateral of the types in the previously mentioned items.  
 

Custodial Credit Risk – Deposits 

 

Custodial credit risk for deposits is the risk that, in the event of the failure of a depository 
financial institution, a government will not be able to recover deposits or will not be able to 
recover collateral securities that are in the possession of an outside party. State statutes 
require all deposits and investments (other than federal or state government instruments) to be 
collateralized by depository insurance, obligations of the U.S. government, or bonds of public 
authorities, counties, or municipalities. The City does not have a deposit policy for custodial 
credit risk. At June 30, 2023, the carrying amount of the City's cash deposits with financial 
institutions was $41,138,994 and the financial institution's balances totaled $41,620,255. As of 
June 30, 2023, all of the City’s deposits were covered by federal depository insurance or by 
collateral held in the pledging financial institutions’ trust department in the City’s name. The 
City's cash on hand at June 30, 2023, amounted to $850. Accordingly, the City was not 
exposed to custodial credit risk.  

41



 
 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

 
 

 

NOTE 3. CASH AND INVESTMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 

Interest Rate Risk – Investments 

 

Interest rate risk is the risk that changes in interest rates will adversely affect the fair value of 
an investment. Investments held for longer periods are subject to increased risk of adverse 
interest rate changes. The City does not have a formal investment policy that limits investment 
maturities as a means of managing its exposure to fair value losses arising from increasing 
interest rates. As of June 30, 2023, the City had no investments subject to interest rate risk.  
 

Credit Risk – Investments 

 

Credit risk for investments is the risk that an issuer or other counterparty to an investment will 
not fulfill its obligations. State statute authorizes the City to invest in obligations of the United 
States and agencies thereof; general obligations of the State of South Carolina or any of its 
political units provided such obligations are rated as an "A" or better by Moody's Investors 
Service, Inc. and Standard and Poor's Corporation or their respective successors; interest 
bearing accounts in savings and loan associations to the extent that the same are insured by 
an agency of the Federal government; certificates of deposit where the certificates are 
collaterally secured by securities of the type described above, held by a third party as escrow 
agent or custodian, of a fair value not less than the amount of the certificates of deposit so 
secured, including interest, provided, however, such collateral shall not be required to the 
extent the same are insured by an agency of the United States Government; or deposit 
accounts with banking institutions insured and secured in the same manner. The statutes 
provide that all authorized investments shall have maturities consistent with the time or times 
when the invested monies will be needed in cash.  Statutes also allow the State Treasurer to 
assist local governments in investing funds.  The City is under no contractual agreements 
which restrict investment alternatives. The City has no investment policy that would further limit 
its investment choices other than its compliance with State Law. As of June 30, 2023, the City 
had no investments subject to credit risk. 

 
Custodial Credit Risk – Investments 

 

Custodial credit risk for investments is the risk that, in the event of a bank failure, the 
government will not be able to recover the value of its investments or collateral securities that 
are in the possession of an outside party. Investment balances were covered by collateral held 
by the financial institution's trust department in the City's name.  The City does not have an 
investment policy for custodial credit risk. As of June 30, 2023, the City had no investments 
subject to custodial credit risk.  
 

 

 

 

 

 

42



 
 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

 
 

 

NOTE 3. CASH AND INVESTMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 

Fair Value Measurements 

 

The City categorizes its fair value measurements within the fair value hierarchy established by 
generally accepted accounting principles. The hierarchy is based on the valuation inputs used 
to measure the fair value of the asset. Level 1 inputs are quoted prices in active markets for 
identical assets; Level 2 inputs are significant other observable inputs; and Level 3 inputs are 
significant unobservable inputs. 
 
As of June 30, 2023, the City reported no investments subject to reporting in the fair value 
hierarchy. 

 
NOTE 4. RECEIVABLES  
 

Receivables as of year-end, including the applicable allowances for uncollectible accounts, are as 
follows: 
 

Fund
Receivables:

Property taxes $ 258,491         $ -                $ -                
Sanitation and fire hydrant fees 169,249         -                -                
Water and sewer accounts -                   3,157,764   -                
Wastewater Treatment Plant contribution -                   440,066     -                
Grants receivable 207,218         -                -                
Accommodations taxes -                   -                57,672        
Other 1,596,390      138,816     5,869         

Gross receivables 2,231,348      3,736,646   63,541        

Less allowance for uncollectible (188,209)        (298,315)    -                

Net receivables $ 2,043,139      $ 3,438,331   $ 63,541        

Governmental 
Funds

Nonmajor
General

Water and

Fund
Sewer Utility

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

43



 
 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

 
 

 

NOTE 5. DUE TO/FROM OTHER FUNDS (INTERNAL BALANCES) 
 

The composition of interfund balances at June 30, 2023, were as follows:  
 

Receivable Fund

General Fund Nonmajor Governmental Funds $ 15,605               
ARPA Fund Nonmajor Governmental Funds 9,355                 
Nonmajor Governmental Funds General Fund 21,544               
Nonmajor Governmental Funds ARPA Fund 264
General Fund Water and Sewer Fund 88,461               

$ 135,229              

Payable Fund Amount

The composition of interfund transfers as of June 30, 2023, consisted of the following:  
 

Transfer in

Nonmajor Governmental Funds Nonmajor Governmental Funds $ 10,650               
General Fund Nonmajor Governmental Funds 1,449,049           

Total transfers $ 1,459,699           

Transfer out Amount

Interfund balances largely result from the time lag between the dates that (1) interfund goods 
and services are provided or reimbursable expenditures occur, (2) transactions are recorded in 
the accounting system, and (3) payments between funds are made. 
 
 
 

 

 

THE REMAINDER OF THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK. 
 

44



 
 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

 
 

 

NOTE 6.  CAPITAL ASSETS 
 

Capital asset activity for the governmental activities for the year ended June 30, 2023, is as follows: 
 

Beginning Ending
Balance Increases Decreases Transfers Balance

Governmental activities:
Capital assets, not being depreciated:

Land and rights-of-way $ 7,838,828       $ -                $ -               $ -               $ 7,838,828       
Construction in progress 519,325          1,159,952   -               (1,288,613) 390,664          

Total 8,358,153       1,159,952   -               (1,288,613) 8,229,492       

Capital assets, being depreciated:
Land improvements 16,826,057      -                -               1,288,613  18,114,670      
Buildings and improvements 2,430,791       -                -               -               2,430,791       
Furniture, vehicles, equipment 11,978,185      1,284,269   (1,011,093) -               12,251,361      

Total 31,235,033      1,284,269   (1,011,093) 1,288,613  32,796,822      

Less accumulated depreciation for:
Land improvements (5,935,310)      (1,307,175)  -               -               (7,242,485)      
Buildings and improvements (1,715,056)      (90,064)      -               -               (1,805,120)      
Furniture, vehicles, equipment (8,798,779)      (946,480)     1,011,093  -               (8,734,166)      

Total (16,449,145)     (2,343,719)  1,011,093  -               (17,781,771)     

Total capital assets, being
  depreciated, net 14,785,888      (1,059,450)  -               1,288,613  15,015,051      

Governmental activities capital
  assets, net $ 23,144,041      $ 100,502      $ -               $ -               $ 23,244,543      

  Depreciation expense totaled $2,343,719 for the year ended June 30, 2023.  
 

45



 
 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

 
 

 

NOTE 6.  CAPITAL ASSETS (CONTINUED) 
 

Capital asset activity for the business-type activities for the year ended June 30, 2023, is as follows: 
 

Beginning Ending
Balance Increases Decreases Transfers Balance

Business-type activities
Capital assets, not being depreciated:

Land $ 451,035          $ -                $ -               $ -               $ 451,035          
Construction in progress 2,972,978       2,863,857   -               (1,420,952) 4,415,883       

Total 3,424,013       2,863,857   -               (1,420,952) 4,866,918       

Capital assets, being depreciated:
Water plant and distribution system 72,879,976      -                -               746,597     73,626,573      
Wastewater plant and 

collection system 118,516,536    -                -               674,355     119,190,891    
Septage and grease facility 1,556,300       -                -               -               1,556,300       
Furniture, vehicles, and equipment 10,561,072      314,570      (118,121)    -               10,757,521      

Total 203,513,884    314,570      (118,121)    1,420,952  205,131,285    

Less accumulated depreciation for:
Water plant and distribution system (25,999,337)     (2,272,012)  -               -               (28,271,349)     
Wastewater plant and 

collection system (36,624,911)     (3,089,843)  -               -               (39,714,754)     
Septage and grease facility (419,270)         (52,146)      -               -               (471,416)         
Furniture, vehicles, and equipment (7,377,928)      (607,024)     118,121     -               (7,866,831)      

Total (70,421,446)     (6,021,025)  118,121     -               (76,324,350)     

Total capital assets, being
  depreciated, net 133,092,438    (5,706,455)  -               1,420,952  128,806,935    

Business-type activities capital
  assets, net $ 136,516,451    $ (2,842,598)  $ -               $ -               $ 133,673,853    

Depreciation expense totaled $6,021,025 for the year ended June 30, 2023.  Depreciation expense charged to 
Governmental Activities on the previous page was not allocated to specific functions in the Statement of 
Activities, as the City does not have a reasonable basis for allocation.  

 
 

46



 
 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

 
 

 

NOTE 7. LONG-TERM DEBT OBLIGATIONS 
 

Long-term debt of the City at June 30, 2023, consisted of the following: 
 

A. Governmental Activities 
 

Tax Increment Finance (TIF) Junior Lien Bonds, Series 2017, $8,000,000, dated August 1, 2017,
principal and interest (3.0%-4.0%) payable semi-annually, final payment due June 2037. $ 6,175,000      

Installment purchase contract - (vehicles) $429,034, dated December 16, 2021, interest at
1.38% per annum (payable monthly with principal), final payment due December 2025. 270,913        

Installment purchase contract - (sanitation vehicle) $250,000, dated November 21, 2022, interest
at 4.05% per annum (payable monthly with principal), final payment due November 2026. 216,012        

Installment purchase contract - (vehicles) $488,000, dated September 28, 2022, interest at
2.86% per annum (payable monthly with principal), final payment due September 2026. 400,696        

Installment purchase contract - (vehicles) $364,000, dated September 25, 2019, interest at
2.21% per annum (payable monthly with principal), final payment due October 2023. 31,606          

Installment purchase contract - (vehicle) $251,595, dated January 8, 2021, interest at 1.25% per
annum (payable monthly with principal), final payment due January 2024. 49,671          

7,143,898      

Less, current portions due within one year:
TIF Junior lien bonds, Series 2017 (340,000)       
Installment purchase contracts (368,301)       

Add, bond premium:
Series 2017 bond premium ($436,275 net of $202,605 accumulated amortization) 233,670        

Total bonds and installment purchase contracts, Governmental Activities $ 6,669,267      

S
eries 2017 TIF Junior Lien Bonds  
The City issued $8.0 million tax increment financing (TIF) bond, Series 2017, dated August 1, 
2017, for the purpose of financing certain improvements in the Redevelopment District (as 
defined in the amended  Redevelopment  Plan), including (i) demolition of certain properties   
within  the Redevelopment Project Area; (ii) general infrastructure improvements of water, 
sewer, stormwater and roadways; (iii) construction of a new public safety facility; (iv) 
improvements and repairs to the City's Riverwalk and related greenway projects along the 
Congaree River; (v) the development and construction of an Interpretive Center;  and (vi) 
certain other public development activities, improvements, and projects. The TIF Bonds are 
secured by Pledge Incremental Revenues collected from ad-valorem taxes within the District 
and deposited into a Special Tax Allocation Fund. The bonds are additionally secured by a 
pledge of the City's Water and Sewer Utility System revenues and thus constitutes a 'junior lien' 
(as defined in the Utility Bond Ordinance).  
 

47



 
 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

 
 

 

NOTE 7. LONG-TERM DEBT OBLIGATIONS (CONTINUED) 
 

A. Governmental Activities (Continued) 
 
Series 2017 TIF Junior Lien Bonds (Continued) 

 

The annual debt service requirements for the 2017 TIF bonds are as follows at June 30, 2023: 
 

TIF Bond, Series 2017

Year ending June 30, Principal Interest Total

2024 $ 340,000        $ 229,612          $ 569,612          
2025 355,000        216,013          571,013          
2026 365,000        201,812          566,812          
2027 380,000        187,213          567,213          
2028 395,000        172,013          567,013          
2029-2033 2,240,000      694,863          2,934,863       
2034-2037 2,100,000      265,444          2,365,444       

           Total $ 6,175,000      $ 1,966,970       $ 8,141,970       

Installment Purchase Contracts  
 
The City has entered into certain financed purchase agreements (installment purchase 
contracts) for the acquisition of various machinery, equipment, and vehicles. The notes are 
collateralized by certain equipment and vehicles used in the Governmental Activities (General 
Fund) operation. The annual debt service requirements for the installment purchase contracts 
are as follows at June 30, 2023: 
 
Installment Purchase Contracts

Year ending June 30, Principal Interest Total

2024 $ 368,301        $ 20,704           $ 389,005          
2025 294,194        13,175           307,369          
2026 246,274        5,941             252,215          
2027 60,129          437                60,566            

           Total $ 968,898        $ 40,257           $ 1,009,155       

 

48



 
 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

 
 

 

NOTE 7. LONG-TERM DEBT OBLIGATIONS (CONTINUED) 
 

B. Business-type Activities  
 

Clean Water State Revolving Funds (SRF) Loan, Series 2002, $1,650,000, dated December 1,
2002, principal and interest (3.75% per annum), payable quarterly, final payment due September
2023. $ 26,154          

Water and Sewer System Refunding Revenue Bonds, Series 2016A (taxable), $8,470,000, dated
March 29, 2016, principal and interest (.95% - 3.22% per annum), payable semi-annually, final
payment due July 2024. 1,690,000      

Water and Sewer System Refunding Revenue Bonds, Series 2016B (non-taxable), $4,500,000,
dated March 29, 2016, principal and interest (3.00% - 4.00% per annum), payable semi-
annually, final payment due July 2028. 4,500,000      

Clean Water State Revolving Funds (SRF) Loan, Series 2017, $24,560,378, dated February 9,
2017, principal and interest (1.80% per annum), payable quarterly, final payment due December
2048. 21,658,264    

Water and Sewer System Refunding Revenue Bonds, Series 2020, $20,535,000. dated July 21,
2020, principal and interest (2.05% - 5.00%), payable semi-annually, final payment due June
2036. 16,570,000    

Clean Water State Revolving Funds (SRF) Loan, Series 2021, $4,086,660, dated December 1,
2002, principal and interest (1.80% to 2.20% per annum), payable quarterly in one hundred
twenty (120) installments, first payment due January 2023. 3,822,077      

48,266,495    
Add/Subtract:
Series 2016A bond discount ($44,769 net of $42,100 accumulated amortization) (2,669)           
Series 2016B bond premium ($660,846 net of $417,176 accumulated amortization) 243,670        
Series 2020 bond premium ($4,109,478 net of $1,662,712 accumulated amortization) 2,446,766      
Current portion, State Revolving Fund loans (Series 2002 and 2017) (858,174)       
Current portion, revenue bonds (Series 2016A and 2020) (2,415,000)     

Total loans, bonds, and installment purchase contracts, Business-type Activities $ 47,681,088    

Series 2017 SRF Loan 
 
The City issued $24,560,378 Clean Water State Revolving Fund Loan, Series 2017, dated 
February 9, 2017, for the purpose of defraying costs associated with certain Water and Sewer 
Utility Fund infrastructure improvements. The Series 2017 loan is secured by and payable 
solely from a pledge of and lien upon the Net Revenues (as defined in the Series Ordinance) 
on a parity with the pledge thereof securing the payment of the Outstanding Bonds (as defined 
in the Series Ordinance) and any other Additional Bonds (as defined in the Series Ordinance) 
hereafter issued.  
 

49



 
 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

 
 

 

NOTE 7. LONG-TERM DEBT OBLIGATIONS (CONTINUED) 
 

B. Business-type Activities (Continued) 
 

Series 2017 SRF Loan (Continued) 

 

The annual debt service requirements for the 2017 SRF loan are as follows at June 30, 2023: 
 

SRF Loan, Series 2017

Year ending June 30, Principal Interest Total

2024 $ 679,756        $ 380,364          $ 1,060,120       
2025 692,093        368,027          1,060,120       
2026 704,654        355,466          1,060,120       
2027 717,443        342,677          1,060,120       
2028 730,464        329,656          1,060,120       
2029-2033 3,856,058      1,444,542       5,300,600       
2034-2038 4,218,915      1,081,685       5,300,600       
2039-2043 4,615,917      684,683          5,300,600       
2044-2048 5,050,277      250,323          5,300,600       
2049 392,687        397                393,084          

           Total $ 21,658,264    $ 5,237,820       $ 26,896,084      

Series 2002 SRF Loan 
 
The City issued $1,605,115 Clean Water State Revolving Fund Loan, Series 2002 for the 
purpose of defraying costs associated with certain Water and Sewer Utility Fund infrastructure 
improvements. The Series 2002 loan is secured by and payable solely from a pledge of and 
lien upon the Net Revenues (as defined in the Series Ordinance) on a parity with the pledge 
thereof securing the payment of the Outstanding Bonds (as defined in the Series Ordinance) 
and any other Additional Bonds (as defined in the Series Ordinance) hereafter issued. The 
annual debt service requirements for the 2002 SRF loan are as follows at June 30, 2023: 
 

SRF Loan, Series 2002

Year ending June 30, Principal Interest Total

2024 $ 26,154          $ 147                $ 26,301            

           Total $ 26,154          $ 147                $ 26,301            

 
 

 

 

 

50



 
 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

 
 

 

NOTE 7. LONG-TERM DEBT OBLIGATIONS (CONTINUED) 
 

B. Business-type Activities (Continued) 
 

Series 2021 SRF Loan 

 

The City issued $4,086,550 Clean Water State Revolving Fund Loan, Series 2021 for the 
purpose of defraying costs associated with certain Water and Sewer Fund infrastructure 
improvements. The Series 2021 loan is secured by and payable solely from a pledge of and 
lien upon the Net Revenues (as defined in the Series Ordinance) on a parity with the pledge 
thereof securing the payment of the Outstanding Bonds (as defined in the Series Ordinance) 
and any other Additional Bonds (as defined in the Series Ordinance) hereafter issued. At 
June 30, 2023, the loan remained in the drawdown phase with $3,897,151 of the total loan 
amount drawn. 
 

Series 2016 A&B Bonds and Defeasance of Series 2007A Bonds  

 

The City issued $8,470,000 Series 2016A and $4,500,000 Series 2016B Water and Sewer 
System Refunding Revenue Bonds, dated March 29, 2016, to advance refund the outstanding 
principal amounts of the Series 2007A Water and Sewer System Refunding and Improvement 
Revenue Bonds, (original principal amount of $18,795,000 dated September 11, 2007). Net 
amortization of the Series 2016A discount and the Series 20I6B premium was $61,476 for the 
year ended June 30, 2021. Proceeds from the Series 2016A&B bonds were used to (1) redeem 
the callable portion of the Series 2007A bonds and (ii) establish an irrevocable escrow fund 
(trust account) held by a third-party. The amounts deposited in the trust account are invested in 
U.S. treasury securities and the interest and principal thereof shall be applied to the payment of 
the principal and interest on each of the outstanding Series 2007A bonds payable through 
July 1, 2020. The Series 2007A bonds are considered defeased 'in-substance' for accounting 
and financial reporting purposes, and the trust account assets and the liability for the defeased 
bonds are not included in the City's financial statements.  
 
The Series 2016A bonds shall not be subject to optional redemption prior to their stated 
maturities. The Series 2016B bonds maturing on and after July 1, 2027, are subject to 
redemption at any time on and after July 1, 2026, at a redemption price of par plus accrued 
interest to the date of redemption. The annual debt service requirements for the 2016A bonds 
are as follows at June 30, 2023: 
 

Revenue Bond, Series 2016A

Year ending June 30, Principal Interest Total

2024 $ 925,000        $ 38,508           $ 963,508          
2025 765,000        12,317           777,317          

           Total $ 1,690,000      $ 50,825           $ 1,740,825       

 
 

51



 
 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

 
 

 

NOTE 7. LONG-TERM DEBT OBLIGATIONS (CONTINUED) 
 

B. Business-type Activities (Continued) 
 

Series 2016 A&B Bonds and Defeasance of Series 2007A Bonds (Continued) 

 
The annual debt service requirements for the 2016B bonds are as follows at June 30, 2023: 
 

Revenue Bond, Series 2016B

Year ending June 30, Principal Interest Total

2024 $ -                   $ 177,850          $ 177,850          
2025 215,000        174,625          389,625          
2026 1,015,000      151,100          1,166,100       
2027 1,060,000      109,600          1,169,600       
2028 1,100,000      66,400           1,166,400       
2029 1,110,000      22,200           1,132,200       

           Total $ 4,500,000      $ 701,775          $ 5,201,775       

Series 2020 Bond and Defeasance of Series 2009 and Series 2015 SRF Loans  
 

The City issued $20,535,000 Water and Sewer System Refunding Revenue Bonds, Series 
2020, dated July 21, 2020, to (i) refund the outstanding principal amount of the Series 2009 
Clean Water State Revolving Funds (SRF) Loan dated September 15, 2008; and (ii) refund the 
outstanding principal amount of the Series 2015 Clean Water State Revolving Funds (SRF) 
Loan dated January 29, 2015. Maturities on the Series 2020 Bonds mature serially on June 1, 
2021, through June 1, 2036. The Series 2020 Bonds maturing on or after June 1, 2030, are 
subject to redemption prior to maturity, at the option of the City, at any time on and after 
June 1, 2029, as a whole or in part, at a redemption price equal to 100% of par plus accrued 
interest to the date of redemption. The Series 2020 Bonds are issued pursuant to the City's 
Master Bond Ordinance, dated February 2, 2016, and the applicable Series Ordinance dated 
April 22, 2020, and are secured by and payable from a pledge of the Net Revenues on a parity 
with the pledge of Net Revenues that secure the Outstanding Bonds and any Additional Bonds 
issued pursuant to the Bond Ordinance. The defeasance transaction of the Series 2009, 2015, 
and 2020 bonds resulted in an economic gain of $1,174,594, a cash flow savings of 
$1,377,638, and a deferred loss on the refunding of $360,147, which is being amortized over 
the shorter life of the new refunding debt or the refunded (old) debt, with such amount being 
reported as a deferred outflow of resources on the Statement of Net Position.  
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

52



 
 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

 
 

 

NOTE 7. LONG-TERM DEBT OBLIGATIONS (CONTINUED) 
 

B. Business-type Activities (Continued) 
 

Series 2020 Bond and Defeasance of Series 2009 and Series 2015 SRF Loans 

 

The annual debt service requirements for the 2020 bonds are as follows at June 30, 2023: 
 

Revenue Bond, Series 2020

Year ending June 30, Principal Interest Total

2024 $ 1,490,000      $ 734,023          $ 2,224,023       
2025 1,565,000      659,523          2,224,523       
2026 1,645,000      581,273          2,226,273       
2027 1,725,000      499,023          2,224,023       
2028 1,815,000      412,773          2,227,773       
2029-2033 7,870,000      748,063          8,618,063       
2034-2036 460,000        15,268           475,268          

           Total $ 16,570,000    $ 3,649,946       $ 20,219,946      

Wastewater System Contracts — State Revolving Fund Loans  
 

Pursuant to the 208 Water Quality Management Plan developed by the Central Midlands 
Council of Governments, the City has been designated as the wastewater treatment service 
regional provider. Accordingly, the City, in addition to its inside and outside customers, has 
various intergovernmental agreement customers. The following agreements also involve State 
Revolving Fund loans.  

 

Springdale Agreement  

 
On August 30, 2001, the City and the City of Springdale entered into an agreement where the 
City provides sewer services to certain residents within the municipal limits of Springdale. 
Pursuant to the terms, Springdale pays the City an amount equal to all debt service and related 
costs associated with the Series 2002 SRF Loan, Annual remittances total $105,194, and 
under the terms of the contract, have been accounted for as sewer service revenue.  Such 
contract and receipt of revenues shall be required for all periods that the Series 2002 SRF 
Loan is outstanding but are contingent based on the annual budget appropriated by the City of 
Springdale. The Series 2002 SRF Loan matures on September 1, 2023.  

53



 
 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

 
 

 

NOTE 7. LONG-TERM DEBT OBLIGATIONS (CONTINUED) 
 

B. Business-type Activities (Continued) 
 

Lexington and Commission Agreement  

 

On August 28, 2009, the City entered into a Wastewater Services Agreement with the City of 
Lexington and the Lexington County Joint Municipal Water and Sewer Commission, which has 
a stated term of 30 years and may be automatically renewed for 2 successive 10-year periods 
thereafter.  Pursuant to the Agreement, the Commission pays the City principal, interest and 
debt service coverage for 30.183% of the Series 2009 SRF Loan debt service requirements (in 
addition to other rates and charges). The monthly payment amount is $52,894, or $634,728 
annually, plus an additional 15% of such amount for debt service coverage. According to the 
Agreement, revenue generated by the Debt Service Charge (as defined in the Agreement) 
shall be considered operating revenue for the City. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

THE REMAINDER OF THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK. 

 

 

54



 
 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

 
 

 

NOTE 7. LONG-TERM DEBT OBLIGATIONS (CONTINUED) 
 
Changes in the long-term debt of the City during the year ended June 30, 2023, were as follows:  

 

Governmental Activities:
TIF Revenue Bonds - Series 2017 $ 6,500,000   $ -                $ (325,000)      $ 6,175,000   $ 340,000      
Premium on bonds 265,254      -                (31,584)       233,670      -                

Total revenue bonds 6,765,254   -                (356,584)      6,408,670   340,000      
Installment purchase contracts
  (direct borrowings) 685,222      738,000      (454,324)      968,898      368,301      
Accrued compensated absences 452,436      273,180      (213,897)      511,719      211,877      
Net pension liability 13,028,583 3,870,341   (2,481,745)   14,417,179 -                
Total OPEB liability 1,510,772   238,388      (362,674)      1,386,486   138,405      

$ 22,442,267 $ 5,119,909   $ (3,869,224)   $ 23,692,952 $ 1,058,583   

Business-type Activities:
State revolving loans
  (direct borrowings) $ 24,420,012 $ 1,927,677   (841,194)      $ 25,506,495 $ 858,174      
Water and Sewer System

revenue bonds 25,000,000 -                (2,240,000)   22,760,000 2,415,000   
Premium on bonds 3,291,842   -                (601,406)      2,690,436   -                
Discount on bonds (6,012)        -                3,343          (2,669)        -                

Total revenue bonds 28,285,830 -                (2,838,063)   25,447,767 2,415,000   
Accrued compensated absences 196,699      144,403      (120,193)      220,909      120,193      
Net pension liability 6,767,746   1,534,061   (1,047,707)   7,254,100   -                
Total OPEB liability 327,782      20,605       (31,412)       316,975      2,825         

$ 59,998,069 $ 3,626,746   $ (4,878,569)   $ 58,746,246 $ 3,396,192   

Beginning Ending Due within
Balance Additions Retirements Balance One Year

Due within

One YearBalance

Beginning 

Additions Retirements Balance

Ending

 
For the City’s governmental activities, the General Fund is used to liquidate the installment 
purchase contracts, the accrued compensated absences, the net pension liability, and the total 
OPEB liability. 
 
Revenue Bond Covenants  

 

There are a number of limitations and restrictions contained in the City's revenue bond 
ordinances and indentures. In 2016, the City adopted a Master Bond Ordinance where it 
requires, among other requirements, for the City to prescribe and maintain rates and charges 
for services and facilities furnished by the Water and Sewer Utility system which, together with 
other income, are reasonably expected to yield annual Net Earnings (as defined in the Bond 
Ordinance) in the current fiscal year equal to at least the sum of 115% of the Annual Principal 
and Interest Requirement in such fiscal year for all bonds outstanding. Net Earnings under the 
Bond Ordinance include Capital Facility Charges. 

55



 
 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

 
 

 

NOTE 7. LONG-TERM DEBT OBLIGATIONS (CONTINUED) 
 
Security for Revenue Bonds and SRF Loans  

 
As stated earlier and pursuant to the Master Bond Ordinance and applicable Series 
ordinances, the City's Revenue Bonds and SRF loans are secured by and payable from a 
pledge of the Utility System's Net Revenues (as defined in the Master Bond Ordinance). The 
pledge and liens securing the SRF Loans (Series' 2002, 2009, 2015 and 2017) are on parity in 
all respects with the pledge and liens securing the revenue bonds (Series 2016A&B).  Security 
for the Series 2017 TIF Bonds is an irrevocable pledge of certain incremental property tax 
revenues derived from the Redevelopment District (Pledged Incremental Revenues as defined 
in the Ordinance). If Pledged Incremental Revenues are insufficient to make bond payments, 
the City pledged Net Revenues from its Water and Sewer Utility System, which results in a 
Junior Lien Bond. 
 

Redemptions  

 
The Series 2016A Bonds shall not be subject to optional redemption prior to their stated 
maturities. The Series 2016B Bonds maturing on and after July 1, 2027, are subject to 
redemption at any time on and after July 1, 2026, at a redemption price of par plus accrued 
interest to the date of redemption. The City may prepay any outstanding SRF Loan balances 
plus accrued interest thereon without penalty. Redemption of the Series 2017 TIF Bonds 
maturing subsequent to June 15, 2027, are subject to redemption prior to maturity at the option 
of the City, on and after June 15, 2027, as a whole or in part at any time, at a redemption price 
equal to 100% of the principal amount thereof to be redeemed, together with interest accrued 
thereon to the date of redemption.  

 
Events and Remedies of Default  

 

Pursuant to the Master Bond Ordinance, and as more fully described in Article XIII and XIV 
thereto, an event of default can occur when (i) payment of principal and interest on any Bond is 
not made when the same is due and payable, (ii) payment of principal and interest on any 
Junior Lien Bond is not made when the same is due and payable, (iii) the City does not comply 
with its Rate Covenant subject to certain exceptions as described in the Master Bond 
Ordinance, (iv) the City is incapable of fulfilling its obligations under the Master Bond 
Ordinance, or series bond ordinance(s), including a failure to operate the Water and Sewer 
Utility System in an efficient and businesslike fashion so as to materially impair the operations 
of the System if such cannot be corrected within a thirty (30) day period after written notice, or 
(v) the City defaults under any reimbursement agreement between the City and a provider of a 
surety bond, insurance policy or letter of credit. Upon the occurrence of an Event of Default, the 
Trustee may, and shall upon the written request of the Bond Holders of not less than fifty-one 
(51%) in the aggregate principal amount of outstanding bonds, declare all outstanding principal 
and accrued interest of bonds be immediately due and payable from all moneys and securities 
then held by the City.  
 

56



 
 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

 
 

 

NOTE 8. EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT PLANS 
    
Retirement Plan 

 

Overview: 
The South Carolina Public Employee Benefit Authority (PEBA), created July 1, 2012, and 
governed by an 11-member Board, is the state agency responsible for the administration and 
management of the various Retirement Systems and retirement programs of the state of South 
Carolina, including the State Optional Retirement Program and the S.C. Deferred 
Compensation Program, as well as the state’s employee insurance programs. As such, PEBA 
is responsible for administering the South Carolina Retirement Systems’ five defined benefit 
pension plans. PEBA has an 11-member Board of Directors, appointed by the Governor and 
General Assembly leadership, which serves as custodian, co-trustee and co-fiduciary of the 
Systems and the assets of the retirement trust funds. The Retirement System Investment 
Commission (Commission as the governing body, RSIC as the agency), created by the 
General Assembly in 2005, has exclusive authority to invest and manage the retirement trust 
funds’ assets. The Commission, an eight-member board, serves as co-trustee and co-fiduciary 
for the assets of the retirement trust funds. By law, the State Fiscal Accountability Authority 
(SFAA), which consists of five elected officials, also reviews certain PEBA Board decisions 
regarding the actuary of the Systems. For purposes of measuring the net pension liability, 
deferred outflows and inflows of resources related to pensions, and pension expense, 
information about the fiduciary net position of the Systems and additions to/deductions from the 
Systems fiduciary net position have been determined on the accrual basis of accounting as 
they are reported by the Systems in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles 
(GAAP). For this purpose, revenues are recognized when earned and expenses are 
recognized when incurred. Benefit and refund expenses are recognized when due and payable 
in accordance with the terms of the plan. Investments are reported at fair value. PEBA issues 
an Annual Comprehensive Financial Report (ACFR) containing financial statements and 
required supplementary information for the Systems’ Pension Trust Funds. The ACFR is 
publicly available through the Retirement Benefits’ link on PEBA’s website at 
www.peba.sc.gov, or a copy may be obtained by submitting a request to PEBA, 202 Arbor 
Lake Drive, Columbia, SC 29223. PEBA is considered a division of the primary government of 
the state of South Carolina and therefore, retirement trust fund financial information is also 
included in the ACFR of the state. 
 
Plan Description: 

The South Carolina Retirement System (SCRS), a cost-sharing multiple-employer defined 
benefit pension plan, was established July 1, 1945, pursuant to the provisions of Section 9-1-
20 of the South Carolina Code of Laws for the purpose of providing retirement and other 
benefits for teachers and employees of the state and its political subdivisions. SCRS covers 
employees of state agencies, public school districts, higher education institutions, other 
participating local subdivisions of government and individuals newly elected to the South 
Carolina General Assembly at or after the 2012 general election.  

57



 
 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

 
 

 

NOTE 8. EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT PLANS (CONTINUED) 
 
Retirement Plan (Continued) 

 

Plan Description (Continued): 

The South Carolina Police Officers Retirement System (PORS), a cost-sharing multiple-
employer defined benefit pension plan, was established July 1, 1962, pursuant to the 
provisions of Section 9-11-20 of the South Carolina Code of Laws for the purpose of providing 
retirement and other benefits to police officers and firefighters. PORS also covers peace 
officers, coroners, probate judges and magistrates. 
 
Membership: 

Membership requirements are prescribed in Title 9 of the South Carolina Code of Laws.  A brief 
summary of the requirements under each system is described below. 
 

South Carolina Retirement System - Generally, all employees of covered employers are required 
to participate in and contribute to the SCRS as a condition of employment. This plan covers general 
employees, teachers and individuals newly elected to the South Carolina General Assembly 
beginning with the November 2012 general election. An employee member of the SCRS with an 
effective date of membership prior to July 1, 2012, is a Class Two member. An employee member 
of the SCRS with an effective date of membership on or after July 1, 2012, is a Class Three 
member.  
 
South Carolina Police Officers Retirement System - To be eligible for PORS membership, an 
employee must be required by the terms of his employment, by election or appointment, to preserve 
public order, protect life and property, and detect crimes in the state; to prevent and control property 
destruction by fire; or to serve as a peace officer employed by the Department of Corrections, the 
Department of Juvenile Justice, or the Department of Mental Health. Probate judges and coroners 
may elect membership in PORS. Magistrates are required to participate in PORS for service as a 
magistrate. PORS members, other than magistrates and probate judges, must also earn at least 
$2,000 per year and devote at least 1,600 hours per year to this work, unless exempted by statute. 
An employee member of the system with an effective date of membership prior to July 1, 2012, is a 
Class Two member. An employee member of the system with an effective date of membership on 
or after July 1, 2012, is a Class Three member. 
 
Benefits:  

Benefit terms are prescribed in Title 9 of the South Carolina Code of Laws.  PEBA does not 
have the authority to establish or amend benefit terms without a legislative change in the code 
of laws.  Key elements of the benefit calculation include the benefit multiplier, years of service, 
and average final compensation.  A brief summary of benefit terms for each system is 
presented is presented below. 
 
 
 
 

58



 
 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

 
 

 

NOTE 8. EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT PLANS (CONTINUED) 
 

Retirement Plan (Continued) 

 

Benefits (Continued):  

South Carolina Retirement System - A Class Two member who has separated from service with 
at least five or more years of earned service is eligible for a monthly pension at age 65 or with 28 
years credited service regardless of age. A member may elect early retirement with reduced 
pension benefits payable at age 55 with 25 years of service credit. A Class Three member who has 
separated from service with at least eight or more years of earned service is eligible for a monthly 
pension upon satisfying the Rule of 90 requirement that the total of the member’s age and the 
member’s creditable service equals at least 90 years. Both Class Two and Class Three members 
are eligible to receive a reduced deferred annuity at age 60 if they satisfy the five- or eight-year 
earned service requirement, respectively. An incidental death benefit is also available to 
beneficiaries of active and retired members of employers who participate in the death benefit 
program.  
 
The annual retirement allowance of eligible retirees or their surviving annuitants is increased by 
the lesser of one percent or five hundred dollars every July 1. Only those annuitants in receipt 
of a benefit on July 1 of the preceding year are eligible to receive the increase. Members who 
retire under the early retirement provisions at age 55 with 25 years of service are not eligible 
for the benefit adjustment until the second July 1 after reaching age 60 or the second July 1 
after the date they would have had 28 years of service credit had they not retired. 
 
South Carolina Police Officers Retirement System - A Class Two member who has separated 
from service with at least five or more years of earned service is eligible for a monthly pension at 
age 55 or with 25 years of service regardless of age. A Class Three member who has separated 
from service with at least eight or more years of earned service is eligible for a monthly pension at 
age 55 or with 27 years of service regardless of age. Both Class Two and Class Three members 
are eligible to receive a deferred annuity at age 55 with five or eight years of earned service, 
respectively. An incidental death benefit is also available to beneficiaries of active and retired 
members of employers who participate in the death benefit program. Accidental death benefits are 
also provided upon the death of an active member working for a covered employer whose death 
was a natural and proximate result of an injury incurred while in the performance of duty.  
 
The retirement allowance of eligible retirees or their surviving annuitants is increased by the 
lesser of one percent or five hundred dollars every July 1. Only those annuitants in receipt of a 
benefit on July 1 of the preceding year are eligible to receive the increase. 
 

59



 
 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

 
 

 

NOTE 8. EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT PLANS (CONTINUED)  
 
     Retirement Plan (Continued) 

 

Contributions: 

Actuarial valuations are performed annually by an external consulting actuary to ensure 
applicable contribution rates satisfy the funding parameters specified in Title 9 of the South 
Carolina Code of Laws. Under these provisions, SCRS and PORS contribution requirements 
must be sufficient to maintain an amortization period for the financing of the unfunded actuarial 
accrued liability (UAAL) over a period that does not exceed the number of years scheduled in 
state statute. Legislation in 2017 increased, but also established a ceiling for SCRS and PORS 
employee contribution rates. Effective July 1, 2017, employee rates were increased to a 
capped rate of 9.00 percent for SCRS and 9.75 percent for PORS. The legislation also 
increased employer contribution rates beginning July 1, 2017, for both SCRS and PORS by 
two percentage points and further scheduled employer contribution rates to increase by a 
minimum of one percentage point in accordance with state statute. However, the General 
Assembly postponed the one percent increase in the SCRS and PORS employer contributions 
rates that was scheduled to go into effect beginning July 1, 2020. In accordance with the 
legislative funding schedule, employer contribution rates will continue to increase by 1 
percentage point each year until reaching 18.56 percent for SCRS and 21.24 percent for PORS 
but may be increased further, if the scheduled contributions are not sufficient to meet the 
funding periods set for the applicable year. The board shall increase the employer contribution 
rates as necessary to meet the amortization period set in statute. 
 
Pension reform legislation modified statute such that the employer contribution rates for SCRS 
and PORS to be further increased, not to exceed one-half of one percent in any one year, if 
necessary, in order to improve the funding of the plans. The statute set rates intended to 
reduce the unfunded liability of SCRS and PORS to the maximum amortization period of 20 
years from 30 years over a ten-year schedule, as determined by the annual actuarial valuations 
of the plan. Finally, under the revised statute, the contribution rates for SCRS and PORS may 
not be decreased until the plans are at least 85 percent funded. For the fiscal year ended 
June 30, 2023, the City contributed $1,300,654 to the SCRS plan and $873,050 to the PORS 
plan. 
 

60



 
 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

 
 

 

NOTE 8. EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT PLANS (CONTINUED)  
 
     Retirement Plan (Continued) 

 

Contributions (Continued): 

Required employee contribution rates for the year ended June 30, 2023, are as follows: 
 
South Carolina Retirement System

Employee class two 9.00% of earnable compensation
Employee class three 9.00% of earnable compensation

South Carolina Police Officers Retirement System
Employee class two 9.75% of earnable compensation
Employee class three 9.75% of earnable compensation

 
  Required employer contribution rates for the year ended June 30, 2023, are as follows: 

 
South Carolina Retirement System

Employer class two 17.41% of earnable compensation
Employer class three 17.41% of earnable compensation
Employer incidental death benefit   0.15% of earnable compensation

South Carolina Police Officers Retirement System
Employer class two 19.84% of earnable compensation
Employer class three 19.84% of earnable compensation
Employer incidental death benefit   0.20% of earnable compensation
Employer accidental death program   0.20% of earnable compensation

 
Net Pension Liability: 
The June 30, 2022, (the measurement date) total pension liability, net pension liability, and 
sensitivity information were determined by the consulting actuary, Gabriel, Roeder, Smith and 
Company (GRS) and are based on the July 1, 2021. The total pension liability was rolled-
forward from the valuation date to the plan’s fiscal year ended June 30, 2022, using generally 
accepted actuarial principles. Information included in the following schedules is based on the 
certification provided by GRS.  
 
The net pension liability is calculated separately for each system and represents that particular 
system’s total pension liability determined in accordance with GASB No. 67, less that system’s 
fiduciary net position. As of June 30, 2023, (measurement date of June 30, 2022), the net 
pension liability amounts associated with the SCRS and PORS plans on the following page. 

 
 

61



 
 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

 
 

 

NOTE 8. EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT PLANS (CONTINUED)  
 
     Retirement Plan (Continued) 

 

Net Pension Liability (Continued): 

Total Plan Employers' Plan Fiduciary City's Proportionate
Pension Fiduciary Net Net Pension Net Position as a Percentage Share of the Collective

System Liability Position Liability of the Total Pension Liability Net Pension Liability

SCRS $ 56,454,779,872   $ 32,212,626,932   $ 24,242,152,940   0.058336%

PORS $ 8,937,686,946     $ 5,938,707,767     $ 2,998,979,179     0.251065%

57.1%

66.4%
  

Actuarial Assumptions and Methods: 
Actuarial valuations of the plan involve estimates of the reported amounts and assumptions 
about the probability of occurrence of events far into the future. Examples include assumptions 
about future employment, mortality, and future salary increases. Amounts determined 
regarding the net pension liability are subject to continual revision as actual results are 
compared with past expectations and new estimates are made about the future. South Carolina 
state statute requires that an actuarial experience study be completed at least once in each 
five-year period. An experience report on the Systems was most recently issued for the period 
ending June 30, 2019. 
 
The following table provides a summary of the actuarial assumptions and methods used in the 
July 1, 2021, valuations for SCRS and PORS. 
 

SCRS PORS

Actuarial cost method Entry Age Normal Entry Age Normal

Actuarial assumptions:
Investment rate of return 7.00% 7.00%

Projected salary increases
3.0% to 11.0% 

(varied by service)
3.5% to 10.5% 

(varies by service)
Includes inflation at 2.25% 2.25%
Benefit adjustments lesser of 1% or $500 lesser of 1% or $500  

 
The post-retiree mortality assumption is dependent upon the member’s job category and 
gender. The base mortality assumption, the 2020 Public Retirees of South Carolina Mortality 
table (2020 PRSC), was developed using the Systems’ mortality experience. These base rates 
are adjusted for future improvement in mortality using 80% of Scale UMP projected from the 
year 2020. 

62



 
 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

 
 

 

NOTE 8. EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT PLANS (CONTINUED) 
  
  Retirement Plan (Continued) 

 

Actuarial Assumptions and Methods (Continued):

Former Job Class Males Females

General Employees and Members
  of the General Assembly
Public Safety and Firefighters

2020 PRSC Males multiplied 
by 97%

2020 PRSC Males multiplied 
by 127%

2020 PRSC Females multiplied 
by 107%

2020 PRSC Females multiplied 
by 107%

 

The long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments is based upon 20-year 
capital market assumptions. The long-term expected rates of return represent assumptions 
developed using an arithmetic building block approach primarily based on consensus 
expectations and market-based inputs. Expected returns are net of investment fees. 
 
The expected returns, along with the expected inflation rate, form the basis for the target asset 
allocation adopted at the beginning of the 2022 fiscal year. The long-term expected rate of 
return is produced by weighting the expected future real rates of return by the target allocation 
percentage and adding expected inflation and is summarized in the table below. For actuarial 
purposes, the 7.00 percent assumed annual investment rate of return used in the calculation of 
the TPL includes a 4.75 percent real rate of return and a 2.25 percent inflation component. 
 
The target allocation and best estimates of arithmetic real rates of return for each major asset 
class are summarized in the table below. 
 

Expected Long-term

Arithmetic Real Expected Portfolio

Allocation/Exposure Policy Target Rate of Return Real Rate of Return

Public Equity 46.0% 6.79% 3.12%
Bonds 26.0% -0.35% -0.09%
Private Equity 9.0% 8.75% 0.79%
Private Debt 7.0% 6.00% 0.42%
Real Assets 12.0%

Real Estate (Private) 9.0% 4.12% 0.37%
Infrastructure (Public) 3.0% 5.88% 0.18%

100.0%
Total expected real return 4.79%
Inflation for actuarial purposes 2.25%
Total expected nominal return 7.04%

 
 

 

63



 
 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

 
 

 

NOTE 8. EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT PLANS (CONTINUED)  
 

  Retirement Plan (Continued) 

 
Discount Rate: 

The discount rate used to measure the TPL was 7.00 percent. The projection of cash flows 
used to determine the discount rate assumed that contributions from participating employers in 
SCRS and PORS will be made based on the actuarially determined rates based on provisions 
in the South Carolina Code of Laws. Based on those assumptions, the System's fiduciary net 
position was projected to be available to make all the projected future benefit payments of 
current plan members. Therefore, the long-term expected rate of return on pension plan 
investments was applied to all periods of projected benefit payments to determine the TPL. The 
following table presents the sensitivity of the net pension liability.  
 

Fiscal

Year

SCRS $ 18,131,640   $ 14,141,884   $ 10,824,920      
PORS 10,499,288   7,529,395     5,098,258       

Sensitivity of the Net Position Liability to Changes in the Discount Rate

Current

1% Decrease Discount Rate 1% Increase

(6.00%) (7.00%) (8.00%)

 
 

Pension Expense: 
For the year ended June 30, 2023, the City recognized its proportionate share of collective 
pension expense of $1,186,699 and recognition of deferred amounts from changes in 
proportionate share and differences between employer contributions and the proportionate 
share of total plan employer contributions of ($16,374) for a total of $1,170,325 for the SCRS 
plan.  Additionally, for the year ended June 30, 2023, the City recognized its proportionate 
share of collective pension expense of $733,412 and recognition of deferred amounts from 
changes in proportionate share and differences between employer contributions and the 
proportionate share of total plan employer contributions of $56,458 for a total of $789,870 for 
the PORS plan. 
 

64



 
 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

 
 

 

NOTE 8. EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT PLANS (CONTINUED)  
 

  Retirement Plan (Continued) 

 
Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of Resources Related to Pensions: 
At June 30, 2023, the City reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of 
resources related to the SCRS and PORS pension plans, respectively, from the following 
sources: 
 

Deferred Deferred
South Carolina Retirement System Outflows of Inflows of

Resources Resources
Differences between expected and actual 
experience $ 122,867        $ 61,630          

Changes of assumptions 453,563        -                  

Net difference between projected and actual 
earnings on pension plan investments 21,810          -                  

Changes in proportion and differences between
employer contributions and proportionate share
of contributions 161,944        421,494        

Employer contributions subsequent to the 
measurement date 1,300,654     -                  

Total $ 2,060,838     $ 483,124        

 
Deferred Deferred

South Carolina Police Officers Retirement System Outflows of Inflows of
Resources Resources

Differences between expected and actual 
experience $ 126,328        $ 148,844        

Changes of assumptions 313,536        -                  

Net difference between projected and actual 
earnings on pension plan investments 22,737          -                  

Changes in proportion and differences between
employer contributions and proportionate share
of contributions 79,633          253,617        

Employer contributions subsequent to the 
measurement date 873,050        -                  

Total $ 1,415,284     $ 402,461        

 

65



 
 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

 
 

 

NOTE 8. EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT PLANS (CONTINUED)  
 

  Retirement Plan (Continued) 

 
Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of Resources Related to Pensions (Continued): 
City contributions subsequent to the measurement date of $1,300,654 and $873,050 for the 
SCRS plan and the PORS plan, respectively, are deferred outflows of resources and will be 
recognized as a reduction of the net pension liability in the year ended June 30, 2024. Other 
amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related 
to pensions will be recognized in pension expense as follows: 
 

$ 265,700        $ 138,567        
93,772          22,060          

(451,222)       (313,520)       
368,810        292,666        

$ 277,060        $ 139,773        

SCRS PORSYear ended June 30:
2024
2025
2026
2027

Total

 
Pension Plan Fiduciary Net Position: 
Detailed information regarding the fiduciary net position of the plans administered by PEBA is 
available in the separately issued ACFR containing financial statements and required 
supplementary information for SCRS and PORS. The ACFR of the Pension Trust Funds is 
publicly available on PEBA’s Retirement Benefits’ website at www.retirement.sc.gov, or a copy 
may be obtained by submitting a request to PEBA, P.O. Box 11960, Columbia, SC 29211-
1960. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

THE REMAINDER OF THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK. 
 

66



 
 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

 
 

 

NOTE 9. OTHER POSTEMPLOYMENT BENEFITS OTHER THAN PENSIONS 
   

Plan Description 

  
In addition to the pension benefits described in Note 8, the City’s single employer defined 
benefit OPEB plan (the “Plan”), provides, if elected, other post-employment benefits for any 
employee who was hired prior to July 1, 2009, and who qualifies under the South Carolina 
Retirement System’s regular service retirement and who has 15 years of service with the City. 
The program is a single employer defined benefit OPEB plan administered by the City, as 
approved by the Mayor and City Council. “Section 2-123” of the City Code published in 1996, 
adopted and effective May 14, 1996, grants the authority to establish and amend the benefit 
terms and financing requirements (funding policy) to the City Council. No assets are 
accumulated in a trust that meets the criteria in paragraph 4 of GASB Statement No. 75. The 
plan does not issue separate stand-alone financial statements and is not included in the 
financial statements of another entity. 
 

Plan Membership 

 

As of June 30, 2023, measurement date of June 30, 2022, the Plan membership consisted of 
the following: 

Active participants 33
Retirees and beneficiaries currently receiving benefits 14
    Total 47

 
Benefits Provided 

 

The OPEB plan offers retired employees’ premium payments for the employee group health 
insurance (including dental and vision) at no cost. The City’s medical policy premium rates are 
based upon age and ranged from $513 to $527 for the retiree, and from $526 to $539 for the 
spouse for the program year ended June 30, 2022. The retirees pay nothing for retiree only 
coverage and pay 100% for spouse coverage. The program covers the retired employee until 
the earlier of (1) the retired employee reaches age 65, or (2) the retired employee qualifies for 
health insurance under another plan. The spouse coverage ceases upon death of the retiree. 
The plan also provides all retirees with $15,000 of life insurance benefits which costs $44 per 
year, all of which is contributed by the employer. 
 
City Contributions 

 

The City’s contributions are financed on a pay-as-you-go basis and, therefore, no trust fund 
has been established which would maintain plan assets. At June 30, 2023, the City had 14 
retired employees with an average age of 62 years covered by the program with monthly 
premium costs averaging $619 per participant.  
 

67



 
 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

 
 

 

NOTE 9. OTHER POSTEMPLOYMENT BENEFITS OTHER THAN PENSIONS 
(CONTINUED) 
 
Net OPEB Liability  

 

At June  30, 2023, the City’s total OPEB liability equaled $1,703,461, of which $1,386,486 was 
for Governmental Activities (General Fund) and $316,975 was for Business-type Activities. This 
amount was based on an actuarial valuation as of June 30, 2022.  
 
The components of the net OPEB Liability of the City as of June 30, 2022 (the measurement 
date), were as follows: 
 

Total OPEB

Liability

(a)

Balances, beginning of year 1,838,554$             
Changes for the year:

Service cost 61,265                   
Interest 38,785                   
Difference between expected and actual experience 158,943                 
Assumption changes (275,238)                
Benefit payments, including refunds of employee contributions (118,848)                
Net changes (135,093)                
Balances, end of year 1,703,461$             

 
 
 
 
 
 

THE REMAINDER OF THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK. 

68



 
 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

 
 

 

NOTE 9. OTHER POSTEMPLOYMENT BENEFITS OTHER THAN PENSIONS 
(CONTINUED) 
 

  Actuarial Assumptions 

 

The total OPEB liability in the actuarial valuation was determined using the following actuarial 
assumptions and other inputs, applied to all periods included in the measurement, unless 
otherwise specified: 
 
Cost method Entry Age Normal
Inflation 2.50%
Projected salary increases 3.00%
Discount rate 4.09%
Health care trend - medical 5.50%
Health care trend - dental 2.00%
Health care trend - life insurance 0.00%
Retiree contribution 0% for retiree, 100% for spouse
Mortality, disability, retirement, 
and withdrawal rates

South Carolina Retirement System (SCRS) and 
Police Officers Retirement System (PORS) Pension 
Valuation Reports as of July 1, 2021

Morbidity rates Under age 65 - 4.00% per age
South Carolina Retirement System (SCRS) and 
Police Officers Retirement System (PORS) Pension 
Valuation Reports as of July 1, 2021

Election at retirement 100%
Marital status 5% of retirees electing coverage will cover a spouse

 
Since the last actuarial valuation dated June 30, 2022, the discount rate was adjusted to 4.09% 
per GASB 75, which state that the discount rate should be a yield or index rate for 20-year, tax-
exempt general obligation municipal bonds with an average rating of AA/Aa or higher (or 
equivalent quality on another rating scale). A rate of 4.09% was used for the measurement 
period ending June 30, 2022 (used for financial reporting at June 30, 2023), which is the S&P 
Municipal Bond 20-Year High-Grade Rate Index as of June 30, 2022.  
 
Projections of benefits are based on the substantive program (the program as understood by 
the City and participants) and include the types of benefits in force at the valuation date and the 
pattern of sharing benefit costs between the City and the participants to that point. 
Assumptions may be made about participant data or other factors. Actuarial calculations reflect 
a long-term perspective and employ methods and assumptions that are designed to reduce short-
term volatility in total other postemployment benefit (OPEB) liabilities and the actuarial value of 
other OPEB assets.  
 

 

 

 

 

69



 
 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

 
 

 

NOTE 9. OTHER POSTEMPLOYMENT BENEFITS OTHER THAN PENSIONS 
(CONTINUED) 

 
Sensitivity of the Net OPEB Liability to Changes in the Health Care Cost Trend Rates   
 
The following exhibit presents the net OPEB liability of the Plan, calculated using current health 
care cost trend rates, as well as what the Plan’s net OPEB liability would be if it were 
calculated using health care cost trend rates that are 1-percentage-point lower or 1- 
percentage-point higher than the current rates. 
 

Current

Healthcare Cost

1% Decrease Trend Rates 1% Increase

1,578,252$                1,703,461$             1,842,313$             

Sensitivity of the Net OPEB Liability to Changes in the Healthcare Cost 
Trend Rates

 
Sensitivity of the Net OPEB Liability to Changes in the Discount Rate   
 
The following exhibits present the net OPEB liability of the Plan, calculated using the discount 
rate of 4.09%, as well as what the Plan’s net OPEB liability would be if it were calculated using 
a Discount Rate that is 1-percentage-point lower or 1-percentage-point higher than the current 
rate: 

1% Decrease Discount Rate 1% Increase

(3.09%) (4.09%) (5.09%)

1,799,077$                1,703,461$             1,612,343$             

Sensitivity of the Net OPEB Liability to Changes in the Discount Rates

 
Actuarial valuations involve estimates of the value of reported amounts and assumptions about 
the probability of events in the future. Amounts determined regarding the funded status of the 
OPEB plan and the annual required contributions of the employer are subject to continual 
revision as actual results are compared to past expectations and new estimates are made 
about the future. The required schedule of funding progress presented as required 
supplementary information provides multiyear trend information that shows whether the 
actuarial value of OPEB assets is increasing or decreasing over time relative to the actuarial 
accrued liability for benefits.  
 

70



 
 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

 
 

 

NOTE 9. OTHER POSTEMPLOYMENT BENEFITS OTHER THAN PENSIONS 
(CONTINUED) 

 
Deferred Outflows and Inflows of Resources Related to OPEB 

 
Since certain expense items are recognized over closed periods each year, the deferred 
portions of these items must be tracked annually. If the amounts will increase OPEB expense 
they are classified as Deferred Outflows of Resources. If they serve to reduce OPEB expense 
they are classified as Deferred Inflows of Resources. The recognition of these amounts is 
accomplished on a level dollar basis, with no interest included in the deferred amounts. 
Experience gains/losses and the impact of changes in actuarial assumptions or other inputs, if 
any, are recognized over the average expected remaining service life of the active and inactive 
Plan members at the beginning of the measurement period. Investment gains and losses are 
recognized over a fixed six-year period. 
 

Differences between expected and actual 
experience $ 145,301      $ 826,272      

Changes of assumptions 286,759      217,895      

City contributions subsequent to the 
measurement date 141,230      -                

Total $ 573,290      $ 1,044,167   

Deferred Deferred

Outflows of Inflows of

Resources Resources

 
Amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related 
to OPEB will be recognized in OPEB expense as follows: 
 

Year ended June 30:

2024 (196,631)$         
2025 (196,631)           
2026 (210,681)           
2027 (8,164)              

(612,107)$         

 

71



 
 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

 
 

 

NOTE 9. OTHER POSTEMPLOYMENT BENEFITS OTHER THAN PENSIONS 
(CONTINUED) 

 
Deferred Outflows and Inflows of Resources Related to OPEB (Continued) 

 
The City made contributions of $141,230 subsequent to the measurement date of June 30, 
2022, but within the fiscal year ended June 30, 2023, which will be recognized as a reduction in 
the total OPEB liability in fiscal year June 30, 2024. 

 
NOTE 10. RISK MANAGEMENT 
 

The City is exposed to various risks of loss related to torts; theft of, damage to, and destruction 
of assets; errors and omissions; injuries to employees; and natural disasters. The City carries 
commercial property insurance coverage; general liability coverage; inland marine and 
automobile liability; professional and public official's liability; and various Fidelity bond 
coverages for its employees. There have been no significant reductions in insurance coverage 
in the current year and settled claims have not exceeded coverage in any of the last three fiscal 
years.  

 
NOTE 11. NET INVESTMENT IN CAPITAL ASSETS 
 

Reported amounts for net investment in capital assets were as follows as of June 30, 2022:  
 

Net Investment in Capital Assets
Net capital assets $ 23,244,543        $ 133,673,853      
Less, capital related debt

(net of unamortized bond premium/discount) (7,377,568)         (50,954,262)       
Add, deferred refunding charges -                       392,895            
Add, unspent portion of debt proceeds 1,145,423          -                       

Total net investment in capital assets $ 17,012,398        $ 83,112,486        

 Governmental 
Activities 

 Business-type 
Activities 

 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 

72



 
 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

 
 

 

NOTE 12. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES 
 

Tax Abatements  

 

The City’s property tax revenues were reduced by $1,130,961 under agreements entered into 
by Lexington County under Fee-in-lieu of Tax and Special Source Revenue Credit Program 
agreements for the year ended June 30, 2023.  The State of South Carolina reimbursed 
Lexington County for $3,535 of these revenues which the County subsequently remitted to the 
City.  

 
Litigation  

 

The City is party to legal proceedings that normally occur in governmental operations. City 
officials believe the legal proceedings are not likely to have a material adverse impact on the 
affected funds of the City.  
 
Federal and State Assisted Programs  

 

In the normal course of operations, the City receives grant funds from various federal and state 
agencies. The grant programs are subject to audit by agents of the granting authority, the 
purpose of which is to ensure compliance with conditions precedent to the granting of funds. 
Such audits could result in the refund of grant monies to the grantor agencies. However, 
management believes that any required refunds would be immaterial, and no provision has 
been made in the accompanying financial statements for the refund of grant monies. 
 

 

73



 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 



Revenues:
Property taxes $ 4,565,060 $ 4,565,060 $ 5,010,946 $ 445,886            
Licenses and permits 5,113,455 5,113,455 5,226,170 112,715            
Fines and forfeitures 210,000 210,000 197,280 (12,720)             
State shared revenue 481,500 481,500 515,413 33,913              
Current services 1,702,000 1,702,000 1,505,642 (196,358)           
Grants and other 280,000 280,000 801,838 521,838            
Interest income 5,000 5,000 108,486 103,486            
Miscellaneous 2,387,050 2,387,050 2,499,804 112,754            
          Total revenues 14,744,065       14,744,065       15,865,579       1,121,514         

Expenditures:  
Current:

Legislative 148,109 148,109 140,690 7,419                
Administrative 1,136,021 1,161,021 1,162,220 (1,199)               
Recorder's court 273,855 273,855 256,932 16,923              
Legal 156,825 156,825 128,906 27,919              
Information technology 355,996 355,996 279,833 76,163              
Finance and accounting 367,623 367,623 313,960 53,663              
Tax collector 23,000 23,000 22,750 250                   
Public safety:

Administrative 1,139,644 1,153,935 1,040,008 113,927            
Detectives 907,742 807,742 721,002 86,740              
Police 3,473,807 4,102,768 4,126,266 (23,498)             
Fire 1,992,397 1,940,397 1,943,993 (3,596)               
Animal services 92,564 51,248 28,583 22,665              
Parks 369,201 356,617 380,415 (23,798)             
School resource officer 635,952 -                        9,103 (9,103)               
Dispatch 515,972 512,572 400,027 112,545            

Street lighting 375,000 375,000 383,817 (8,817)               
Sanitation 1,309,639 1,309,639 1,312,866 (3,227)               
Public buildings 112,744 112,744            109,516            3,228                
Community relations 153,725 153,725 151,849 1,876                
Planning and development 605,511 605,511 620,836 (15,325)             
Museum 157,783 157,783 118,050 39,733              
Parks 954,025 954,025 869,164 84,861              
Garage 449,102 449,102 470,666 (21,564)             
Non-departmental and support services 77,000 77,000              91,169              (14,169)             
Debt service 560,059 560,059 493,505 66,554              
Capital outlay 403,769            855,769 1,626,352 (770,583)           
          Total expenditures 16,747,065       17,022,065       17,202,478       (180,413)           

        Deficiency of revenues
          under expenditures (2,003,000)        (2,278,000)        (1,336,899)        941,101            

Other financing sources:  
Issuance of debt 488,000            738,000 738,000 -                        
Sale of assets 80,000 80,000 90,999 10,999              

      Transfers from other funds 1,435,000 1,435,000 1,449,049 14,049              
              Total other financing sources 2,003,000         2,253,000         2,278,048         25,048              

              Net change in fund balances  -                        (25,000)             941,149            966,149            

Fund balances, beginning of year  9,620,700         9,620,700         9,620,700         -                        

Fund balances, end of year    $ 9,620,700         $ 9,595,700         $ 10,561,849       $ 966,149            

Budget
Final ActualOriginal

Variance with
Final Budget

CITY OF CAYCE, SOUTH CAROLINA

GENERAL FUND  
SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND  

CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES - BUDGET AND ACTUAL - GAAP BASIS 
FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2023

74



CITY OF CAYCE, SOUTH CAROLINA 
 

NOTES TO REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2023 

 
 

 

A. Budgets and Budgetary Accounting  
 

A legal operating budget is prepared annually for the General Fund and Water and Sewer Utility Fund:   
Informal budgetary controls are maintained for other funds, and accordingly, budgetary comparisons 
to actual are not presented. Generally, budgets are adopted on a basis consistent with generally 
accepted accounting principles. If applicable, project length financial plans are adopted for all capital 
project funds.  
 
The City follows the procedures described below in establishing its annual budget.  
 

 By April 1, the City Manager submits to the City Council a proposed operating budget for the 
fiscal year commencing the following July 1. The operating budget includes proposed 
expenditures (expenses) and the means of financing them.  

 Public hearings are conducted to obtain taxpayer comments.  

 By June 30, the budget is legally enacted through passage of an ordinance to set the tax levy 
(millage) for the fiscal year.  

 Appropriations lapse, except for encumbered amounts, at the end of each fiscal year.  
 
The City Manager is authorized to administer the budget and transfer amounts within and between 
departments and funds as necessary and designate continuing projects from fund balances or 
additional unbudgeted revenue and transfers. Subsequent expenditures approved by City Council shall 
automatically carry amendments to fund appropriation where applicable. Accordingly, the legal level of 
budgeting control is made by fund appropriation.  
 
Budgeted amounts presented in the schedule are as originally adopted, or as amended. If budgeted 
expenditures exceeded estimated revenues, these deficits were funded (if necessary) by unassigned and 
applicable reserved fund balances and/or additional unbudgeted revenue and transfers.  
 
Budget to Actual Deficits  

 

Should actual General Fund expenditures exceed final budget, such differences would be funded by 
unassigned and reserved fund balances, additional unbudgeted revenue, and transfers as applicable.  

75



2023 2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
Service cost 61,265$           63,564$           60,434$           135,600$         131,268$         127,074$         
Interest 38,785             46,088             91,865             114,361           112,960           85,251             
Differences between expected and actual experience 158,943           -                       (1,682,277)       -                       -                       63,702             
Changes in assumptions or other inputs (275,238)          52,049             75,091             -                       -                       524,476           
Contributions - employer -                       -                       -                       (60,331)            (62,184)            -                       
Benefit payments (118,848)          (111,567)          (98,700)            (164,106)          (140,597)          (147,565)          
Other changes -                       -                       (66,972)            -                       -                       107,931           
Net change in total OPEB liability (135,093)          50,134             (1,620,559)       25,524             41,447             760,869           
Total OPEB liability - beginning 1,838,554        1,788,420        3,408,979        3,383,455        3,342,008        2,581,139        
Total OPEB liability - ending 1,703,461$      1,838,554$      1,788,420$      3,408,979$      3,383,455$      3,342,008$      

Discount Rate 4.09% 2.18% 2.66% 3.40% 3.40% 4.50%

Covered-employee payroll  $      1,924,162  $      2,508,259  $      2,434,067  $      2,585,616  $      2,492,104  $      2,581,289 

88.5% 73.3% 73.5% 131.8% 135.8% 129.5%

Notes: 
     There are no assets accumulated in a trust that meets the criteria of GASB codification P22.101 or P52.101 to pay related benefits for the OPEB plan.

     The schedule will present 10 years of information once it is accumulated.

CITY OF CAYCE, SOUTH CAROLINA

REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION
SCHEDULE OF CHANGES IN THE CITY'S TOTAL OPEB LIABILITY AND RELATED RATIOS

FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30,

Total OPEB liability as a percentage of covered-employee  
payroll

76



2022 0.0583360% 14,141,884$    6,218,339$      227.4% 57.1%
2021 0.0608000% 13,157,959      6,872,912        191.4% 60.7%
2020 0.0597260% 15,261,150      6,663,289        229.0% 50.7%
2019 0.0590170% 13,475,973      6,232,005        216.2% 54.4%
2018 0.0583940% 13,084,337      6,017,697        217.4% 54.1%
2017 0.0584570% 12,315,961      5,897,743        223.1% 53.3%
2016 0.0562080% 12,005,946      5,443,028        220.6% 52.9%
2015 0.0547510% 10,383,791      5,133,635        202.3% 57.0%
2014 0.0535100% 9,212,648        4,849,702        190.0% 59.9%
2013 0.0535100% 9,597,785        4,933,520        194.5% 59.9%

2022 0.251065% 7,529,395$      3,520,629$      213.9% 66.4%
2021 0.258010% 6,638,370        3,879,663        171.1% 70.4%
2020 0.264984% 8,787,447        4,002,981        219.5% 58.8%
2019 0.257188% 7,370,866        3,730,414        197.6% 62.7%
2018 0.240951% 6,827,440        3,336,280        204.6% 61.7%
2017 0.234710% 6,430,105        3,160,823        203.4% 60.9%
2016 0.228800% 5,803,556        2,916,939        199.0% 60.4%
2015 0.225160% 4,907,354        2,789,410        175.9% 64.6%
2014 0.228990% 4,383,771        2,762,383        158.7% 67.5%
2013 0.228990% 4,746,817        2,267,964        209.3% 67.5%

SCHEDULE OF THE CITY'S PROPORTIONATE SHARE OF THE NET PENSION LIABILITY

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30,

CITY OF CAYCE, SOUTH CAROLINA

REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION

South Carolina Police Officers Retirement System

City's 
proportionate 

share of the net 
pension liability 

City's share of 
the net pension 

liability as a 
percentage of its 
covered payroll

Plan fiduciary net 
position as a 

percentage of the 
total pension 

liability

City's proportion 
of the net 

pension liability
City's covered 

payrollPlan Year Ended June 30,

South Carolina Retirement System

Plan Year Ended June 30,

City's 
proportionate 

share of the net 
pension liability 

City's share of 
the net pension 

liability as a 
percentage of its 
covered payroll

Plan fiduciary net 
position as a 

percentage of the 
total pension 

liability

City's proportion 
of the net 

pension liability
City's covered 

payroll

77



2023 1,300,654$      1,300,654$      -$                      7,406,911$        17.6%
2022 1,029,757        1,029,757        -                        6,218,339          16.6%
2021 1,069,425        1,069,425        -                        6,872,912          15.6%
2020 1,026,813        1,026,813        -                        6,663,289          15.4%
2019 898,032            898,032           -                        6,232,005          14.4%
2018 811,322            811,322           -                        6,017,697          13.5%
2017 667,638            667,638           -                        5,897,743          11.3%
2016 635,004            635,004           -                        5,443,028          11.7%
2015 557,599            557,599           -                        5,133,635          10.9%
2014 514,069            514,069           -                        4,849,702          10.6%

2023 873,050$         873,050$         -$                      4,313,491$        20.2%
2022 677,369            677,369           -                        3,520,629          19.2%
2021 707,651            707,651           -                        3,879,663          18.2%
2020 714,132            714,132           -                        4,002,981          17.8%
2019 628,202            628,202           -                        3,730,414          16.8%
2018 528,467            528,467           -                        3,336,280          15.8%
2017 422,067            422,067           -                        3,160,823          13.4%
2016 406,098            406,098           -                        2,916,939          13.9%
2015 374,067            374,067           -                        2,789,410          13.4%
2014 354,690            354,690           -                        2,762,383          12.8%

SCHEDULE OF THE CITY'S CONTRIBUTIONS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30,

CITY OF CAYCE, SOUTH CAROLINA

REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION

South Carolina Police Officers Retirement System

Contributions in 
relation to the 

actuarially 
required 

contribution

Contributions as 
a percentage of 
covered payroll

Actuarially 
required 

contribution

Contribution 
deficiency 
(excess)

City's covered 
payrollFiscal Year Ended June 30,

South Carolina Retirement System

Contributions in 
relation to the 

actuarially 
required 

contribution

Contributions as 
a percentage of 
covered payroll

Actuarially 
required 

contribution

Contribution 
deficiency 
(excess)

City's covered 
payrollFiscal Year Ended June 30,

78



 

CITY OF CAYCE, SOUTH CAROLINA 
 

REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION 
NOTES TO THE SCHEDULE OF THE CITY’S CONTRIBUTIONS 

FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2023 
 

 

 

Actuarial assumptions used in determining the statutorily required contributions are as follows: 
 
System SCRS PORS

Calculation date July 1, 2020 July 1, 2020

Actuarial cost method Entry Age Normal Entry Age Normal

Asset valuation method 5-year Smoothed 5-year Smoothed

Amortization method Level % of pay Level % of pay

Amortization period 27 years maximum, closed period 27 years maximum, closed period 

Investment return 7.25% 7.25%

Inflation 2.25% 2.25%

Salary increases 3.00% plus step-rate increases for 3.50% plus step-rate increases for 

members w ith less than 21 years of service members w ith less than 15 years of service

Mortality 2016 Public Retirees of South Carolina Mortality 2016 Public Retirees of South Carolina Mortality

Tables for Males and Females, both projected Tables for Males and Females, both projected

at Scale AA from the year 2016. Male rates are at Scale AA from the year 2016. Male rates are

multiplied by 100% for non-educators and 92% for multiplied by 125% and female rates are 

educators. Female rates multiplied by 111% for multiplied by 111%.

non-educators and 98% for educators.  
 
 
 
 

79



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION 
 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

COMBINING AND INDIVIDUAL NONMAJOR FUND   
 FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SCHEDULES 



Governmental

ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents:

Unrestricted $ -                       $ -                       $ -                       $ -                       $ -                       $ 78,124              $ -                       $ 5,704,632         $ 5,782,756         
Restricted 110,004            -                       1,424,330         51,556              62                     -                       1,145,423 -                       2,731,375         

Hospitality taxes receivable -                       -                       350                   -                       -                       -                       350                   
Other receivables 57,672              -                       -                       3,000 -                       32 -                       2,487 63,191              
Due from other funds 231                   -                       7,007                108                   -                       164                   2,410 11,888 21,808              

          Total assets 167,907            -                       1,431,687         54,664              62                     78,320              1,147,833         5,719,007         8,599,480         

LIABILITIES
Accounts payable 14,655              -                       178                   -                       -                       -                       -                       1,605,072         1,619,905         
Due to other funds 8,821                -                       16,139              -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       24,960              

          Total liabilities 23,476              -                       16,317              -                       -                       -                       -                       1,605,072         1,644,865         

FUND BALANCES
Restricted:

 Tourism and community
development 144,431            -                       1,415,370         -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       1,559,801         

    ABC permit activities -                       -                       -                       54,664              -                       -                       -                       -                       54,664              
    Law enforcement -                       -                       -                       -                       62                     -                       -                       -                       62                     
    Capital projects -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       1,147,833         -                       1,147,833         

 Debt service -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       4,113,935         4,113,935         
Assigned
    Museum improvement -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       78,320              -                       -                       78,320              

          Total fund balances 144,431            -                       1,415,370         54,664              62                     78,320              1,147,833         4,113,935         6,954,615         

Total liabilities, deferred inflows   
  of resources, and fund balances   $ 167,907            $ -                       $ 1,431,687         $ 54,664              $ 62                     $ 78,320              $ 1,147,833         $ 5,719,007         $ 8,599,480         

CITY OF CAYCE, SOUTH CAROLINA

COMBINING BALANCE SHEET  

NONMAJOR GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS

JUNE 30, 2023

State

Special Revenue Funds

Local
Debt Service

Fund

Nonmajor
Total

Museum
Fund Funds

Capital Projects
FundTaxTax

Accommodations Hospitality 
Tax

Accommodations Permit
Fund

Law
Enforcement
Grant Fund

ABC

80



Governmental

Revenues:
Accommodations and

hospitality taxes  $ 164,987            $ 244,070            $ 1,509,558         $ -                       $ -                       $ -                       $ -                       $ -                       $ 1,918,615         
Property taxes -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       1,168,802         1,168,802         
Intergovernmental -                       -                       23,000              -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       23,000              
State shared revenue -                       -                       -                       13,800              -                       -                       -                       161,182            174,982            
Interest on investments 1,125 -                       -                       -                       25 265 13,065 75,120              89,600              
Other 68,733 1,610                16,112              535                   -                       -                       -                       -                       86,990              

          Total revenues 234,845            245,680            1,548,670         14,335              25                     265                   13,065              1,405,104         3,461,989         

Expenditures:
Planning and community

development:
Tourism related 69,018              -                       62,935              -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       131,953            
Capital outlay -                       -                       153,241            -                       -                       10,313 297,522 -                       461,076            

Public safety -                       -                       -                       -                       3,451 -                       -                       -                       3,451                
Debt service:

Principal -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       325,000            325,000            
Interest and fiscal charges -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       242,613            242,613            

          Total expenditures 69,018              -                       216,176            -                       3,451                10,313              297,522            567,613            1,164,093         

        Excess (deficiency) of revenues
          over (under) expenditures 165,827            245,680            1,332,494         14,335              (3,426)              (10,048)            (284,457)          837,491            2,297,896         

Other financing sources (uses):  
    Transfers in -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       10,650 -                       -                       10,650              
    Transfers out (37,230)            (245,680)          (1,176,789)       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       (1,459,699)       
              Total other financing sources (uses) (37,230)            (245,680)          (1,176,789)       -                       -                       10,650              -                       -                       (1,449,049)       

              Net change in fund balances  128,597            -                       155,705            14,335              (3,426)              602                   (284,457)          837,491            848,847            

Fund balances, beginning of year  15,834              -                       1,259,665         40,329              3,488                77,718              1,432,290         3,276,444         6,105,768         

Fund balances, end of year    $ 144,431            $ -                       $ 1,415,370         $ 54,664              $ 62                     $ 78,320              $ 1,147,833         $ 4,113,935         $ 6,954,615         

Debt Service
Fund Funds

ABC
Permit Enforcement Museum

Law
Capital Projects

FundFund Grant Fund Fund

Local

CITY OF CAYCE, SOUTH CAROLINA

NONMAJOR GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS

COMBINING STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES

FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2023

State
Total

Nonmajor

Special Revenue Funds

Tax
Hospitality Accommodations

Tax Tax
Accommodations

81



 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

WATER AND SEWER UTILITY FUND  



Operating Revenue

Water:
Sales $ 6,000,000 $ 6,000,000 $ 5,796,616 $ (203,384)          
Connection fees 100,000 100,000 107,295 7,295               

Sewer:
Service charges 12,089,474 12,089,474 12,599,305 509,831           
Connection fees 2,000 2,000 -                       (2,000)              

Septage/grease services:
Sales and permits 1,653,000 1,653,000 1,179,438 (473,562)          
Pretreatment set-up fees 80,000 80,000 79,140 (860)                 

Reconnection fees 35,000 35,000 44,440 9,440               
Penalties 220,000 220,000 220,940 940                  
Miscellaneous 155,000 155,000 127,274 (27,726)            
          Total operating revenue 20,334,474       20,334,474       20,154,448       (180,026)          

Operating Expenses
Administrative 726,907 726,907 574,064 152,843           
Utility billing 1,027,536 1,027,536 985,837 41,699             
Water treatment plant 1,674,081 1,674,081 1,637,205 36,876             
Water distribution and maintenance 1,786,179 1,786,179 1,637,738 148,441           
Wastewater treatment plant 5,523,613 5,523,613 4,996,646 526,967           
Sewer collection and outfall lines 1,902,171 1,902,171 1,571,359 330,812           
Septage and grease receiving station 769,664 769,664 571,867 197,797           
Non-departmental and support services 2,156,251 2,156,251         2,134,138 22,113             
Depreciation -                       -                       6,035,123 (6,035,123)       
          Total operating expenses 15,566,402       15,566,402       20,143,977       (4,577,575)       

          Operating income (loss) 4,768,072         4,768,072         10,471             (4,757,601)       

Non-operating Revenues (Expenses)
Interest income 10,000 10,000 245,052 235,052           
Gains from sale of capital assets 35,000 35,000 41,271             6,271               
Interest expense -                       -                       (887,463)          (887,463)          
Amortization of bond refinancing losses -                       -                       (151,145)          (151,145)          
Fiscal agent fees (8,000)              (8,000)              (9,859)              (1,859)              
          Total non-operating revenues
            (expenses), net 37,000             37,000             (762,144)          (799,144)          

          Income (loss) before contributions 4,805,072         4,805,072         (751,673)          (5,556,745)       

Capital Contributions
Capacity charges and other capital contributions 739,632 739,632 1,139,847 400,215           

Change in net position 5,544,704         5,544,704         388,174           (5,156,530)       

Net position, beginning of year 96,878,076       96,878,076       96,878,076       -                       

Net position, end of year $ 102,422,780     $ 102,422,780     $ 97,266,250       $ (5,156,530)       

CITY OF CAYCE, SOUTH CAROLINA

WATER AND SEWER UTILITY FUND

SCHEDULE OF REVENUE, EXPENSES AND

CHANGES IN FUND NET POSITION - BUDGET AND ACTUAL - GAAP BASIS  

FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2023

Budget Variance with
Original Final Actual Final Budget

82



 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

CUSTODIAL FUNDS  
 
 

 



Firemen's Fund Police Fund Custodial Funds

ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents - unrestricted $ -                        $ 23,913 $ 23,913                  
Cash and cash equivalents - restricted 62,649 69,198 131,847                
          Total assets 62,649              93,111                  155,760                

LIABILITIES
Amounts due to others 62,649 87,740 150,389                
          Total liabilities 62,649              87,740                  150,389                

Net position, beginning of year (restated) -                    527                       527                       

NET POSITION

Restricted for individuals, organizations
  and other governments -                        5,371                    5,371                    

$ -                        $ 5,371                    $ 5,371                    

Total

CITY OF CAYCE, SOUTH CAROLINA

COMBINING STATEMENT OF FIDUCIARY NET POSITION

FIDUCIARY FUNDS

JUNE 30, 2023

Custodial Funds

83



Firemen's Fund Police Fund Custodial Funds

ADDITIONS
Insurance fees $ 55,630              $ -                            $ 55,630                  
Seizures -                        15,404 15,404                  
Interest income 802                   -                            802                       
Miscellaneous 80                     -                            80                         

Total additions 56,512              15,404                  71,916                  

DEDUCTIONS
Other custodial disbursements 56,512 10,560 67,072                  

Total deductions 56,512              10,560                  67,072                  

Change in fiduciary net position -                        4,844                    4,844                    

Net position, beginning of year -                        527                       527                       

Net position, end of year $ -                        $ 5,371                    $ 5,371                    

CITY OF CAYCE, SOUTH CAROLINA

COMBINING STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN

FIDUCIARY NET POSITION

FIDUCIARY FUNDS

Total

FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2023

Custodial Funds

84



 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

VICTIM'S RIGHTS ASSISTANCE  
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 



CITY OF CAYCE, SOUTH CAROLINA
UNIFORM SCHEDULE OF COURT FINES, ASSESSMENTS AND SURCHARGES (per ACT 96)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2023

FOR THE STATE TREASURER'S OFFICE:

COUNTY / MUNICIPAL FUNDS COLLECTED       
BY CLERK OF COURT

General 
Sessions

Magistrate 
Court

Municipal 
Court

Total

Court Fines and Assessments:

Court fines and assessments collected  $           257,217  $           257,217 

Court fines and assessments remitted to State 
Treasurer

              232,767               232,767 

Total Court Fines and Assessments retained N/A N/A  $             24,450  $             24,450 

Surcharges and Assessments retained for victim 
services:

Surcharges collected and retained  $               4,249  $               4,249 

Assessments retained                 20,201                 20,201 

Total Surcharges and Assessments retained for victim 
services

N/A N/A  $             24,450  $             24,450 

FOR THE DEPARTMENT OF CRIME VICTIM COMPENSATION (DCVC)

Municipal County Total

 $                     -   N/A  $                     -   

                          - N/A                           - 

                20,201 N/A                 20,201 

                  4,249 N/A                   4,249 

                          - N/A                           - 

                          - N/A                           - 

                60,660 N/A                 60,660 

                          - N/A                           - 

                          - N/A                           - 

                          - N/A                           - 

 $             85,110 N/A  $             85,110 

(1) Town of

VICTIM SERVICE FUNDS COLLECTED

Carryforward from Previous Year – Beginning Balance

Victim Service Revenue: 

Victim Service Fines Retained by City/County Treasurer

Victim Service Assessments Retained by City/County Treasurer

Victim Service Surcharges Retained by City/County Treasurer

Interest Earned

Grant Funds Received 

Grant from:

General Funds Transferred to Victim Service Fund

Contribution Received from Victim Service Contracts:

(2) Town of 

(3) City of 

Total Funds Allocated to Victim Service Fund + Beginning Balance (A) 

Developed by the Office of the Attorney General, Department of Crime Victim Compensation

85



CITY OF CAYCE, SOUTH CAROLINA
UNIFORM SCHEDULE OF COURT FINES, ASSESSMENTS AND SURCHARGES (per ACT 96)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2023

Municipal County Total

 $             82,543 N/A  $             82,543 

                  2,567 N/A                   2,567 

                          - N/A                           - 

                          - N/A                           - 

                          - N/A                           - 

                          - N/A                           - 

                          - N/A                           - 

N/A                           - 

                85,110 N/A                 85,110 

                          - N/A                           - 

                          - N/A                           - 

 $                       - N/A  $                       - 

    (2) Rape Crisis Center:

Expenditures for Victim Service Program:

Salaries and Benefits

Operating Expenditures

Victim Service Contract(s):

(1)   Entity's Name

(2)   Entity's Name

Victim Service Donation(s):

    (1) Domestic Violence Shelter:

    (3) Other local direct crime victims service agency:

Transferred to General Fund

Total Expenditures from Victim Service Fund/Program (B)

Less: Prior Year Fund Deficit Repayment

Carryforward Funds – End of Year

Total Victim Service Funds Retained by Municipal/County Treasurer (A-B)

Developed by the Office of the Attorney General, Department of Crime Victim Compensation

86



STATISTICAL
SECTION

Contact Us
803-796-9020

Visit Our Website
www.caycesc.gov

City of Cayce, South Carolina



 

 

STATISTICAL SECTION 
 

   
 

 
This part of the City's annual comprehensive financial report presents detailed information as a context for 
understanding what the information in the financial statements, note disclosures, required supplementary 
information, and supplementary information says about the City's overall financial health. 
 
Contents 
 
 Page 

 
Financial Trends .......................................................................................................................................... 87 - 93 

These schedules contain trend information to help the reader understand how the County's financial 
performance and well-being have changed over time. 
 

Revenue Capacity ........................................................................................................................................ 94 - 97 
These schedules contain information to help the reader assess the County's most significant local 
revenue sources. 
 

Debt Capacity ............................................................................................................................................. 98 - 103 
These schedules present information to help the reader assess the affordability of the County's 
current levels of outstanding debt and the County's ability to issue additional debt in the future. 
 

Demographic and Economic Information ........................................................................................ 104 and 105 
These schedules offer demographic and economic indicators to help the reader understand the 
environment within which the County's financial activities take place. 
 

Operating Information ............................................................................................................................. 106 - 108 
These schedules contain service and infrastructure data to help the reader understand how the 
information in the County's financial report relates to the services the County provides and the 
activities it performs. 

 
Sources:  Unless otherwise noted, the information in these schedules is derived from the City's financial reports for 
the relevant year. 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



Governmental Activities

Net investment in
capital assets $ 17,012,398       $ 17,125,855       $ 16,250,911       $ 16,893,546       $ 17,383,993       $ 16,595,971       $ 15,430,572       $ 13,078,235       $ 11,187,075       $ 4,809,369         

Restricted 5,730,872         4,595,760         3,709,498         5,129,365         5,179,447         10,489,686       2,503,787         4,089,583         2,900,003         2,329,686         
Unrestricted (4,101,971)        (5,504,210)        (6,110,682)        (9,109,828)        (8,521,214)        (13,118,929)      (5,338,793)        (6,446,015)        (5,968,176)        (10,307,729)      

Total governmental
activities net position $ 18,641,299       $ 16,217,405       $ 13,849,727       $ 12,913,083       $ 14,042,226       $ 13,966,728       $ 12,595,566       $ 10,721,803       $ 8,118,902         $ (3,168,674)        

Business-type Activities
Net investment in

capital assets $ 83,112,486       $ 84,354,649       $ 86,040,717       $ 87,328,355       $ 87,473,689       $ 84,289,609       $ 80,976,020       $ 78,314,467       $ 79,196,265       $ 73,208,919       
Restricted 9,949,968         9,949,968         9,949,968         9,949,968         9,322,177         9,501,428         9,802,563         7,255,808         8,302,471         11,443,354       
Unrestricted 4,203,796         2,573,459         788,529            12,421              (1,506,592)        (1,462,306)        (1,560,368)        (100,462)           (2,830,540)        (1,725,791)        

Total business-type
activities net position $ 97,266,250       $ 96,878,076       $ 96,779,214       $ 97,290,744       $ 95,289,274       $ 92,328,731       $ 89,218,215       $ 85,469,813       $ 84,668,196       $ 82,926,482       

Primary Government
Net investment in

capital assets $ 100,124,884     $ 101,480,504     $ 102,291,628     $ 104,221,901     $ 104,857,682     $ 100,885,580     $ 96,406,592       $ 91,392,702       $ 90,383,340       $ 78,018,288       
Restricted 15,680,840       14,545,728       13,659,466       15,079,333       14,501,624       19,991,114       12,306,350       11,345,391       11,202,474       13,773,040       
Unrestricted 101,825            (2,930,751)        (5,322,153)        (9,097,407)        (10,027,806)      (14,581,235)      (6,899,161)        (6,546,477)        (8,798,716)        (12,033,520)      

Total primary government
net position $ 115,907,549     $ 113,095,481     $ 110,628,941     $ 110,203,827     $ 109,331,500     $ 106,295,459     $ 101,813,781     $ 96,191,616       $ 92,787,098       $ 79,757,808       

2023 2015 20142021

Note: GASB 65 was implemented for the fiscal year ended 6/30/14. GASB 68 was implemented for fiscal year ended 6/30/15. Effects of implementing these statements are not reflected in fiscal years prior to 2014. GASB 75 was 
implemented effective for fiscal year ended 6/30/18. The effects of implementing GASB 75 are not reflected in fiscal years prior to 2018. 

CITY OF CAYCE, SOUTH CAROLINA

NET POSITION BY COMPONENT

(Accrual basis of accounting)

LAST TEN FISCAL YEARS

2022 2020 2019 2018 2017 2016

87



Expenses

Governmental activities: (1) (6) (7)

General government $ 3,535,487         $ 2,003,498         $ 1,157,105         $ 581,990            $ 432,879            $ 370,008            $ 592,721            $ 481,829            $ 434,485            $ 340,913            
Information technology 276,670            334,331            351,880            139,732            67,575             115,260            108,495            84,776             85,962             92,887             
Finance 336,322            345,974            346,966            92,532             86,242             83,901             73,568             117,820            56,868             61,747             
Public safety 8,092,126         7,364,700         8,198,600         8,437,530         7,434,457         6,869,407         6,116,479         5,719,168         4,976,924         4,964,652         
Public works 1,797,991         1,388,387         1,830,793         1,434,404         1,365,137         1,663,974         1,310,352         1,477,526         1,331,873         1,307,718         
Planning and community

development 896,122            1,108,388         1,138,277         1,627,370         1,334,661         1,267,474         924,506            790,776            675,085            575,489            
Parks and museum 975,063            991,524            1,008,511         936,572            889,747            903,950            1,230,689         804,149            636,000            669,385            
Garage 456,775            440,166            450,752            315,109            262,379            266,391            276,484            295,422            243,925            245,638            
Depreciation (unallocated) (7) 2,343,719         1,481,478         1,412,158         1,456,515         1,389,879         1,032,413         896,646            708,459            651,325            671,572            
Interest 259,677            241,207            257,668            286,664            274,356            266,732            16,513             36,977             55,817             84,250             

Total governmental activities 18,969,952       15,699,653       16,152,710       15,308,418       13,537,312       12,839,510       11,546,453       10,516,902       9,148,264         9,014,251         

Business-type Activities: (2) (6) (7)

Water and sewer utility (7) 21,192,444       20,334,698       20,701,383       18,706,287       18,215,285       17,753,948       16,753,626       16,549,533       14,868,109       14,627,939       
Total business-type activities 21,192,444       20,334,698       20,701,383       18,706,287       18,215,285       17,753,948       16,753,626       16,549,533       14,868,109       14,627,939       

Total primary government expenses $ 40,162,396       $ 36,034,351       $ 36,854,093       $ 34,014,705       $ 31,752,597       $ 30,593,458       $ 28,300,079       $ 27,066,435       $ 24,016,373       $ 23,642,190       

Program Revenue
Governmental activities:

 Charges for services (3) $ 1,702,922         $ 1,755,273         $ 1,589,513         $ 1,703,623         $ 1,479,312         $ 1,229,471         $ 1,255,379         $ 1,270,485         $ 1,460,765         $ 948,157            
Operating grants and contributions (1) 2,862,603         1,061,248         2,701,577         292,158            407,577            1,327,406         340,742            402,575            242,087            66,562             
Capital grants and contributions -                       1,123,985         -                       144,287            100,043            139,354            695,130            618,648            6,649,664         4,249               

Total governmental activities 4,565,525         3,940,506         4,291,090         2,140,068         1,986,932         2,696,231         2,291,251         2,291,708         8,352,516         1,018,968         

Business-type Activities
Charges for services (4) 20,154,448       19,044,071       19,401,534       18,987,250       18,442,059       17,431,831       17,251,630       16,865,450       14,971,094       14,566,496       
Operating grants and contributions -                       38,745             105,638            -                       -                       -                       95,193             -                       -                       -                       
Capital grants and contributions 1,139,847         1,349,752         678,018            1,743,118         2,701,677         2,888,039         3,131,410         948,615            1,604,279         1,233,574         

Total business-type activities 21,294,295       20,432,568       20,185,190       20,730,368       21,143,736       20,319,870       20,478,233       17,814,065       16,575,373       15,800,070       

Total primary government program
revenue $ 25,859,820       $ 24,373,074       $ 24,476,280       $ 22,870,436       $ 23,130,668       $ 23,016,101       $ 22,769,484       $ 20,105,773       $ 24,927,889       $ 16,819,038       

2015 2014

--CONTINUED--

2022 2020 2019 2018 2017 201620212023

CITY OF CAYCE, SOUTH CAROLINA

CHANGES IN NET POSITION (5)

(Accrual basis of accounting)

LAST TEN FISCAL YEARS

88



General Revenue and Other Changes

Governmental activities: 
Property taxes $ 6,153,903         $ 5,051,554         $ 5,349,779         $ 4,710,174         $ 4,815,538         $ 4,436,724         $ 4,367,332         $ 4,066,933         $ 3,786,956         $ 3,783,478         
Accommodation and hospitality taxes 1,918,615         1,782,582         1,599,060         1,524,268         1,272,104         1,268,973         1,147,949         1,074,154         787,971            98,941             
State shared and unallocated

intergovernmental 690,395            683,343            599,217            498,302            480,101            408,982            458,807            425,994            410,874            370,738            
Business licenses and other taxes 5,226,170         3,841,454         4,783,945         4,883,608         4,893,838         5,302,089         5,049,090         4,586,377         6,704,824         4,043,886         
Unrestricted investment earnings 248,435            46,672             1,454               17,794             25,296             3,470               1,555               1,201               1,777               1,813               
Gain from sale of assets 90,999             138,672            464,809            58,261             -                       43,968             -                       35,000             -                       171,314            
Other 2,499,804         2,582,548         -                       346,800            139,001            441,369            104,232            638,436            390,922            422,976            

Total governmental activities 16,828,321       14,126,825       12,798,264       12,039,207       11,625,878       11,905,575       11,128,965       10,828,095       12,083,324       8,893,146         

Business-type Activities: 
Unrestricted investment earnings 245,052            992                  2,089               42,162             30,910             16,528             10,258             10,264             11,223             14,426             
Gain (loss) on sale of assets 41,271             -                       2,574               (64,773)            -                       5,399               13,537             4,423               23,227             -                       
Other -                       -                       -                       -                       1,182               -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       

Total business-type activities 286,323            992                  4,663               (22,611)            32,092             21,927             23,795             14,687             34,450             14,426             
Total primary government general

revenue and other changes $ 17,114,644       $ 14,127,817       $ 12,802,927       $ 12,016,596       $ 11,657,970       $ 11,927,502       $ 11,152,760       $ 10,842,782       $ 12,117,774       $ 8,907,572         

Special Item - Wastewater Treatment
Plant disposal/decommissioned $ -                       $ -                       $ -                       $ -                       $ -                       $ -                       $ -                       $ -                       $ -                       $ -                       

Changes in Net Position (5) (6) (7)

Governmental activities 2,423,894         2,367,678         (511,530)          (1,129,143)       75,498             1,762,296         1,873,763         2,602,901         11,287,576       897,863            
Business-type activities 388,174            98,862             425,114            2,001,470         2,960,543         2,587,849         3,748,402         1,279,219         1,741,714         1,186,557         

Total primary government changes
in net position $ 2,812,068         $ 2,466,540         $ (86,416)            $ 872,327            $ 3,036,041         $ 4,350,145         $ 5,622,165         $ 3,882,120         $ 13,029,290       $ 2,084,420         

(4) Charges for services for the business-type activities consist primarily of sales for water and sewer services and septage and grease fees
(5) Beginning in 2013, the City implemented GASB Statement 63 and reclassified "net assets" to "net position"
(6) Beginning in 2014, the City implemented GASB Statement 65 and GASB Statement 68 which restated bond issue costs as expenses and restated pension liabilities and related deferrals
(7) Beginning in 2018 the City implemented GASB Statement 75 and GASB Statement 68 which changed the accounting and reporting for other post-employment benefits (OPEB)

2015 2014

(1) The City reports expenses reimbursed by Water & Sewer Utility Fund net of reimbursement
(2) The City allocates overhead costs associated with its Utility Fund to the functional areas of Governmental Activities
(3) Charges for services for the governmental activities primarily consist of police fines, fire hydrant service fees, sanitation and tipping fees, and other special service fees

2022 2020 2019 2018 2017 20162021

CITY OF CAYCE, SOUTH CAROLINA

CHANGES IN NET POSITION (5)

(Accrual basis of accounting)

LAST TEN FISCAL YEARS

2023

89



Function/Program

Governmental activities: 
General government (1) $ 2,528,633         $ 806,058            $ 2,471,849         $ -                       $ -                       $ -                       $ 59,539             $ 30,000             $ 149,968            $ -                       
Information technology -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       
Finance -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       
Public safety 881,617            846,981            724,901            991,567            1,055,568         1,010,363         573,876            900,140            822,249            626,967            
Public works 1,043,860         1,117,342         1,071,417         774,947            777,579            1,497,301         1,199,282         531,233            832,971            381,066            
Planning and community

development 109,990            44,455             22,078             302,713            50,336             73,338             121,179            212,815            8,467               6,200               
Parks and museum 1,425               1,125,670         845                  70,841             103,449            115,229            337,375            617,520            6,538,861         4,735               
Garage -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       

Total governmental activities 4,565,525         3,940,506         4,291,090         2,140,068         1,986,932         2,696,231         2,291,251         2,291,708         8,352,516         1,018,968         

Business-type Activities: 
Water and sewer utility 21,294,295       20,432,568       20,185,190       20,730,368       21,143,736       20,319,870       20,478,233       17,814,065       16,575,373       14,629,867       

Total business-type activities 21,294,295       20,432,568       20,185,190       20,730,368       21,143,736       20,319,870       20,478,233       17,814,065       16,575,373       14,629,867       
Total program revenue by function

and program $ 25,859,820       $ 24,373,074       $ 24,476,280       $ 22,870,436       $ 23,130,668       $ 23,016,101       $ 22,769,484       $ 20,105,773       $ 24,927,889       $ 15,648,835       

CITY OF CAYCE, SOUTH CAROLINA

PROGRAM REVENUE BY FUNCTION

(Accrual basis of accounting)

LAST TEN FISCAL YEARS

2015 2014

(1) The City reports governmental expenses reimbursed by the Water and Sewer Utility Fund net of such reimbursement

2022 2020 2019 2018 2017 201620212023

90



General Fund
Nonspendable $ 193,176            $ 213,025            $ 146,388            $ 181,605            $ 181,733            $ 65,085             $ 150,444            $ 64,979             $ 559,143            $ 48,921             
Restricted -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       12,620             -                       21,233             52,783             58,560             
Committed 25,000             25,000             25,000             25,000             25,000             25,000             25,000             25,000             25,000             25,000             
Assigned 995,938            979,589            1,002,830         1,002,831         964,941            971,072            968,388            930,600            923,610            4,107               
Unassigned 9,347,735         8,403,086         7,750,658         6,475,532         6,104,929         6,592,195         5,374,540         4,859,534         4,124,328         1,090,810         

Total General Fund 10,561,849       9,620,700         8,924,876         7,684,968         7,276,603         7,665,972         6,518,372         5,901,346         5,684,864         1,227,398         

All Other Governmental Funds
Nonspendable -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       
Restricted, reported in:

Special revenue funds 1,614,527         1,319,316         1,157,505         682,127            861,077            769,063            761,222            587,173            391,426            131,568            
Debt service funds 4,113,935         3,276,444         2,551,993         1,708,910         1,426,238         949,330            550,615            996,764            1,133,993         752,375            
Capital projects funds 1,147,833         1,432,290         1,433,716         1,490,928         2,048,940         7,068,546         447,405            735,245            428,440            754,698            

Assigned, reported in:
Special revenue funds 78,320             77,718             77,317             70,300             83,801             83,801             83,801             83,801             83,801             83,801             

Total all other governmental funds $ 6,954,615         $ 6,105,768         $ 5,220,531         $ 3,952,265         $ 4,420,056         $ 8,870,740         $ 1,843,043         $ 2,402,983         $ 2,037,660         $ 1,722,442         

Total primary government $ 17,516,464       $ 15,726,468       $ 14,145,407       $ 11,637,233       $ 11,696,659       $ 16,536,712       $ 8,361,415         $ 8,304,329         $ 7,722,524         $ 2,949,840         

2022 20162023

CITY OF CAYCE, SOUTH CAROLINA

FUND BALANCES - GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS

(Modified accrual basis of accounting)

LAST TEN FISCAL YEARS

2015 20142021 2020 2019 2018 2017

91



Revenues:
Property taxes $ 6,179,748         $ 5,030,454         $ 5,397,261         $ 4,759,028         $ 4,827,981         $ 4,350,359         $ 4,236,423         $ 4,068,045         $ 3,776,095         $ 3,794,008         
Accommodation and hospitality taxes 1,918,615         1,782,582         1,599,060         1,524,268         1,272,104         1,251,922         1,147,949         1,068,426         697,654            -                        
Licenses and permits 5,226,170         3,841,454         4,783,945         5,093,506         4,930,242         5,387,772         5,171,194         4,799,886         6,969,845         4,182,122         
Fines and forfeitures 197,280            185,692            130,123            180,781            187,075            181,171            214,485            260,880            329,068            268,380            
State shared revenue 690,395            683,343            649,159            498,302            480,101            408,982            454,835            425,994            497,025            470,411            
Current services 1,505,642         1,569,581         1,459,390         1,439,177         1,348,045         1,028,901         1,035,625         796,448            848,100            534,410            
Grants and other 5,362,407         4,767,781         2,701,577         724,578            462,345            1,865,441         985,667            1,658,789         1,953,891         502,037            
Interest income 248,435            46,672              1,454                17,794              25,296              3,470                1,555                1,201                1,777                1,813                
          Total revenues 21,328,692       17,907,559       16,721,969       14,237,434       13,533,189       14,478,018       13,247,733       13,079,669       15,073,455       9,753,181         

Expenditures:  
Current:

General government 3,689,872         2,101,634         1,344,045         653,815            524,290            448,499            489,207            510,972            418,861            335,743            
Information technology 279,833            329,758            334,319            119,188            62,989              105,329            97,066              74,890              78,293              90,231              
Finance  336,710            337,311            324,654            86,987              69,722              56,895              72,419              86,021              49,747              62,061              
Public safety 8,652,848         8,114,129         7,374,340         7,636,225         6,961,529         6,304,196         5,815,970         5,604,141         4,972,902         5,020,310         
Public works 1,806,199         1,684,849         1,689,720         1,384,975         1,312,104         1,285,574         1,253,360         1,424,195         1,309,947         1,289,663         
Planning and community

development/relations 904,638            1,120,349         1,088,032         1,586,487         1,300,695         1,216,325         897,323            840,806            618,430            569,700            
Parks and museum 987,214            973,074            923,710            888,649            834,950            839,029            847,583            766,762            662,474            661,278            
Garage 470,666            431,402            421,511            292,995            240,244            234,362            263,316            260,589            237,940            249,836            
Non-department and support services 91,169              75,530              81,028              (910)                  (4,087)               31,055              5,976                268                   26,476              15,601              

Debt service and other financing:
Principal 779,324            638,765            638,847            652,471            529,199            481,562            491,714            603,207            672,857            666,678            
Interest 281,794            264,320            276,717            193,211            195,344            166,770            28,590              36,997              55,817              89,405              
Debt issue costs -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        310,868            19,000              -                        -                        -                        

Capital outlay 2,087,428         823,083            440,820            1,225,028         6,669,964         3,677,500         3,431,151         2,324,016         1,213,999         323,518            
          Total expenditures 20,367,695       16,894,204       14,937,743       14,719,121       18,696,943       15,157,964       13,712,675       12,532,864       10,317,743       9,374,024         

        Excess (deficiency) of revenues
          over (under) expenditures 960,997            1,013,355         1,784,226         (481,687)           (5,163,754)        (679,946)           (464,942)           546,805            4,755,712         379,157            

--CONTINUED--

2016 2015 20142023

CITY OF CAYCE, SOUTH CAROLINA

CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES - GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
(Modified accrual basis of accounting)

LAST TEN FISCAL YEARS

2022 2021 2020 2019 2018 2017

92



Other Financing Sources (Uses)
Proceeds from TIF bond issue $ -                        $ -                        $ -                        $ -                        $ -                        $ 8,436,275         $ -                        $ -                        $ -                        $ -                        
Proceeds from sale of assets 90,999              138,672            472,353            58,261              40,145              44,968              3,028                35,000              16,972              254,931            
Installment purchase contracts 738,000            429,034            251,595            364,000            283,556            374,000            519,000            -                        -                        -                        
Transfers in 1,459,699         1,275,358         879,337            1,196,433         884,041            911,911            1,761,120         1,404,441         423,300            456,887            
Transfers out (1,459,699)        (1,275,358)        (879,337)           (1,196,433)        (884,041)           (911,911)           (1,761,120)        (1,404,441)        (423,300)           (456,887)           
Total other financing sources 828,999            567,706            723,948            422,261            323,701            8,855,243         522,028            35,000              16,972              254,931            

Net change in fund balances
before extraordinary item 1,789,996         1,581,061         2,508,174         (59,426)             (4,840,053)        8,175,297         57,086              581,805            4,772,684         634,088            

Net change in fund balances 1,789,996         1,581,061         2,508,174         (59,426)             (4,840,053)        8,175,297         57,086              581,805            4,772,684         634,088            

Fund balances, beginning of year 15,726,468       14,145,407       11,637,233       11,696,659       16,536,712       8,361,415         8,304,329         7,722,524         2,949,840         2,315,752         
Fund balances, end of year $ 17,516,464       $ 15,726,468       $ 14,145,407       $ 11,637,233       $ 11,696,659       $ 16,536,712       $ 8,361,415         $ 8,304,329         $ 7,722,524         $ 2,949,840         

Debt service as a percentage of 
non-capital expenditures 5.9% 6.1% 6.3% 6.3% 6.0% 5.6% 5.1% 6.3% 8.0% 8.4%

CITY OF CAYCE, SOUTH CAROLINA

CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES - GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
(Modified accrual basis of accounting)

LAST TEN FISCAL YEARS

2022 2021 2020 2019 20182023

(1) The City reports governmental expenditures reimbursed by the Water and Sewer Utility Fund net of such reimbursement

2017 2016 2015 2014

93



Percentage of
Total Assessed

Value to
Total Direct Estimated

Year Vehicles (FILOT) Tax Rate (1) Actual Value

2014 33,707,440$   31,406,130$  5,646,490$  (22,208,610)$  48,551,450$   44.17          849,135,496$   5.7%
2015 34,138,570     34,547,080    5,994,890    (24,197,850)    50,482,690     44.17          573,465,498     5.7%
2016 33,944,810     35,766,070    6,442,250    (24,673,760)    51,479,370     45.36          877,639,579     5.8%
2017 33,676,700     36,613,870    6,186,310    (23,992,750)    52,484,130     45.36          923,812,039     5.9%
2018 35,728,800     37,636,160    6,016,820    (24,118,800)    55,262,980     47.69          965,379,606     5.7%
2019 38,087,130     38,287,970    6,095,340    (24,671,560)    57,798,880     49.69          977,291,004     5.9%
2020 38,269,500     39,048,610    7,083,120    (24,710,220)    59,691,010     53.73          1,007,737,667  5.9%
2021* 42,028,880     38,365,310    7,360,460    (22,235,700)    65,518,950     53.73          1,099,288,512  6.0%
2022 44,388,670     37,648,890    7,790,700    (21,350,530)    68,477,730     53.73          1,160,495,060  5.9%
2023 47,869,770     37,512,070    8,407,040    (21,260,320)    72,528,560     58.10          1,273,129,119  5.7%

Source: Lexington County Auditor, Final Tax Year Assessments

(1) Direct tax rate reflects the millage assessed by the City and applied per $1,000 or total assessed values

*Results due to reassessment year

Real and Personal Property

CITY OF CAYCE, SOUTH CAROLINA

ASSESSED VALUE AND ESTIMATED ACTUAL VALUE OF TAXABLE PROPERTY
LAST TEN FISCAL YEARS

Assessed Value Actual Value
Estimated

Residential

Manufacturing/
Commercial/

Industrial
Motor Tax Exempt

Less:
Total Taxable

94



City County School District All Other Total
Year Millage Millage Millage Districts Millage

2014 44.170           76.728          176.210         22.502           319.610         
2015 44.170           77.178          176.210         24.002           321.560         
2016 45.360           76.968          225.960         22.443           370.731         
2017 45.360           77.298          225.960         22.663           371.281         
2018 47.690           75.646          225.960         22.543           371.839         
2019 49.690           76.797          225.960         22.343           374.790         
2020 53.730           77.985          225.960         21.115           383.090         
2021* 53.730           75.592          230.220         20.100           379.642         
2022 53.730           74.592          234.400         20.030           382.752         
2023 58.100           74.592          242.400         20.030           395.122         

Source: Lexington County Auditor, Final Millage Reports

* Reassessment year effect on City Millage

(1) Section 6-1-320 of Act 388 of the South Carolina Code of Laws establishes millage caps for local governing bodies
equal to the increase in the average of the twelve monthly consumer price indexes for the most recent twelve-month
period (January to December of the preceding calendar year), plus beginning in 2008, the percentage increase in the
previous year in population growth as determined by the Office of Research and Statistics of the State Budget and
Control Board.

CITY OF CAYCE, SOUTH CAROLINA

PROPERTY TAX RATES - DIRECT AND OVERLAPPING GOVERNMENTS
LAST TEN FISCAL YEARS

(Rate per $1,000 of assessed value)

95



Percentage of Percentage of
Taxable Total Taxable Taxable Total Taxable

Assessed Assessed Assessed Assessed
Taxpayer Value Rank Value Value Rank Value

Dominion/SCANA 27,071,900$    1 31.84% 23,366,180$    1 33.09%
Owen Electric Steel Co. of S.C. 3,679,970 2 4.33% 2,852,940 2 4.54%
Matheson Tri Gas, Inc. 2,588,400 3 3.04%
Advenir @ One Eleven LLC 1,765,570 4 2.08%
Brickworks Apartments LLC 1,562,400 5 1.84%
Otarre Point Realty Partners LLC 1,530,690 6 1.80%
Granby Millpond NRDE LLC 1,458,000 7 1.71%
FAH Holdings-Cayce LLC 1,410,000 8 1.66%
SN Riverside LLC 1,247,230 9 1.47% 1,090,830 3 1.57%
Martin Marietta Materials 1,038,120 10 1.22%
Granby Crossing, L.P. 593,570 0.70% 448,820 8 0.64%
Bell South Telecommunication, Inc.
Farm Bureau Insurance of S.C. 781,080 4 1.02%
EDR Cayce, LLC 656,050 5 1.29%
Parkland Partnership 614,290 6 0.87%
CMC Steel 508,990 7 0.72%
     Totals 43,945,850$    51.68% $30,319,180 43.74%

Total City-wide Assessed Value 85,035,990 100.00% 70,760,060 100.00%

Source: Lexington County Auditor's Office

CITY OF CAYCE, SOUTH CAROLINA

PRINCIPAL PROPERTY TAXPAYERS

JUNE 30, 2023 AND NINE YEARS AGO

2023 2014

96



Fiscal Year Tax
Ended June 30, Year Fiscal Years Total (3)

2014 2013 2,022,657$      1,958,919$   96.85% 58,085$       2,017,004$    99.72%
2015 2014 2,107,404        2,043,271     96.96% 56,622         2,099,893      99.64%
2016 2015 2,196,094        2,124,920     96.76% 63,184         2,188,104      99.64%
2017 2016 2,348,676        2,286,122     97.34% 53,427         2,339,549      99.61%
2018 2017 2,529,945        2,455,628     97.06% 61,277         2,516,904      99.48%
2019 2018 2,747,643        2,633,466     95.84% 92,963         2,726,429      99.23%
2020 2019 3,054,450        2,965,319     97.08% 73,854         3,039,173      99.50%
2021 2020 3,301,313        3,222,328     97.61% 53,369         3,275,697      99.22%
2022 2021 3,487,389        3,372,793     96.71% 66,066         3,438,860      98.61%
2023 2022 4,186,905        4,028,164     96.21% - 4,028,164 96.21%

Source: Lexington Source: Lexington County Auditor, Final Tax Year Assessments

CITY OF CAYCE, SOUTH CAROLINA

PROPERTY TAX LEVIES AND COLLECTIONS (1)

LAST TEN FISCAL YEARS

(3) Property taxes are billed and collected by county governments. Real property taxes are reported by the county on a calendar-year and levy-year basis,
while personal property taxes are levied on a monthly basis. Total collected amounts reported by the county differ slightly to amounts reported by the City.

of Levy
PercentagePercentage

of Levy
Current Subsequent

the Fiscal Year (2) Amount
Taxes Levied for

Collected within the
Collections in Total Collections to Date

(1) Collections do not include applicable penalties, interest, motor carriers, and fees-in-lieu-of-taxes (FILOT), payments from Richland County, or property
taxes received from redevelopment areas for Tax Increment Financing bonds.

(2) Information from the Lexington County Treasurer's Office, inclusive of abatements and supplements.

Fiscal Year of the Levy

97



Percentage
Fiscal Year of Personal

Ended Total
June 30 Payable Bonds Income

2014 -$  1,390,082$   600,862$     16,715,000$  32,609,883$  -$  51,315,827$     17.0% 3,990$             
2015 - 949,858 224,242       13,945,000    33,825,489    - 48,944,589 16.1% 3,779 
2016 - 491,714 - 12,970,000 32,144,429    507,532 46,113,675 15.0% 3,563 
2017 - - 423,778       12,275,000    54,841,328    362,630 67,902,736 19.8% 4,771 
2018 - 7,715,000 593,591       10,600,000    53,072,889    1,330,951         73,312,431 21.3% 5,205 
2019 - 7,425,000 645,572       9,355,000      50,954,399    878,017 69,257,988 19.9% 4,919 
2020 - 7,125,000 657,095       8,590,000      48,476,545    540,547 65,389,187 16.6% 4,668 
2021 - 7,113,068 579,843       31,078,024    23,207,138    234,709 62,212,782 15.8% 4,502 
2022 - 6,765,254 685,222       28,285,830    24,420,012    - 60,156,318 14.0% 3,967 
2023 - 6,408,670 968,898       25,447,767    25,506,495    - 58,331,830 14.1% 4,274 

Note: See "Demographic and Economic Statistics" table for personal income and per capita data

(TIF) System State PurchaseGeneral

Bonds Bonds Fund Loans Payable
Obligation

Government

Business-type Activities

Amount
Per Capita

(Population)

Sewer
Water and

Clean Water Installment

Revenue Revolving Contracts

CITY OF CAYCE, SOUTH CAROLINA

RATIOS OF OUTSTANDING LONG-TERM DEBT BY TYPE
LAST TEN FISCAL YEARS

Total
Primary

Governmental Activities

Tax
Increment
Financing

Purchase
Installment
Notes and
Promissory

Revenue Contracts

98



Fiscal Year Percentage of
Ended Assessed Value of

June 30 Taxable Property

2014 $ - $ - $ - 
2015 - - - 
2016 - - - 
2017 - - - 
2018 - - - 
2019 - - - 
2020 - - - 
2021 - - - 
2022 - - - 
2023 - - - 

Note: The City has no current general obligation bonds outstanding.

Source: City of Cayce Finance Department

CITY OF CAYCE, SOUTH CAROLINA

RATIOS OF GENERAL BONDED DEBT OUTSTANDING
LAST TEN FISCAL YEARS

Bonded Indebtedness (Population)

Amount
Total General Per Capital

99



Percentage
Applicable
to Cayce

Political Subdivisions Taxpayers
Lexington County $ 1,586,855,062      $ 17,225,000           6.33% $ 1,090,343             
Lexington School District 2 368,253,540         202,510,000         26.43% 53,523,393           
Lexington Recreation District 1,205,862,262      16,460,000           8.32% 1,369,472             
Columbia Metropolitan Airport 3,475,316,832      1,945,000             6.33% 123,119 
Riverbanks Zoo 3,475,316,832      25,225,000           6.33% 1,596,743             

Total Overlapping General Bonded Debt $ 263,365,000         $ 57,703,069           

Direct City Debt Outstanding

Governmental Activities:
Tax Increment Financing (TIF)

Revenue Bonds $ 6,408,670             
Installment Purchase Contracts 968,898 

$ 7,377,568             

Total Direct and Overlapping Debt $ 65,080,637           

Source: Lexington County Finance Department and City of Cayce Finance Department

Cayce
Taxpayer

Share of Debt

CITY OF CAYCE, SOUTH CAROLINA

TOTAL DIRECT AND OVERLAPPING DEBT
JUNE 30, 2023

Debt
OutstandingAssessed Value

100



Total Assessed Valuation $ 72,528,560  $ 68,477,730  $ 65,518,950  $ 59,691,010  $ 57,798,880  $ 55,262,980  $ 52,484,130 $ 51,479,370 $ 50,482,690  $ 48,551,450  

Maximum General
Obligation Debt limited
to 8% of total assessed
valuation (1) 5,802,285    5,478,218    5,241,516    4,775,281    4,623,910    4,421,038    4,198,730    4,118,350 4,038,615    3,884,116    

Outstanding bonds
chargeable to bond limit -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   

Legal debt margin $ 5,802,285    $ 5,478,218    $ 5,241,516    $ 4,775,281    $ 4,623,910    $ 4,421,038    $ 4,198,730    $ 4,118,350    $ 4,038,615    $ 3,884,116    

Total net debt applicable to
the limit as a percentage
of debt limit 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0%

(1) Article 10, Section 14.7 of the South Carolina Constitution limits general obligation debt to 8% of the assessed value of all taxable property. Does not include FILOT.

Source: Lexington County Auditor's Office

2016 20142015

CITY OF CAYCE, SOUTH CAROLINA

LEGAL DEBT MARGIN INFORMATION

LAST TEN FISCAL YEARS

2022 2020 2019 2018 201720212023

101



Gross Revenues $ 20,399,500  $ 19,045,063  $ 19,403,621  $ 19,029,412  $ 18,474,151  $ 17,453,758  $ 17,370,618 $ 16,899,283 $ 15,005,544  $ 14,580,922  
Capital Facility Charges 1,139,847    1,312,761    652,588       1,057,084    1,162,128    743,423       1,622,762    465,468       1,604,279    1,592,759    
Expenses of Operating and

Maintaining the System (3) (14,108,854) (13,611,870) (13,611,870) (12,415,300) (12,337,412) (12,045,106) (11,239,920) (10,627,732) (9,159,617)   (9,089,535)   

Net Earnings/Net Revenues (1) $ 7,430,493    $ 6,745,954    $ 6,444,339    $ 7,671,196    $ 7,298,867    $ 6,152,075    $ 7,753,460    $ 6,737,019    $ 7,450,206    $ 7,084,146    

Combined Debt Service
Requirements (4) $ 4,522,248 $ 4,451,817    $ 4,304,979    $ 4,551,013    $ 4,518,463    $ 4,439,485    $ 3,387,085    $ 4,551,866    $ 4,774,334    $ 4,835,493    

Debt Service Coverage (5) 164% 152% 150% 169% 162% 139% 229% 148% 156% 147%

Debt Service Coverage
Without Capital Facility
Charges (5) N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 122% 114%

2015 2014 (2)

CITY OF CAYCE, SOUTH CAROLINA

PLEDGED REVENUE - REVENUE BOND COVERAGE WATER AND SEWER ENTERPRISE FUND

LAST TEN FISCAL YEARS

2022 2021 2020 2019 2018 2017 20162023

2) For 2014, gross revenues include debt service reserve account savings as allowed under the prior indenture of trust.
3) Expenses of operating and maintenance of the system are exclusive of depreciation, amortization, and other non-cash items.
4) Includes annual principal and interest payments on revenue bonds and state revolving funds loans.
5) Under the 2016 Bond Ordinance, debt service coverage to be at least 115%. Years prior to 2016 coverage tests required Net Revenues without Capital Facility Charges to be at least 115% or Net Revenues (without Capital Facility Charges) to be at leas
110%, plus Net Revenues with Capital Facility Charges to be at least 120%.

1) Effective in 2016, the City's 2016 Master Bond Ordinance replace the prior bond indentures of trust and requires Net Earnings (as defined in the ordinance and include of Capital Facility Charges) to be at least 115% of the Annual Principal and Interest 
Requirements for all bonds. Previously, debt service coverages under the then effective indentures.

102



2020

Alterations $ 5,021,261         $ 4,266,149         $ 1,985,053         $ 2,261,394         $ 3,367,800         $ 2,662,932         $ 4,093,414         $ 3,663,392         $ 2,024,358         $ 959,069            
Additions 314,485            -                        590,631            584,065            8,500                827,622            53,388              1,067,481         -                        258,552            
New Construction 10,329,674       17,417,683       7,040,526         9,456,428         -                        2,267,822         935,740            8,158,486         205,910            -                        

Sub-total 15,665,420       21,683,832       9,616,210         12,301,887       3,376,300         5,758,376         5,082,542         12,889,359       2,230,268         1,217,621         
Signage 31,944              197,666            115,445            137,846            129,552            330,000            35,386              85,224              63,914              8,230,264         

Commercial Totals $ 15,697,364       $ 21,881,498       $ 9,731,655         $ 12,439,733       $ 3,505,852         $ 6,088,376         $ 5,117,928         $ 12,974,583       $ 2,294,182         $ 9,447,885         

2020

Alterations $ 5,713,524         $ 8,852,151         $ 3,863,981         $ 2,249,536         $ 1,934,119         $ 2,328,763         $ 2,040,385         $ 1,722,156         $ 1,227,438         $ 959,069            
Additions 545,446            1,188,694         258,564            255,285            97,610              195,294            239,353            132,485            311,499            258,552            
Multi-Family -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        35,670,684       -                        
Single-Family 246,693            322,000            3,368,360         2,749,725         951,000            1,314,345         2,417,225         9,431,975         6,684,947         8,230,264         
Residential Totals $ 6,505,663         $ 10,362,845       $ 7,490,905         5,254,546         2,982,729         3,838,402         4,696,963         11,286,616       43,894,568       9,447,885         

Yearly Grand Total $ 22,203,027       $ 32,244,343       $ 17,222,560       $ 17,694,279       $ 6,488,581         $ 9,926,778         $ 9,814,891         $ 24,261,199       $ 46,188,750       $ 18,895,770       

2023

2023

CITY OF CAYCE, SOUTH CAROLINA

CONSTRUCTION VALUES

LAST TEN FISCAL YEARS

2022 2019 2018 20172021

2016 2015 2014

2015 20142016

2022 2019 2018 20172021

103



Lexington South
Per Year 2022 Census 1 Cayce 5 County 4 Carolina 4

Total Population (July 1, 2022 Estimate) 13,649 304,797 5,282,634
Per Capita Income (In 2020 Dollars) 30,380$            33,993$                 32,823$                 
Median Household Income (In 2020 Dollars) 55,162$            65,623$                 58,234$                 
Total Personal Income (In 2019 Dollars) 414,656,620$   10,360,964,421$   173,391,895,782$ 

Lexington South
Population Estimates 1 (July 1, 2022) Cayce County Carolina

2010 13,084 263,357 4,635,649
2011 13,109 266,362 4,671,994
2012 13,157 269,787 4,717,354
2013 13,255 273,248 4,764,080
2014 13,359 277,423 4,823,617
2015 13,463 281,675 4,891,938
2016 14,020 286,277 4,957,968
2017 14,060 290,338 5,021,268
2018 14,028 294,350 5,084,156
2019 14,009 298,750 5,148,714
2020 13,781 300,137 5,190,705
2021 13,739 300,137 5,190,705
2022 13,649 304,797 5,282,634

Lexington South

Unemployment Rates (Annual Average) 2 Cayce County Carolina

2011 N/A 8.0 10.6
2012 N/A 7.0 9.2
2013 N/A 5.8 7.6
2014 N/A 5.1 6.5
2015 N/A 4.9 6.0
2016 N/A 4.1 5.0
2017 N/A 3.6 4.3
2018 N/A 2.9 3.5
2019 N/A 2.7 3.3
2020 N/A 4.2 6.0
2021 N/A 3.0 4.0
2022 N/A 2.5 3.3

  2023 3 N/A 2.7 3.2

Cayce's Income Demographics 5 Number Percentages Number Percentage
$0 - $10,000 356 5.6% 42 1.3%

10,000 - 14,999 302 4.7% 142 4.3%
15,000 - 24,999 807 12.7% 453 13.8%
25,000 - 34,999 532 8.4% 243 7.4%
35,000 - 49,999 891 14.0% 238 7.2%
50,000 - 74,999 1,198 18.8% 698 21.2%
75,000 - 99,999 1,082 17.0% 707 21.5%

100,000 - 149,999 917 14.4% 498 15.1%
150,000 - 199,999 228 3.6% 219 6.7%
200,000 and over 50 0.8% 50 1.5%

Totals 6,363 100.0% 3,290 100.0%

Sources:   1 U.S. Bureau of the Census, Census 2020.  2022 latest Estimates.
2 S.C. Department of Employment and Workforce
3 Twelve month average from July 1, 2022 through June 30, 2023.
4 State Demographic Information for all categories is updated as of July 1, 2022.  
5 Income demographics for the City are based on estimates from the Bureau of the Census, American Community Survey,
  2021 ACS 5-Year Estimates Data Profiles
  N/A = Not Available

FamiliesHouseholds

CITY OF CAYCE, SOUTH CAROLINA

DEMOGRAPHIC AND ECONOMIC STATISTICS

LAST 10 AVAILABLE YEARS

104



Percentage Percentage
of Total of Total

Employer Type of Business Employees Rank Employment Employees Rank Employment

Dominion Energy Electric Utility 1277 1 14.9% 1,636 1 19.2%
USPS Mail Distribution 720 2 8.4% 0.0%
Lexington School District 2 Public School System 530 3 6.2% 0.0%
CMC Steel Manufacturer, Steel 463 4 5.4% 378 2 4.4%
Walmart Grocer 130 7 1.5% 0.0%
Farm Bureau Insurance of S.C. Insurance 150 5 1.8% 284 4 3.3%
Food Lion Grocer 145 6 1.7% 0.0%
First Priority Ambulance Service 111 8 1.3% 0.0%
Cintas Uniform Provider 106 9 1.2% 101 6 1.2%
Aqua Seal MFG & Roofing INC. Roofing Contractor 96 11 1.1% 0.0%
Pace Analytical Services, LLC Contractor Services 103 10 1.2% 0.0%

Total 3,831 44.84% 2,399 28.22%

Approximate number employed within the City limits 8,544 8,500

Note:  Information obtained from Business License applications and phone calls to businesses.
          Information does not include the 247 City of Cayce employees.

CITY OF CAYCE, SOUTH CAROLINA

PRINCIPAL EMPLOYERS (TEN LARGEST)

JUNE 30, 2023 AND NINE YEARS AGO

2023 2014

105



2023 2022 2021 2020 2019 2018  2017 2016 2015 2014
Employees by Function/Program

Governmental Activities
       General Government:
          Legislative 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5
          Administrative 8 7 7 7 6 6 6 6 6 5
          Recorder's court 4 4 4 4 4 3 3 3 3 2
          IT 3 2 2 2 1 1 1 1 1 1
       Finance:
          Accounting 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3
       Public Safety:
          Animal Services 0 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 2 2
          Dispatchers 6 6 6 6 6 6 5 5 5 5
          Administration 10 8 7 7 7 4 4 4 4 4
          Detectives 9 8 8 8 8 9 8 8 8 8
          Traffic/Victim Advocate 41 44 44 44 42 43 37 39 41 38
          Fire 27 22 22 22 19 16 16 15 15 12
          Parks 5 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 2 NA
       Planning and Community Dev.:
          Administration 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 5 4 4
       Public Works:
          Public Buildings 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1
          Sanitation 18 18 18 18 17 17 17 15 17 17
          Garage 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5
       Parks and Other:
          Museum 3 2 2 2 2 3 3 2 2 2
          Parks 14 14 14 14 12 12 12 12 10 10
Subtotals 169 161 160 160 150 146 138 134 134 124

Business-type Activities
Water and Sewer Utility

Administrative 5 5 5 5 5 5 4 4 4 12
Water billing * 10 * 10 * 9 * 9 9 9 9 8 8 NA
Water treatment plant 11 11 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 9
Water distribution and maintenance 15 15 15 14 13 13 13 13 13 13
Sewer collection and outfall lines 16 16 16 16 15 15 14 13 13 12
Wastewater treatment plant 17 18 16 16 15 14 13 12 12 12
Wastewater pre-treatment plant ** 4 ** 4 ** 4 ** 4 5 5 4 3 3 1

Subtotals 78 79 75 74 72 71 67 63 63 59

Total 247         240         235         234        222        217         205          197          197          183          

Note:     Schedule is based on budgeted full-time positions.
          * Water Billing was split out from Water Admin as of July 1, 2014.
       ** New Pre-Treatment Plant started operation in February 2014

Source:  City of Cayce Finance, Budget and Personnel Departments

CITY OF CAYCE, SOUTH CAROLINA

FULL-TIME EQUIVALENT CITY GOVERNMENT EMPLOYEES BY FUNCTION

LAST TEN FISCAL YEARS

Fiscal Year

106



2023 2022 2021 2020 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014
Governmental Activities
General Government:

Area in square miles 16.2 16.2            16.2            16.2            16.2            16.2            16.2            16.2            16.2            16.2            
Population of City 13,649 13,739         13,781         14,009         14,081         14,086         14,233         13,625         13,496         13,366         

Police Department 1 :
Number of stations 3 3 3 3 3 4 4 4 4 6
Number of Police Officers 60 58 18 17 17 10 5 1 1 2
Number of Public Safety Officers N/A 0 40 41 45 57 56 57 54 48
Number of Detectives (now Investigators) 8 9 10 8 7 8 8 8 8 8
Number of Civilian Staff (new for FY22) 4 14 - - - - - - - -
Number of Telecommunicators (new for FY22) 6 7 - - - - - - - -
Number of Park/Animal Safety Officers (new FY22) 5 5 - - - - - - - -
Number of arrests 786 667 430 508 676 956 850 700 685 1121
Number of emergency incidents 11,700 11,191 7,097 6,731 7,046 6,796 6,192 5,800 8,470 6,800

Fire Department 1 :
Number of stations 1 1 - - - - - - - -
Number of Firefighters 24 24 17 15 11 9 8 6 6 12
Number of emergency incidents 2,035 1,700 - - - - - - - -

Planning and Community Development
Permits issued 745 830 973 855 428 427 442 452 744 300
Estimated costs of construction 25,838,396 42,871,271  43,328,228  21,898,481  6,488,581    9,926,778    9,814,891    24,261,198  46,188,750  21,931,411  

Public Works
Active vehicles in vehicle replacement plan 200 220 210 214 201 179 179 168 156 146
Refuse collected (average tons/day) 26.5 26 25 30 29.5 36.5 36 24.5 25 23.19
Recyclables collected (average tons/day) 3.5 2.9 3.2 2.5 1.8 4 3.5 2.5 2 1.26

Parks and Museum
Number of parks 9 9 10 10 9 9 9 9 9 9
Number of playgrounds 6 6 6 6 6 6 6 6 5 5
Museum complex 2 2 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1

CONTINUED

CITY OF CAYCE, SOUTH CAROLINA

OPERATING INDICATORS BY FUNCTION
LAST TEN FISCAL YEARS

Fiscal Year

107



2023 2022 2021 2020 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014
Business-type Activities
Water and Sewer Utility:

Number of water customers end of period 8,161 * 8,148           * 8,147           7,917           7,865           7,822           7,776           7,760           8,436           8,245           
Number of sewer customers end of period 13,188 * 13,136         * 12,970         12,838         12,917         12,714         12,583         11,625         12,146         11,595         
Water plant filtration capacity 

per day - gallons (GPD) 9,600,000 9,600,000    9,600,000    9,600,000    9,600,000    9,600,000    9,600,000    9,600,000    9,600,000    9,600,000    
Maximum daily pumping

capacity of water - gallons 10,000,000 10,000,000  10,000,000  10,000,000  10,000,000  10,000,000  10,000,000  10,000,000  10,000,000  10,000,000  
Average daily filtration flow - water GPD 2,690,000 2,770,000    2,710,000    2,920,000    3,360,000    3,080,000    3,004,000    3,000,160    2,730,000    2,790,000    
Peak average filtration flow - water GPD 3,470,000 3,540,000    3,530,000    3,560,000    4,160,000    3,890,000    3,660,000    3,721,000    3,620,000    3,740,000    
Peak daily filtration flow - water GPD 4,480,000 4,915,830    4,618,330    4,506,000    5,126,700    4,313,000    4,663,000    4,408,000    4,232,400    4,771,900    
Wastewater plant treatment

capacity per day - gallons 25,000,000 25,000,000  25,000,000  25,000,000  25,000,000  25,000,000  25,000,000  25,000,000  25,000,000  25,000,000  
Average daily treated flow -

wastewater GPD 10,424,580 9,679,200    10,115,000  10,480,000  9,956,000    9,193,000    9,652,000    9,803,000    7,743,000    8,222,000    
Peak average treated flow -

wastewater GPD 12,233,000 10,887,000  11,913,000  13,942,000  12,578,000  11,886,000  11,462,000  13,458,000  8,900,000    10,123,000  
Peak daily treated flow - 

wastewater GPD 18,443,000 21,470,000  21,700,000  24,959,000  23,321,000  15,812,000  21,547,000  23,647,000  16,490,000  17,075,000  
Number of miles of water mains

owned by City 222.26 222.0           221.8           221.8           221.5           221.2           219.3           217.7           216.3           215.9           
Number of miles of sewage collection

lines owned by City 283.13 282.7           282.2           282.2           281.4           279.9           272.9           270.1           268.5           266.3           

 1 The City's Public Safety Department was split in FY2022 into separate Police and Fire Departments.

* Only counting active accounts.  No longer including inactive but available accounts.  Consumption and revenue will not be affected

Source: City of Cayce Departments

CITY OF CAYCE, SOUTH CAROLINA

OPERATING INDICATORS BY FUNCTION
LAST TEN FISCAL YEARS

Fiscal Year

108



Contact Us
803-796-9020

Visit Our Website
www.caycesc.gov

City of Cayce, South Carolina

COMPLIANCE
SECTION



 

508 HAMPTON STREET, 1ST FLOOR • COLUMBIA, SOUTH CAROLINA  29201 • 803-799-5810 • FAX 803-799-5554 • www.mjcpa.com 
MEMBERS OF THE AMERICAN INSTITUTE OF CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER 
FINANCIAL REPORTING AND ON COMPLIANCE AND OTHER MATTERS 

BASED ON AN AUDIT OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS PERFORMED IN 
ACCORDANCE WITH GOVERNMENT AUDITING STANDARDS 

 
 
To the Honorable Mayor and Members 

  of the City Council 

Cayce, South Carolina 

 
We have audited, in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America and 
the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards issued by the Comptroller 
General of the United States, the financial statements of the governmental activities, the business-type activities, 
each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of the City of Cayce, South Carolina (the “City”) as 
of and for the year ended June 30, 2023, and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively 
comprise the City’s basic financial statements, and have issued our report thereon dated December 7, 2023. 
 
Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting 

 
In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered the City’s internal control over 
financial reporting (internal control) as a basis for designing audit procedures that are appropriate in the 
circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinions on the financial statements, but not for the purpose of 
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the City’s internal control.  Accordingly, we do not express an opinion 
on the effectiveness of the City’s internal control. 
 
A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow management or 
employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or detect and correct, 
misstatements on a timely basis.  A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal 
control such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of the entity’s financial statements will 
not be prevented, or detected and corrected, on a timely basis.  A significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a 
combination of deficiencies, in internal control that is less severe than a material weakness, yet important enough to 
merit attention by those charged with governance. 
 
Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph of this section and 
was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material weaknesses or, significant 
deficiencies. Given these limitations, during our audit we did not identify any deficiencies in internal control that we 
consider to be material weaknesses. However, material weaknesses or significant deficiencies may exist that were 
not identified. 
 

 

109



 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 
Report on Compliance and Other Matters 
 

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the City’s financial statements are free from material 
misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant 
agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and material effect on the financial statements. 
However, providing an opinion on compliance with those provisions was not an objective of our audit, and 
accordingly, we do not express such an opinion.  The results of our tests disclosed no instances of noncompliance 
or other matters that are required to be reported under Government Auditing Standards. 
 
Purpose of this Report 

 
The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and compliance and the 
results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control or on 
compliance.  This report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards 
in considering the entity’s internal control and compliance.  Accordingly, this communication is not suitable for any 
other purpose. 
 
 
 
Columbia, South Carolina 
December 7, 2023 

 
 
 
 
 
 

110



 

508 HAMPTON STREET, 1ST FLOOR • COLUMBIA, SOUTH CAROLINA  29201 • 803-799-5810 • FAX 803-799-5554 • www.mjcpa.com 
MEMBERS OF THE AMERICAN INSTITUTE OF CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT ON COMPLIANCE  
FOR EACH MAJOR PROGRAM AND ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER 

COMPLIANCE REQUIRED BY THE UNIFORM GUIDANCE 
 
 
To the Honorable Mayor and Members 

  of the City Council 

Cayce, South Carolina 

 
Report on Compliance for Each Major Federal Program  

 

Opinion on Each Major Federal Program 

We have audited the City of Cayce, South Carolina’s (the “City”) compliance with the types of compliance 
requirements identified as subject to audit in the OMB Compliance Supplement that could have a direct and material 
effect on each of the City’s major federal programs for the year ended June 30, 2023. The City’s major federal 
programs are identified in the summary of auditor’s results section of the accompanying schedule of findings and 
questioned costs.  
 
In our opinion, the City complied, in all material respects, with the types of compliance requirements referred to 
above that could have a direct and material effect on each of its major federal programs for the year ended June 30, 
2023. 
  
Basis for Opinion on Each Major Federal Program 

We conducted our audit of compliance in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United 
States of America (GAAS); the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, 
issued by the Comptroller General of the United States; and the audit requirements of Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal 

Regulations Part 200, Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal 

Awards (Uniform Guidance). Our responsibilities under those standards and the Uniform Guidance are further 
described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of Compliance section of our report. 
 
We are required to be independent of the City and to meet our other ethical responsibilities, in accordance with 
relevant ethical requirements relating to our audit. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient 
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion on compliance for each major federal program. Our audit does not 
provide a legal determination of the City’s compliance with the compliance requirements referred to above.  
 
Responsibilities of Management for Compliance 

Management is responsible for compliance with the requirements referred to above and for the design, 
implementation, and maintenance of effective internal control over compliance with the requirements of laws, 
statutes, regulations, rules, and provisions of contracts or grant agreements applicable to the City’s federal 
programs. 

111



 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of Compliance 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether material noncompliance with the compliance 
requirements referred to above occurred, whether due to fraud or error, and express an opinion on the City’s 
compliance based on our audit. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not absolute assurance 
and therefore is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with GAAS, Government Auditing 

Standards, and the Uniform Guidance will always detect material noncompliance when it exists. The risk of not 
detecting material noncompliance resulting from fraud is higher than for that resulting from error, as fraud may 
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 
Noncompliance with the compliance requirements referred to above is considered material if there is a substantial 
likelihood that, individually or in the aggregate, it would influence the judgment made by a reasonable user of the 
report on compliance about the City’s compliance with the requirements of each major federal program as a whole. 
 
In performing an audit in accordance with GAAS, Government Auditing Standards, and the Uniform Guidance, we: 
 

 Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. 
 Identify and assess the risks of material noncompliance, whether due to fraud or error, and design and 

perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. Such procedures include examining, on a test basis, 
evidence regarding the City’s compliance with the compliance requirements referred to above and 
performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. 

 Obtain an understanding of the City’s internal control over compliance relevant to the audit in order to 
design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances and to test and report on internal control 
over compliance in accordance with the Uniform Guidance, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion 
on the effectiveness of the City’s internal control over compliance. Accordingly, no such opinion is 
expressed. 

 
We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned 
scope and timing of the audit and any significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in internal control over 
compliance that we identified during the audit. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

112



 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 
Report on Internal Control over Compliance  

A deficiency in internal control over compliance exists when the design or operation of a control over compliance 
does not allow management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, 
or detect and correct, noncompliance with a type of compliance requirement of a federal program on a timely basis. 
A material weakness in internal control over compliance is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal 
control over compliance, such that there is a reasonable possibility that material noncompliance with a type of 
compliance requirement of a federal program will not be prevented, or detected and corrected, on a timely basis. A 
significant deficiency in internal control over compliance is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal 
control over compliance with a type of compliance requirement of a federal program that is less severe than a 
material weakness in internal control over compliance, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged with 
governance.  
 
Our consideration of internal control over compliance was for the limited purpose described in the Auditor’s 
Responsibilities for the Audit of Compliance section above and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in 
internal control over compliance that might be material weaknesses or significant deficiencies in internal control over 
compliance. Given these limitations, during our audit we did not identify any deficiencies in internal control over 
compliance that we consider to be material weaknesses, as defined above. However, material weaknesses or 
significant deficiencies in internal control over compliance may exist that were not identified. 
 
Our audit was not designed for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of internal control over 
compliance. Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed. 
 
The purpose of this report on internal control over compliance is solely to describe the scope of our testing of 
internal control over compliance and the results of that testing based on the requirements of the Uniform Guidance. 
Accordingly, this report is not suitable for any other purpose.  
 
 
 
Columbia, South Carolina 
December 7, 2023 

 
 
 

113



Passed

Federal Grantor/Pass-through  through to  

Grantor/Program Title Subrecipient

U.S. DEPARTMENT OF THE TREASURY

Direct Awards:
COVID-19 Coronavirus State and Local Fiscal 

Recovery Funds 21.027 N/A $ 2,001,124     $ -                    

Total U.S. Department of the Treasury 2,001,124     -                    

U.S. DEPARTMENT OF THE INTERIOR

Passed through the S.C. Department of Archives and History:
Historic Preservation Fund Grants-In-Aid 15.904 N/A 15,000          -                    

Total U.S. Department of the Interior 15,000          -                    

U.S. ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION AGENCY

Passed through the S.C. Department of Health and Environmental Control:
Solid Waste Management Assistance Grants 66.808 32.04SW23 15,000          -                    
Brownfields Multipurpose, Assessment, Revolving Loan

Fund, and Cleanup Cooperative Agreements 66.818 02D32822 3,727            -                    

Total U.S. Environmental Protection Agency 18,727          -                    

Total Expenditures of Federal Awards $ 2,034,851     $ -                    

CITY OF CAYCE, SOUTH CAROLINA

SCHEDULE OF EXPENDITURES OF FEDERAL AWARDS
FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2023

Assistance 
Listing 
Number 

Grant Identification 
Number

 Total 
Expenditures 

114



CITY OF CAYCE, SOUTH CAROLINA 
 

NOTES TO THE SCHEDULE OF EXPENDITURES OF FEDERAL AWARDS 
FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2023 

 
 

 

NOTE 1. BASIS OF PRESENTATION 
 

The accompanying schedule of expenditures of federal awards (the “Schedule”) includes the federal 
grant activity of the City of Cayce, South Carolina (the “City”), and is presented on the modified 
accrual basis of accounting for governmental fund types and the accrual basis of accounting for the 
proprietary fund types. The City reporting entity is described in Note 1 to the City’s basic financial 
statements.  

 
The information in this Schedule is presented in accordance with the requirements of Title 2 U.S. 
Code of Federal Regulations (CFR) Part 200, Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost 

Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards.  Therefore, some amounts presented in the 
Schedule may differ from amounts presented in, or used in the preparation of, the basic financial 
statements. 
 

NOTE 2. DE MINIMIS INDIRECT COST RATE 
 

The City chose not to use the ten percent de Minimis indirect cost rate for the year ended June 30, 
2023. 
 

NOTE 3. NONCASH AWARDS AND LOANS 
 

There were no federal awards expended in the form of noncash assistance during the fiscal year. 
There were also no loans or loan guarantees outstanding at year end. 

 

115



CITY OF CAYCE, SOUTH CAROLINA 
 

SCHEDULE OF FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS 
FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2023 

 
 

 

SECTION I 

SUMMARY OF AUDIT RESULTS 

 
Financial Statements 

Type of report the auditors issued on whether the financial statements 
    audited were in accordance with GAAP:   Unmodified  
 
Internal control over financial reporting: 
Material weaknesses identified?            Yes     X   No 
 
Significant deficiencies identified?          Yes     X   None reported 
 
Noncompliance material to financial statements noted?            Yes     X   No 
  
Federal Awards 

Internal control over major programs: 
Material weaknesses identified?            Yes     X   No 
 
Significant deficiencies identified?          Yes     X   None reported 
 
Type of auditor’s report issued on compliance for 
  major programs:        Unmodified 
 
Any audit findings disclosed that are required to 
  to be reported in accordance with 2 CFR 200.516(a)?             Yes     X   No 
 
Identification of major programs: 
 
Assistance Listing Number     Name of Federal Program or Cluster 
21.027        U.S. Department of the Treasury 
          COVID-19 Coronavirus State and Local  
          Fiscal Recovery Funds  

 

SECTION II 

FINANCIAL STATEMENT FINDINGS AND RESPONSES 

None reported. 
SECTION III 

FEDERAL AWARD FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS 

 

None reported. 
 

 

 

 

 

116



CITY OF CAYCE, SOUTH CAROLINA 
 

SCHEDULE OF FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS 
FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2023 

 
 

 

SECTION IV 

SCHEDULE OF PRIOR YEAR FINDINGS  

 
2022-001. Segregation of Duties  
Criteria:  Internal controls should be in place to provide reasonable assurance that an individual cannot 
misappropriate funds without such actions being detected during the normal course of business.  
 
Condition: Appropriate segregation of duties among the functions of preparing cash deposits, taking deposits to the 
bank, and reconciling the validated deposit ticket with the deposit detail were not in place during the entirety of the 
fiscal year.  
 
Effect: Failure to properly segregate duties among the cash receipting and reconciliation process can lead to 
misappropriation of assets that is not detected during the normal course of business.  
 
Cause:  The lack of segregation of duties is due to the lack of a properly developed integrated work plan with 
appropriate controls and an improper allocation of available resources. 
 
Status: Resolved. 

 

2022-002. Financial Closeout and Reporting  

Criteria:  Internal control is a process designed to ensure the City can perform timely and accurate financial 
closeout procedures in order to provide reasonable assurance about the achievement of an entity’s objectives with 
regard to the reliability of financial reporting, effectiveness and efficiency of operations, and compliance with 
applicable laws and regulations. Internal control is a process of safeguarding assets against unauthorized 
acquisition, use, or disposition, and includes controls related to financial reporting and operational objectives. 

 
Generally accepted accounting principles require assets, deferred outflows of resources, liabilities, deferred inflows 
of resources, revenues and expenditures/expenses to be recognized in the accounting period in which they become 
earned, measurable (and available for modified accrual funds).  Further, a fundamental principle in accounting and 
financial reporting is the notion of timely recognition and recording of financial and non-financial transactions and 
activities.   
 
Condition:  Certain accounting, reporting and reconciling procedures were not properly performed and reviewed 
during the fiscal year. Significant adjustments were determined and required to be recorded in the months that 
followed June 30, 2022.  We noted deficiencies in completeness, accuracy, and cut off. 
 
Effect:  The effect of the above condition includes the potential for errors and irregularities to occur and not be 
detected and corrected in a timely manner.   

 
Cause:  The City did not properly account for certain activities or prepare and review all reconciliations typically 
required as a part of the financial close and reporting process. 
 
Status: Resolved. 

 

 

117



Resolution Recognizing Danny Crowe for his 25 Years 
 of Service as the City of Cayce’s City Attorney 

Whereas, Mr. Crowe has practiced law in his home state of South Carolina since November 
1975 and earned a Bachelor’s Degree in Political Science from Duke University, and is a 
graduate from the University of South Carolina School of Law; and 

Whereas, while in private practice, Mr. Crowe has served as the appointed municipal attorney 
for eight municipalities, including his service since 1998 as the City Attorney for the City of 
Cayce; and 

Whereas, Mr. Crowe was the 1997 President of the Richland County Bar Association, the 2001 
President of the South Carolina Municipal Attorneys Association, the 2013-2014 Chair of the 
State Bar’s Dispute, Resolution Section Council and the first lawyer recipient of the Richland 
County Bar’s Matthew J. Perry Civility Award in 2002.  Mr. Crowe is listed in the peer-selected 
publication The Best Lawyers in America for his practice of municipal law, for his practice of 
municipal litigation and for his practice as a mediator.  He was recognized by that organization 
as the Alternative Dispute Resolution Lawyer of the Year for Columbia for 2011, 2013 and 
2020, and as the Municipal Lawyer of the Year for Columbia for 2024.  He is a certified 
mediator and arbitrator and has mediated more than 1,200 cases; and 

Whereas, Mr. Crowe was inducted to the South Carolina Chapter of the National Academy of 
Distinguished Neutrals in 2014, in recognition for excellence in the practice of mediation; and  

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, that the Cayce City Council, in Council Session 
duly assembled, joins in recognizing Mr. Danny Crowe for his 25 years of service as the City of 
Cayce’s City Attorney.   

ADOPTED this 2nd day of January 2, 2024. 

____________________________________ 
Elise Partin, Mayor  

ATTEST: 

________________________________________ 
Mendy Corder, CMC, Municipal Clerk 

ITEM IV. A.



Memorandum
To:    Mayor and Council   

From:    Tracy Hegler, City Manager 

Date:    January 2, 2024 

Subject:  Amendment to Regular Council Meeting schedule – First Reading 

Issue 

Council approval is needed to approve amendments to regular Council meeting schedule.  

Background 

In an effort to be more administratively efficient, the City wishes to revise its regular meeting schedule 
each month as currently established in Code section 2‐66.  It is proposed that the City continue to hold 
regular meetings on the first Tuesday of each month and remove the requirement of a second regular 
meeting each month to be replaced with workshops, as needed.    

Recommendation 

Staff recommends City Council give First Reading approval to amending Code Section 2‐66 as described 
herein.   

ITEM V. A. 



STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA   )   ORDINANCE 2024-01 
     ) 
COUNTY OF LEXINGTON  ) AMENDING CITY CODE SECTION 2-66  

      )          DESIGNATING DATES FOR REGULAR  
CITY OF CAYCE   ) MEETINGS OF CITY COUNCIL 

WHEREAS, the Council has determined that it is in the interest of the efficient 
administration of the City to amend Section 2-66 ("Meetings") contained in Division 3 
(“Rules of Order") of Article II (“City Council") of Chapter 2 ("Administration") of the City 
Code to delete the language in the first sentence of the section designating a second 
regular meeting of the Council each month, 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the Mayor and Council of the City of 
Cayce, in Council duly assembled, that: 

The first sentence of Section 2-66 ("Meetings") contained in Division 3 (“Rules of 
Order") of Article II (“City Council") of Chapter 2 ("Administration") of the City Code is 
hereby amended to delete the words "and the third Wednesday" so that the first sentence 
of the section, as amended, shall read "Regular meetings of the council shall be held on 
the first Tuesday of each month unless changed by a majority vote of members present 
at any regular or special meeting." The remainder of Section 2-66 shall continue to read 
as it now reads. 

This Ordinance shall take effect upon the second and final reading. 

DONE IN MEETING DULY ASSEMBLED, this ______ day of ___________ 2024. 

          ______________________________ 
          Elise Partin, Mayor 

Attest: 

______________________________  
Mendy Corder, CMC, Municipal Clerk 

First Reading: _____________________ 

Second Reading and Adoption: ____________ 

Approved as to form:     __________________________ 
      Danny C. Crowe, City Attorney 

ITEM V. A. 



Memorandum
To:    Mayor and Council   

From:    Tracy Hegler, City Manager 

Date:    January 2, 2024 

Subject:  Lumos Franchise Ordinance and Agreement – First Reading 

Issue 

Council approval is needed to accept the franchise agreement with Lumos Fiber of South Carolina, LLC. 

Background 

The City seeks to enter into a franchise agreement with Lumos Fiber of South Carolina, LLC. Pursuant to 
Title 5, Chapter 7, Section 30 of  the South Carolina Code and Title 58, Chapter 9, Section 2230 of  the 
South  Carolina  Code,  the  City  has  been  granted  by  the  General  Assembly  the  ability  to  enter  into 
Franchise Agreements with  telecommunication companies wishing  to operate  in  their  jurisdiction and 
using its public rights‐of‐way. This power is further expressed through Section 17 of the Cayce City Code 
of Ordinances.  

The  proposed  franchise  agreement  allows  greater  transparency  on  behalf  of  both  parties.  The 
agreement is compliant with Telecommunications Act of 1999 which greatly restricts the City’s ability to 
impose any statutorily fixed franchise fee outside of the established range, which is defined by the City’s 
population.  

In  this  agreement  the  City  is  requesting  the  maximum  franchise  fee  allowable  under  the 
Telecommunications Act of 1999 of $750 and  is additionally requesting Lumos Fiber of South Carolina, 
LLC. provide  free, high‐speed Wi‐Fi  to all parks within  the City  that are accessible  to  their  fiber optic 
lines.  

Recommendation 

Staff recommends City Council give First Reading approval to Ordinance 2024‐02 proposing a franchise 
agreement with  Lumos  Fiber  of  South  Carolina,  LLC  and  authorize  the  City Manager  to  execute  the 
agreement on its behalf.  

ITEM V. B. 



1 

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA    )   ORDINANCE 2024-02 
) 

   )          GRANTING A NONEXCLUSIVE FRANCHISE  
 )          FOR THE USE OF PUBLIC STREETS AND  

CITY OF CAYCE                           )          PUBLIC RIGHTS-OF-WAY FOR FACILITIES        
              )          FOR TELECOMMUNICATIONS SERVICES 

WHEREAS, the City, pursuant to S.C. Code sections 5-7-30 and 58-9-2230 and 
other provisions of law, is authorized to grant franchises and other authorizations for the 
use and occupancy of public streets and public rights-of-way; and  

WHEREAS, Lumos Fiber of South Carolina, LLC, a South Carolina limited liability 
company, desires to use and occupy public streets and public rights-of-way to construct, 
install and maintain network facilities for telecommunications services within the Midlands 
of this State Including within and through the City; and 

WHEREAS, the controlling section of the City Code on franchises requires that the 
City enter into a consent or franchise agreement with a business desiring to construct, 
install, maintain, operate, or continue to operate, in, on, above, or under any public street 
or public place under control of the City, any line, pipe, cable, pole, structure or facility for 
purposes including communications, and State law requires that any franchise be granted 
by ordinance, 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the Mayor and Council of the City of 
Cayce, in Council duly assembled, as follows: 

SECTION 1.    The Council hereby approves the grant of a nonexclusive franchise to 
Lumos Fiber of South Carolina, LLC, for the use and occupancy of the public streets 
and public rights-of-way for network facilities for telecommunications services, all as 
described in the attached Franchise Agreement. The attached Franchise Agreement 
is approved in the form attached or in substantially that form as may be finally agreed 
upon by the duly authorized representatives of the parties.  

SECTION 2.   The City Manager is hereby authorized to further negotiate as may be 
needed, and to execute and deliver on behalf of the City a Franchise Agreement as 
approved above. 

This Ordinance shall take effect upon the second and final reading. 

DONE IN MEETING DULY ASSEMBLED, this ______ day of ___________ 2024. 

ITEM V. B. 



  2 

 
                      ______________________________ 
                      Elise Partin, Mayor 
 
Attest: 
 
______________________________  
Mendy Corder, CMC, Municipal Clerk 
 
First Reading: _____________________ 
 
Second Reading and Adoption: ____________ 
 
Approved as to form:     __________________________ 
            Danny C. Crowe, City Attorney 
 



1 

CITY OF CAYCE, SOUTH CAROLINA NONEXCLUSIVE FRANCHISE 
AGREEMENT WITH LUMOS FIBER OF SOUTH CAROLINA, LLC 

This Nonexclusive Franchise Agreement (hereinafter "Agreement") is made and 
entered into as of this   _ day of  2024 (“Effective Date”), by and between the 
CITY OF CAYCE, a South Carolina municipal corporation (hereinafter "City" or 
"Grantor") and LUMOS FIBER OF SOUTH CAROLINA, LLC, a South Carolina limited 
liability company, (hereinafter “LUMOS” or “GRANTEE”), having its principal office at 
4100 Mendenhall Oaks Pkwy, Suite 300, High Point, NC 27265. 

WHEREAS, GRANTEE is a limited liability company duly organized and existing 
under the laws of the Commonwealth of Virginia; and 

WHEREAS, GRANTEE desires to use and occupy the streets and public rights-of- 
way (as hereinafter defined) located within the City for the purposes of constructing, 
installing, and maintaining network facilities for telecommunications services within and 
through the City; and 

WHEREAS, pursuant to Title 5, Chapter 7, Section 30 of the South Carolina Code, 
and Title 58, Chapter 9, Section 2230 of the South Carolina Code, the City has the 
authority to grant franchises and other authorizations for the use and occupancy of the 
streets and public rights-of-way; and 

WHEREAS, the City is agreeable to allowing GRANTEE to use the streets and 
public rights-of-way, subject to the terms and conditions hereinafter set forth and subject to 
any lawful telecommunications regulatory ordinance that may be adopted by the City in the 
future; and 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual promises and covenants set 
forth herein, the City and GRANTEE agree as follows: 

Section 1. Grant of Authority. (a) Subject to the terms of this Agreement, the City 
hereby grants to GRANTEE the non-exclusive right to construct, install, maintain, locate, 
move, operate, place, protect, reconstruct, reinstall, relocate, remove, and replace fiber 
optic or other cable and related facilities for the provision of telecommunications service in 
the public streets and public rights-of-way in the City of Cayce. GRANTEE shall be solely 
responsible for obtaining any required consents from State agencies or from Lexington 
County and/or Richland County or from private parties to the extent that its operations 
affect State, County or private property, or affects their roads, streets or highways or their 
rights-of-way or easements. It is expressly agreed that this Agreement does not give 
GRANTEE the right to occupy any public rights-of-way with permanent aboveground 
cabinets, pads, and other similar structures, except pursuant to the express approval of the 
City, and that nothing in this Agreement shall be construed as consent by the City for 
GRANTEE to provide cable service television service within the Town. 

ITEM V. B. 



2  

(b) GRANTEE acknowledges that this grant of authority is for the benefit of 
GRANTEE only, and that GRANTEE is not authorized to lease, sublease, assign or 
otherwise allow other providers to use or occupy the public rights-of-way except in 
accordance with provisions of this Agreement. 

 
(c) GRANTEE acknowledges that, to the extent allowed by State and Federal 

law, the City has the authority, to adopt ordinances regulating the use of the public rights- 
of-way, so long as such ordinances apply equally to all certificated providers of 
telecommunications services and are related to using the public streets and public rights-of- 
way in the City. GRANTEE agrees to be bound by all such future lawful ordinances so 
long as it operates telecommunication services or has property or equipment within the 
public streets or rights-of-way located in the City. 

 
(d) This Agreement is not a grant by the City of any fee simple or other 

property interest except as expressly contemplated by this Agreement and is made subject 
and subordinate to the prior and continuing right of the City to use the public streets and 
public rights-of-way occupied by GRANTEE for the purpose of laying, installing, 
maintaining, repairing, protecting, replacing, and removing sanitary sewers, water mains, 
storm drains, gas mains, poles and other equipment for municipal uses and with the right of 
ingress and egress, along, above, over, across and in said public streets and public rights- 
of-way, or for any public purpose. 

 
(e) This Agreement shall be in full force and effect from and after the date of its 

approval by the City Council governing body; provided, however, that notwithstanding 
such approval, this Agreement shall not become effective until all required bonds, 
certificates of insurance and other instruments required by this Agreement have been filed 
with, and accepted and approved by the City, which acceptance and approval shall not be 
unreasonably delayed, conditioned, or withheld. 

 
Section 2. Definitions. For the purpose of this Agreement, and the interpretation 

and enforcement thereof, the following words and phrases shall have the following 
meanings, unless the context of the sentence in which they are used shall indicate 
otherwise: 

 
"Affiliate" means a person or entity that directly, or indirectly, through one or more 

intermediaries, owns, controls, is owned or controlled by, or is under common ownership 
or control with another person or entity. 

 
"Cable service" shall have the same meaning as in the 47 U.S. Code § 522 and shall 

be synonymous with the term "cable television service." 
 

"City" means the City of Cayce, South Carolina, and where appropriate to the 
context, its officers, agents, employees, and volunteers. 

 
"City Attorney" means the City Attorney of the City of Cayce or his/her designee. 



3  

 
“City Council” means the City Council of the City of Cayce. 

 
"City Engineer" means the City Engineer or his/her designee. 

 
"City Manager" means the City Manager of the City of Cayce or his/her designee. 

 
"City Property" means and includes all real property owned by the City, including 

all property held in a proprietary capacity by the City. 
 

"Conduit" means any materials, such as metal or plastic pipe, that protects wire, 
cable, lines, fiber optic cable, or other technology for the provision of telecommunications 
service. 

"Duct" means a pipe, tube, channel, or similar item for carrying wires, lines, cables, 
fiber optic cable, or other technology for the provision of telecommunications service. 

 
“Fiber optic or other cable and related facilities” means fiber optic cables or other 

cables, facilities, conduits, converters, splice boxes, handholds, manholes, vaults, 
equipment, drains, surface location markers, appurtenances and related facilities located or 
to be located by GRANTEE in the public streets or rights-of-way in the City used or useful 
for the transmission of telecommunications services. 

 
"GRANTEE" or "Lumos" means Lumos Fiber of South Carolina, LLC. 

 
"Grantor" means the City of Cayce. 

 
"Public streets and public rights-of-way" or “public ways” include the surface of, 

and the space above and below, any public street, road, highway, avenue, sidewalk, way, 
bridge, viaduct, alley or other public right-of-way, including unimproved surfaces, now or 
hereafter held by or within the City for the purpose of public travel, communications, 
alarm, street lighting, power distribution, water or sewer service or other public use, 
whether present or future, to the extent of the City's right, title, interest or authority to grant 
a franchise to occupy and use such streets and easements for the purpose of providing 
telecommunications services. 

 
“Public works project or public improvements” include, without limitation, the 

construction, realignment, paving or repaving, or other work on any public street or public 
right-of-way, change of grade or alignment of any public street or public right-of-way, the 
construction or reconstruction of any water, sanitary sewer, storm sewer, force main, 
drainage or communications facility of the City. 

 
“Telecommunications facilities” means the plant, equipment, and property, 

including, but not limited to, the poles, pipes, mains, conduits, ducts, fiber optic and other 
cables, circuits, and wires, and any other equipment and property used by GRANTEE to 
provide telecommunications service. 



4  

 
"Telecommunications service" means the providing or offering for rent, sale, or 

lease, or in exchange for other value received, the transmittal of signals, including but not 
limited to, voice, data, image, graphic or video or other programming information, except 
cable television service, between or among points by wire, lines, cable, fiber optics, 
circuits, laser or infrared, microwave, radio, satellite, or other telecommunications 
facilities, but not including cable television service. 

 
Section 3. Term of Agreement. The term of this Agreement shall be for an initial 

term of twenty years, commencing on the Effective Date (“Initial Term”). Unless either 
party gives ninety (90) days written notice of its intention to terminate the Agreement prior 
to the end of the Initial Term, the Agreement shall thereafter automatically renew for up to 
three (3) additional ten (10) year terms, for a maximum of fifty (50) years (each a 
“Renewal Term”); however, such renewal shall not automatically occur if a material, 
uncured breach has not been remedied and the non-breaching party provides ninety (90) 
days written notice prior to the end of a Renewal Term. Upon termination of this 
Agreement as herein provided, and unless the parties are in active good faith negotiation of 
a replacement agreement or otherwise agree in writing to an extension, GRANTEE shall be 
prohibited from further access to the public rights-of-way in the City. 

 
Section 4. Compliance with Applicable Law. GRANTEE shall at all times during 

the term of this Agreement, including any renewal period, comply with all applicable 
federal, state, and local laws, ordinances, and regulations. Expressly reserved to the City is 
the right to adopt, in addition to the provisions of this Agreement and existing laws, such 
additional ordinances and regulations as are necessary for the lawful exercise of its police 
power for the benefit and safety of the public. 

 
Section 5. Construction; Location or Relocation of Facilities. All GRANTEE 

facilities shall be constructed, installed, and located according to the terms and conditions 
contained herein, unless otherwise specified by the City. 

 
5.1. Whenever all existing electric utilities, cable facilities or telecommunications 

facilities are located underground within a particular segment of a street or public right- of-
way of the City, GRANTEE shall also install its telecommunications facilities 
underground. 

 
5.2. Whenever existing overhead electric utilities, cable facilities or 

telecommunications facilities are relocated underground within a particular segment of a 
street or public right-of-way of the City, GRANTEE shall relocate its facilities 
underground within a reasonable amount of time after notification by the City that such 
facilities must be relocated. Absent extraordinary circumstances or undue hardship as 
reasonably determined by the City, such relocation shall be made concurrently to minimize 
the disruption of the public streets or public rights-of-way. 

 
5.3. GRANTEE shall obtain all required permits for the construction or 



5  

installation of its facilities as required in this Agreement, provided, however, that nothing 
in this Agreement shall prohibit the City and GRANTEE from agreeing to an alternative 
plan to review permit and construction procedures, provided such alternative procedures 
provide substantially equivalent safeguards for responsible construction practices. 

 
5.4. In the performance and exercise of its rights and obligations under this 

Agreement, GRANTEE shall not interfere in any manner with the existence and operation 
of any public street and public or private right-of-way, sanitary sewer, water line, storm 
drain gas main, pole, overhead or underground electric and telephone wires, television 
cables, public works, facilities of other telecommunication providers, or City Property, 
without the prior approval of the City or the applicable owner or other party responsible for 
such infrastructure. The Parties acknowledge that the rights, obligations, and requirements 
of any other public entity or other third-party with respect to GRANTEE'S interference 
with the facilities or infrastructure of such entity or third-party are beyond the scope of this 
Agreement and governed by applicable laws and regulations, and the City makes no 
representations with respect to any such rights, obligations, or requirements. 

 
5.5. Except as may be expressly provided herein, nothing in this Agreement shall 

be construed to abrogate or limit the right of the City to perform any public works or public 
improvements. If any facilities of GRANTEE interfere with the construction, operation, 
maintenance, repair or removal of such public works or public improvements, within 
ninety (90) days after written notice by the City (or such other period of time set forth in 
Section 5.7 or as may be agreed upon in writing by the City and GRANTEE), GRANTEE 
shall, at its own expense, protect, alter, remove or relocate facilities, as directed by the City 
Manager or City Engineer. If GRANTEE fails to so protect, alter, remove, or relocate 
equipment within such period, the City may break through, remove, alter, or relocate the 
facilities of GRANTEE without any liability to City, and GRANTEE shall pay to the City 
the costs incurred in connection with such breaking through, removal, alteration, or 
relocation. GRANTEE shall also reimburse the City for or bear any additional cost actually 
incurred by the City as a result of GRANTEE’s failure to comply with the City's request to 
protect, alter or remove equipment under this Agreement. The City may collect such costs, 
and any reasonable expenses and attorney fees incurred in collecting such costs, as debts 
owed to the City, by bringing action in any court of competent jurisdiction or exercising 
the City's rights to draw on bonds or in any other lawful manner, individually or in 
combination. The Parties acknowledge that the rights, obligations, and requirements of any 
other public entity or other third-party with respect to the construction, operation, 
maintenance, repair or removal of such public works or public improvements or other 
infrastructure are beyond the scope of this Agreement and governed by applicable laws and 
regulations, and the City makes no representations with respect to any such rights, 
obligations, or requirements. 

 
5.6. The City retains the right and privilege to cut or move any 

telecommunications facilities located within the public ways or other areas of the City as 
the City may determine to be necessary, appropriate, or useful in response to any life- 
threatening emergency. The City will endeavor to provide prior notice to GRANTEE of 



6  

such emergencies which may impact its telecommunications facilities. If the City is unable 
to provide prior notice of the life-threatening emergency as described above, the City shall 
be required to notify GRANTEE within twenty-four (24) hours of the occurrence of such 
emergency. The Parties acknowledge that the rights, obligations, and requirements of any 
other public entity or other third-party with respect to such entity of third-party's response 
to any emergency situation are beyond the scope of this Agreement and governed by 
applicable laws and regulations, and the City makes no representations with respect to any 
such rights, obligations, or requirements. 

 
5.7. The facilities of GRANTEE shall be located so as not to interfere with 

public safety or, to the extent possible, with the convenience of persons using the public 
streets or rights-of-way. GRANTEE shall construct, maintain, and locate its 
telecommunications system so as not to interfere with the construction, location and 
maintenance of sewer, water, drainage, electrical, signal, and fiber optic facilities of the 
City. The Parties acknowledge that the rights, obligations, and requirements of any other 
public entity or other third-party with respect to GRANTEE'S location of 
telecommunications facilities are beyond the scope of this Agreement and governed by 
applicable laws and regulations, and the City makes no representations with respect to any 
such rights, obligations, or requirements. 

 
5.8. The City shall have the right, but not the obligation, to specifically designate 

the location of the facilities of GRANTEE with reference to sewer and water mains, 
drainage facilities, fiber optic cable, signal poles and lines and similar services, other 
facilities, such as public telephone utilities, public electric utilities, cable television 
facilities, and railway, communication, and power lines, in such a manner as to protect the 
public safety and public and private property. Failure by the City to designate the location 
of GRANTEE’s facilities shall not relieve GRANTEE of its responsibilities in matters of 
public safety, as provided in this Agreement. The Parties acknowledge that the rights, 
obligations, and requirements of any other public entity or other third-party with respect to 
the specific location of GRANTEE'S telecommunications facilities are beyond the scope of 
this Agreement and governed by applicable laws and regulations, and the City makes no 
representations with respect to any such rights, obligations, or requirements. 

 
5.9. Except in the cases of emergencies, GRANTEE shall not move, alter, 

change, or extend any of its telecommunications system in any public street or public right- 
of-way unless prior written notice of its intention to do so is given to the City Manager and 
permission in writing to do so is granted, or such requirement is waived, by the City 
Manager. The City Manager shall either approve or deny GRANTEE’s request to relocate 
its facilities within five (5) days of receipt of GRANTEE’s request. Such permission shall 
be not be unreasonably withheld by the City Manager and shall be conditioned upon 
compliance with the terms and conditions of this Agreement, with such other terms and 
conditions as will preserve, protect and promote the safety of the public using the public 
ways, and as will prevent undue interference with or obstruction of the use of the public 
ways by the public, the City or by any other public utility, public service corporation or 
cable operator for their respective purposes and functions. Such work by GRANTEE shall 



7  

also be coordinated with any City paving program through the Office of the City Engineer. 
The Parties acknowledge that the rights, obligations, and requirements of any other public 
entity or other third-party with respect to the changed location of GRANTEE'S 
telecommunications facilities are beyond the scope of this Agreement and governed by 
applicable laws and regulations, and the City makes no representations with respect to any 
such rights, obligations, or requirements. 

 
5.10. GRANTEE shall not open, disturb or obstruct, at any time, any more of the 

public streets or public rights-of-way than is reasonably necessary to enable it to proceed in 
laying or repairing its telecommunications system. GRANTEE shall not permit any public 
street or public right-of-way so opened, disturbed, or obstructed by it to remain open, 
disturbed, or obstructed for a longer period of time than shall be reasonably necessary. In 
all cases where any public street or public right-of-way is excavated, disturbed, or 
obstructed by GRANTEE, GRANTEE shall take all precautions necessary or proper for the 
protection of the public and shall maintain adequate warning signs, barricades, signals, and 
other devices necessary or proper to adequately give notice, protection, and warning to, the 
public of the existence of all actual conditions present. The Parties acknowledge that the 
rights, obligations, and requirements of any other public entity or other third-party with 
respect to the disturbance or obstruction of the public streets or rights-of-way under the 
ownership or control of such entity are beyond the scope of this Agreement and governed 
by applicable laws and regulations, and the City makes no representations with respect to 
any such rights, obligations, or requirements.  

 
5.11. After the installation, removal, relocation, construction, or maintenance of 

the fiber optic or other cable and related facilities is completed, GRANTEE shall, at its 
own cost, repair and return the public streets or public rights-of-way to a minimum of the 
same or similar condition existing before such installation, removal, relocation, 
construction, or maintenance, in a manner as may be reasonably specified by the City and 
to the reasonable satisfaction of the City. GRANTEE shall be responsible for damage to 
street pavements, existing utilities, curbs, gutters, and sidewalks due to GRANTEE’s 
installation, construction, maintenance, repair, or removal of its telecommunications 
facilities in the public streets, public rights-of-way, and shall repair, replace, and restore in 
kind, the said damaged property at its sole expense. Upon failure of GRANTEE to repair, 
replace and restore said damaged property, in a manner as may be reasonably specified by 
the City and to the reasonable satisfaction of the City, after sixty (60) days’ notice in 
writing shall have been given by the City, the City may cause such necessary repairs to be 
made and may collect the costs incurred from GRANTEE, including but not limited to, 
exercising the City's rights to draw on bonds. The City may collect such costs, and any 
expenses and attorney fees incurred in collecting such costs, as debts owed to the City, by 
bringing an action in any court of competent jurisdiction or in any manner allowed by law. 
The Parties acknowledge that the rights, obligations, and requirements of any other public 
entity or other third-party with respect to the repair, replacement, or restoration of such 
entity's public streets or public rights-of-way are beyond the scope of this Agreement and 
governed by applicable laws and regulations, and the City makes no representations with 
respect to any such rights, obligations, or requirements.  



8  

 
5.12. Neither GRANTEE, nor any person acting on GRANTEE’s behalf, shall 

take any action or permit any action to be done which may impair or damage any City 
Property more than is reasonably necessary to enable it to install or repair its 
telecommunications system, including, but not limited to, any public street, public right- 
of-way or other property located in, on or adjacent thereto. 

 
5.13. In the event of an unexpected repair or emergency, GRANTEE may 

commence such repair and emergency response work as required under the circumstances, 
provided GRANTEE shall notify the City as promptly as possible, before such repair or 
emergency work is started or as soon thereafter as possible if advance notice is not 
practicable. The Parties acknowledge that the rights, obligations, and requirements of any 
other public entity or other third-party with respect to such unexpected or emergency repair 
work are beyond the scope of this Agreement and governed by applicable laws and 
regulations, and the City makes no representations with respect to any such rights, 
obligations, or requirements.  

 
5.14. GRANTEE shall maintain its facilities in good and safe condition and in a 

manner that complies with all applicable federal, state and local requirements, laws, 
ordinances, and regulations. 

 
(a) GRANTEE shall at all times keep and maintain its facilities free of all 

graffiti located thereon. If the City notifies the GRANTEE that graffiti is located on the 
facilities, GRANTEE shall remove the graffiti within (30) days of written notice. If 
GRANTEE defaults in its obligations hereunder, the City may perform the necessary work 
and charge the reasonable cost thereof to and collect the same from the GRANTEE. 

 
(b) GRANTEE shall keep facilities free of debris and anything dangerous 

and/or noxious which would create a hazard or undue vibration, heat, noise or interference. 
 

5.15. GRANTEE shall at all times employ a high standard of care and shall install 
and maintain and use approved methods and devices for preventing failure or accidents 
which are likely to cause damages, injuries, or nuisances to the public. 

 
5.16. GRANTEE shall obtain all required permits from the City and any other 

governmental entity having jurisdiction prior to commencing work of any nature and shall 
comply with all terms and conditions of any such permit. GRANTEE shall furnish detailed 
plans of the work and other required information. GRANTEE shall comply with all 
applicable ordinances and permitting requirements.  

 
5.17. A single permit may be issued by the City, where City permits are 

applicable and required, for multiple excavations to be made in public streets and rights-of-
way. Exceptions to the requirement for a written permit may be allowed in cases of 
emergencies involving public safety or restoration of service. In the case of emergency 
excavations made in a public street or public right-of-way without a permit, GRANTEE 



9  

shall make a report of each such excavation to the City within 24 hours. Any permit 
application and inspection related to repair of excavations shall be promptly acted upon by 
the City so as not to unreasonably delay GRANTEE in efficiently discharging its public 
service obligation and in any event shall be granted or denied within thirty (30) days from 
submission and, if denied, accompanied by a written explanation of the reasons the permit 
was denied and the actions required to cure the denial. The Parties acknowledge that the 
rights, obligations, and requirements of any other public entity or other third-party with 
respect to the permitting requirements of such entity are beyond the scope of this 
Agreement and governed by applicable laws and regulations, and the City makes no 
representations with respect to any such rights, obligations, or requirements.  

 
5.18. (a) Promptly after installation, repair or extension of the 

telecommunications system or any portion thereof or any pavement cut by GRANTEE in 
any public way of the City, the incidental trenches or excavations shall be refilled by 
GRANTEE in a manner acceptable to the City Manager. Pavement, sidewalks, curbs, 
gutters or any other portions of public ways damaged, disturbed or destroyed by such work 
shall be promptly restored and replaced with like materials to their former condition by 
GRANTEE at its own expense; however, where it is necessary, and if authorized by the 
City, in order to achieve the former conditions, GRANTEE shall use materials whose type, 
specification and quantities exceed or are different from those used in the installation, then 
GRANTEE at its own expense shall provide such different materials. Where a cut or 
disturbance is made in a section of sidewalk or paving, rather than replacing only the area 
actually cut, GRANTEE shall replace the full width of the existing sidewalk or appropriate 
sections of paving as determined by the City Engineer and the full length of the section or 
sections cut, a section being defined as that area marked by expansion joints or scoring or 
as determined by the City Engineer. GRANTEE shall maintain, repair, and keep in good 
condition for a period of one (1) year following such disturbance all portions of public 
ways disturbed by GRANTEE, provided such maintenance and repair shall be necessary 
because of defective workmanship or materials supplied by GRANTEE. The Parties 
acknowledge that the rights, obligations, and requirements of any other public entity or 
other third-party with respect to the repair, replacement, or restoration of such entity's 
public streets or public rights-of-way are beyond the scope of this Agreement and governed 
by applicable laws and regulations, and the City makes no representations with respect to 
any such rights, obligations, or requirements.  

 
(b) All trees, landscaping and grounds removed, damaged, or disturbed as a result 

of the construction, installation maintenance, repair or replacement of telecommunications 
facilities shall be replaced or restored, as nearly as may be practicable, to the condition 
existing prior to performance of work. All restoration work within the public ways or other 
areas shall be done in accordance with landscape plans approved by the City, as well as any 
other applicable authority. 

 
5.19. (a) GRANTEE shall promptly remove or correct any obstruction, damage, 

or defect in any public street or public right-of-way caused by GRANTEE in the 
installation, operation, maintenance, or extension of GRANTEE’s telecommunications 



10  

system. Any such obstruction, damage, or defect which is not promptly removed, repaired, 
or corrected by GRANTEE after thirty (30) days’ notice to do so, given by the City to 
GRANTEE, may be removed or corrected by the City, and the cost thereof shall be charged 
against GRANTEE and payable on demand. Any expense, cost, or damages incurred for 
repair, relocation, or replacement to City water, sanitary sewer, storm sewer, storm 
drainage, telecommunication facilities or other property resulting from construction or 
maintenance of GRANTEE telecommunications system shall be borne by GRANTEE and 
any and all expense and cost incurred in connection therewith by the City shall be fully 
reimbursed by GRANTEE to the City. The Parties acknowledge that the rights, obligations, 
and requirements of any other public entity or other third-party with respect to obstruction 
of such entity's public streets or public rights-of-way are beyond the scope of this 
Agreement and governed by applicable laws and regulations, and the City makes no 
representations with respect to any such rights, obligations, or requirements.  

 
(b) If weather or other conditions do not permit the complete restoration required 

by this Section, GRANTEE shall temporarily restore the affected property. Such 
temporary restoration shall be at GRANTEE’s sole expense and GRANTEE shall only be 
required to make reasonable, temporary restorations based on the conditions. GRANTEE 
shall promptly undertake and complete the required permanent when the weather or other 
conditions no longer prevent such permanent restoration. The Parties acknowledge that the 
rights, obligations, and requirements of any other public entity or other third-party with 
respect to the repair, replacement, or restoration of such entity's public streets or public 
rights-of-way or other infrastructure or facilities are beyond the scope of this Agreement 
and governed by applicable laws and regulations, and the City makes no representations 
with respect to any such rights, obligations, or requirements.  

 
(c) GRANTEE or other person acting on its behalf shall use suitable barricades, 

flags, flaggers, lights, flares and other measures as required for the safety of all members 
of the general public and to prevent injury or damage to any person, vehicle or property by 
reason of such work in or affecting such ways or property and shall comply with all 
federal, state, and local laws and regulations, including, but not limited to, the flagging 
requirements of the South Carolina Department of Transportation. 

 
5.20. Except in the case of the City's gross negligence or intentional or willful 

misconduct, the City, its officers, agents, or employees, shall not be liable for any damage 
to or loss of any of GRANTEE’s telecommunications services or telecommunications 
facilities within the public ways or any other areas of the City as a result of or in 
connection with any public works, public improvements, construction, excavation, grading, 
filling, or work or activity or lack of any activity of any kind by or on behalf of the City. 

 
5.21. GRANTEE shall cooperate with the City in coordinating its construction 

activities as follows: 
 

(a) GRANTEE shall provide the City with a schedule of its proposed 
construction activities prior to commencing any expansion of its backbone system; 



11  

 
(b) Upon request, GRANTEE shall meet with the City and other users of the 

public ways to coordinate construction in the public ways; and 
 

(c) All construction locations, activities and schedules shall be coordinated, as 
directed by the City Engineer, to minimize public inconvenience, disruption, or damages. 
GRANTEE shall submit a written construction schedule to the City Engineer at least ten 
(10) working days before commencing any work in or about the public streets or public 
rights-of-way. GRANTEE shall further notify the City Engineer not less than five (5) 
working days in advance of such excavation or work and shall comply with the provisions 
of the South Carolina Underground Facility Damage Prevention Act, South Carolina Title 
58, Chapter 36. 

 
Section 6. Mapping. (a) GRANTEE shall maintain an accurate map of its 

telecommunications facilities in the City. GRANTEE shall provide the City with "as built" 
drawings and an accurate map or maps showing the location of its facilities, including pole 
lines and conduit lines and any other facilities requested by the City, to include a digitized 
map(s) in both printed and electronic form. GRANTEE shall, upon request, provide 
updated maps annually of telecommunications facilities in the City. 

 
(b) If any of the requested information of GRANTEE in this Agreement is 

considered proprietary, confidential or a trade secret, GRANTEE will notify the City of this 
opinion and the City will keep such information confidential to the extent permitted by the 
South Carolina Freedom of Information Act (South Carolina Code Title 30 Chapter 4) or 
other any successor statute or law. As for new installations, after the effective date of this 
franchise, GRANTEE shall submit the proposed Mapping of its plans for new construction 
to the City prior to any construction. As-built drawings of any new construction of facilities 
shall be furnished to the City within sixty (60) days of completion of such construction. All 
as-built maps and drawings shall be drawn to scale and reference to a physical City 
benchmark to the extent the physical benchmark is in reasonable proximity to GRANTEE 
new installation. All mapping shall be provided in a format compatible to the City's present 
and future mapping systems. Alternatively, GRANTEE will pay for the cost of making the 
mapping compatible. 

 
(c) Prior to its installation of any Telecommunications facilities in the public 

streets or public rights-of-way and after GRANTEE provides the City with its proposed 
plans for the Telecommunications facilities, the City may in its reasonable discretion 
designate certain locations to be excluded from use by GRANTEE for its 
Telecommunications facilities, including, but not limited to, ornamental or similar specially 
designed streets lights or other facilities or locations which, in the reasonable judgment of 
the City Engineer, do not have electrical service adequate for or appropriate for 
GRANTEE’s facilities or cannot safely bear the weight or wind loading thereof, or any 
other facility or location that in the reasonable judgment of the City Engineer is 
incompatible with the proposed Telecommunications facilities or would be rendered unsafe 
or unstable by the installation. The City Engineer may further exclude certain other 



12  

facilities that have been designated or planned for other use or are not otherwise 
proprietary, legal, or other limitations or restrictions as may be reasonably determined by 
the City. In the event such exclusions conflict with reasonable requirements of GRANTEE, 
the City will cooperate in good faith with GRANTEE to attempt to find suitable 
alternatives, if available, provided that the City shall not be required to incur financial costs 
nor require the City to acquire new locations for GRANTEE. GRANTEE shall, prior to any 
excavation or installation within the public streets or public rights-of-way, provide 
sufficient notification and joint installation opportunity on a shared cost basis to potential 
users of the public streets or public rights-of- way as may be provided for by a separate 
City policy. Such notification and adopted policies shall be designed to maximize co-
location of providers to minimize the disturbance to the public streets or public rights-of-
way and maximize its useable capacity. 

 
Section 7. Insurance Requirements. At all times during the term of this 

Agreement and any renewal period, GRANTEE shall, at its expense, maintain the 
following insurance policies. Any required insurance shall be in a form and with an 
insurance company authorized to do business in South Carolina and have a rating of no less 
than A- VII by A.M. Best Co. 

 
(a) Commercial General Liability. Commercial General Liability insurance 

coverage on an occurrence basis insuring against all claims, loss, cost, damage, expense, or 
liability from loss of life or damage or injury to persons or property arising out of any of 
the work or activity under or by virtue of this Agreement. The minimum limit of liability 
for such coverage shall be Two Million Dollars ($2,000,000) combined single limit for any 
one occurrence. However, the parties acknowledge that GRANTEE may meet the policy 
limit in this section by combination of GRANTEE's General Commercial Liability Policy 
and GRANTEE's Umbrella or Excess Liability Policy. 

 
(b) Contractual Liability. Broad form Contractual Liability insurance, including 

the indemnification obligations of GRANTEE set forth in this Agreement. 
 

(c) Workers' Compensation. Workers' Compensation insurance covering 
GRANTEE’s statutory obligation under the laws of South Carolina and Employer's 
Liability insurance for all its employees engaged in work under this Agreement. 

 
(d) Automobile Liability. Automobile Liability insurance having minimum 

limits of liability of One Million Dollars ($1,000,000) combined single limit applicable to 
owned or non-owned vehicles used in the performance of any work under this Agreement. 

 
(e) Pollution Liability Insurance. GRANTEE shall maintain during the life of 

this Agreement Pollution Liability Insurance in the amount of One Million Dollars 
($1,000,000) for each occurrence. Coverage shall be provided for bodily injury and 
property damage resulting from pollutants which are discharged suddenly and accidentally. 
Such insurance shall also provide coverage for cleanup costs. 

 



13  

(f) Umbrella Coverage. The insurance coverages and amounts set forth in this 
Section may be met by an umbrella liability policy following the form of the underlying 
primary coverage in a minimum amount of Five Million Dollars ($5,000,000). 

 
(g) Prior to commencing construction pursuant to this Agreement or within ten 

(10) days after the granting of the franchise contemplated by this Agreement, whichever is 
sooner, GRANTEE shall provide the City with a memorandum certificate or certificates of 
insurance, showing the type, amount, effective dates, and date of expiration of the policies, 
and thereafter prior to the expiration of any such policy or change in the amount or 
conditions, of coverage. Such certificate or certificates and evidence of insurance shall 
include the City, its officers, agents, and employees as additional insureds. GRANTEE 
shall obtain a written obligation on the part of each insurance company to notify 
GRANTEE at least thirty (30) days before cancellation or a material change of any such 
insurance. Upon receipt of such notice from GRANTEE's insurance company, GRANTEE 
will immediately notify the City of any of the required coverages that are not replaced. 

 
Section 8. Surety. 

 
(a) Within ten (10) days after the Effective Date of this Agreement, and prior to 

the commencement of any construction by GRANTEE, GRANTEE shall furnish and file 
with the City an irrevocable bond, in a form and by a surety authorized to do business in 
South Carolina, in the amount of One Hundred Thousand Dollars ($100,000) securing its 
faithful performance of the terms and conditions of this Agreement. GRANTEE shall 
maintain such bond for the duration of this Agreement, unless otherwise agreed to in 
writing by the City. Failure to maintain the bond shall be deemed a material default by 
GRANTEE of this Agreement. 

 
The bond shall guarantee GRANTEE’s faithful performance of the terms and 

conditions of this Agreement, including, but not limited to: (1) the timely completion of 
construction; (2) compliance with applicable plans, permits, technical codes and standards; 
(3) proper location of the facilities as specified by the City; (4) restoration of the public 
ways and other property affected by the construction as required by this Agreement; (5) the 
submission of "as-built" drawings after completion of the work as required by this 
Agreement; (6) timely payment and satisfaction of all claims, demands or liens for labor, 
material or services provided in connection with the work; and (7) the payment by 
GRANTEE of all lawful liens, taxes, damages, claims, costs or expenses which the City 
has been compelled to pay or has incurred by reason of any act or default of GRANTEE 
under this Agreement and all other payments due the City from GRANTEE pursuant to this 
Agreement. 

 
(b) Whenever the City determines that GRANTEE has violated one (1) or more 

terms, conditions, or provisions of this Agreement for which relief is available against the 
bond, a written notice shall be given to GRANTEE. The written notice shall describe in 
reasonable detail the violation so as to afford GRANTEE an opportunity to remedy the 
violation.  GRANTEE shall have thirty (30) days subsequent to receipt of the notice in 



14  

which to correct the violation before the City may make demand upon the bond. Failure to 
maintain the bond shall be a material default under this Agreement. 

 
(c) Such bond shall be in addition to any performance, defect bond, or other 

surety required by the City in connection with the issuance of any construction or any 
successor ordinance. 

 
Section 9. Indemnification. GRANTEE agrees to indemnify, defend and hold 

harmless the City, its officers, employees and agents from and against all claims, demands, 
losses, damages, liabilities, fines, and penalties, and all costs and expenses incurred in 
connection therewith, including, without limitation, reasonable attorney’s fees and costs of 
defense (collectively, the losses), arising out of any breach by GRANTEE of the terms and 
conditions of this Agreement, except to the extent proximately caused by the negligence or 
willful misconduct of the City, its officers, employees and agents. In addition, GRANTEE 
shall protect, indemnify, and hold harmless the City, its officers, agents, and employees, 
from any and all demands for fees, claims, suits, actions, causes of action, or judgments 
based on the alleged infringement or violation of any patent, invention, article, 
arrangement, or other apparatus that may be used in the performance of any work or 
activity arising out of the use of any Telecommunication facilities or the provision of 
Telecommunication service. 

 
Section 10. Hazardous Substances. In its performance of this Agreement, 

GRANTEE shall not transport, dispose of, or release any hazardous substance, material, or 
waste, except as necessary in performance of its work under this Agreement, and in any 
event GRANTEE shall comply with all federal, state, and local laws, rules, regulations, and 
ordinances controlling air, water, noise, solid wastes, and other pollution, and relating to 
the storage, transport, release, or disposal of hazardous material, substances, or waste. 
Regardless of the City's acquiescence, GRANTEE shall indemnify and hold the City, its 
officers, agents, employees, and volunteers harmless from all costs, claims, damages, 
causes of action, liabilities, fines, or penalties, including reasonable attorney's fees, 
resulting from GRANTEE's violation of this section and agrees to reimburse City for all 
costs and expenses incurred by the City in eliminating or remedying such violations. 
GRANTEE also agrees to reimburse the City and hold the City, its officers, agents, 
employees, and volunteers harmless from any and all costs, expenses, attorney’s fees and 
all penalties or civil judgments obtained against any of them as a result of GRANTEE's use 
or release of any hazardous substance or waste onto the ground, or into the water or air 
from, near or upon the City's premises. For purposes of this Section, the following 
definitions shall apply: 

 
"Hazardous Substances" means asbestos and any and all pollutants, dangerous 

substances, toxic substances, hazardous wastes, hazardous materials and hazardous 
substances as referenced or defined in, or pursuant to, any federal, state, local or other 
applicable environmental law, statute, ordinance, rule, order, regulation or standard in 
effect on the date hereof including, without limitation, the Resource Conservation and 
Recovery Act (42 U.S.C 6901, et seq.), as amended, the Federal Insecticide, Fungicide and 



15  

Rodenticide Act (7 U.S.C. 136, et seq.), as amended, the Comprehensive Environmental 
Response, Compensation and Liability Act (42 U.S.C. 9601, et seq.), as amended, and the 
Toxic Substances Control Act (15 U.S.C. 2601, et seq.), as amended. 

 
As used in this Section, “release” includes the placing, releasing, depositing, spilling, 
leaking, pumping, emitting, emptying, discharging, injecting, escaping, leaching, 
disposing, or dumping of any substance. 

 
Section 11. Fees 

 
(a) In consideration of the grant of authority to utilize the streets and public 

places of the City for the provision of Telecommunications Service, and in accordance with 
applicable law and ordinances, GRANTEE shall pay such franchise fees, business license 
taxes, and administrative fees as are presently permitted by Article 20 of Chapter 9 of Title 
58 of the 1976 Code of Laws of South Carolina, as enacted in 1999, and as may be enacted 
and imposed by the City. GRANTEE shall also pay all such ad valorem taxes, service fees, 
sales taxes, or other taxes and fees as may now or hereafter be lawfully imposed on other 
businesses within the City. Provided, however, that in the event that Article 20 of Chapter 
9 of Title 58 of the 1976 Code of Laws of South Carolina, as enacted in 1999, or other laws 
governing franchise fees, business license taxes and/or other fees with respect to  
Telecommunications Service shall be substantially modified by subsequent legislation or 
court decision, the provisions herein contained shall be brought into conformity with the 
changes in the applicable law by appropriate amendment to this agreement. If the 
limitations on the amount of franchise fees, administrative fees, and business license taxes 
on Telecommunications Service providers shall be removed or modified in the future, the 
City shall have the right to amend this agreement to impose such fair, reasonable, 
competitively neutral, and non-discriminatory fees and taxes as may then be permitted. 
GRANTEE will be free to challenge any tax or fee structure not in compliance with 
applicable law. 

 
(b) For the use of the Right of Way, as defined by S.C. Code Section 58-9-

2230, to provide Telecommunications Service, GRANTEE shall pay to the City a franchise 
fee in the amount of $750 per annum which fee is in lieu of any permit fee, encroachment 
fee, degradation fee, or other fee assessed on a Telecommunications Service provider for 
use of the Right of Way to the extent required by S.C. Code Section 58-9-2230. The initial 
franchise fee shall be paid to the City on or before the effective date of this Agreement, and 
thereafter on January 2 of each calendar year the franchise remains in effect. 

 
Section 12. Public Benefits. As a benefit to the public, GRANTEE agrees that it 

shall provide free, high-speed, state-of-the-art, fiber-fed public Wi-Fi service in such of the 
City's public parks as may be mutually agreed between GRANTEE and City. Such service 
shall be accessible to City residents and visitors, subject to GRANTEE’S terms of service 
and acceptable use policy. GRANTEE shall provide the City with an updated copy of 
GRANTEE’S terms of service and acceptable use policy whenever there are changes. Wi-
Fi service will be installed and available no later than six (6) months after the 



16  

telecommunications facilities pass each mutually agreed park and will continue throughout 
the term of this Agreement. 

 
Section 13. General provisions. 

 
(a) Authority. GRANTEE warrants and represents that it has obtained all 

necessary and appropriate authority and approval from all applicable federal, state and 
county agencies or authorities to provide all telecommunications facilities and services it 
intends to provide within the City, and upon request by the City will provide evidence of 
such authority. 

 
(b) Other remedies. Nothing in this Agreement shall be construed as waiving or 

limiting any rights or remedies that the City or GRANTEE may have, at law or in equity, 
for enforcement of this Agreement. 

 
(c) Severability. If any section, subsection, sentence, clause, phrase, or other 

portion of this Agreement, or its application to any person, is, for any reason, declared 
invalid, in whole or in part by any court or agency of competent jurisdiction, said decision 
shall not affect the validity of the remaining portions hereof. 

 
(d) Nonenforcement. Neither party shall be excused from complying with any 

of the provisions of this Agreement by any failure of the other party, upon any one or more 
occasions, to insist upon strict performance of this Agreement or to seek the other party’s 
compliance with any one or more of such terms or conditions of this Agreement. 

(e) Conflicts of law. If there is a conflict between the provisions of this 
Agreement and any law, whether federal, state, or City, including all future laws and 
ordinances, the law and conflicting Agreement provision will, to the extent reasonably 
possible, be construed so as to be consistent with each other and if such construction is not 
reasonably possible, the conflicting provision of this Agreement shall be deemed 
superseded by such law and have no effect, notwithstanding the contract clause of the 
United States Constitution. 

 
(f) Controlling law and venue. By virtue of entering into this Agreement, 

GRANTEE agrees and submits itself to a court of competent jurisdiction in the City or in 
State Circuit Court in Lexington County, or in the United States District Court for the 
District of South Carolina, and further agrees that this Agreement is controlled by the laws 
of South Carolina or any applicable federal laws and that all claims, disputes and other 
matters shall be decided only by such court according to the laws of South Carolina or any 
applicable federal laws or by any regulatory body with jurisdiction, including the Federal 
Communications Commission. 

 
(g) Captions. The section captions and headings in this Agreement are for 

convenience and reference purposes only and shall not affect in any way the meaning or 
interpretation of this Agreement. 

 



17  

(h) Nondiscrimination. During the performance of this Agreement, GRANTEE 
agrees that it will not discriminate against any employee or applicant for employment on 
the basis of race, religion, color, sex, handicap, or national origin. GRANTEE agrees to 
post in conspicuous places, available to employees and applicants for employment, notices 
setting forth the provisions of this nondiscrimination clause. GRANTEE, in all solicitations 
or advertisements for employees placed by or on behalf of GRANTEE, will state that 
GRANTEE is an equal opportunity employer. Notices, advertisements, and solicitations 
placed in accordance with federal law, rule, or regulation shall be deemed sufficient for the 
purpose of meeting the requirements herein. 

 
(i) Notices. (a) Notices given pursuant to this Agreement shall be in writing and 

addressed as follows: 
 

To the City: City Manager   
City of Cayce 
1800 12th Street 
P.O. Box 2004 
Cayce, South Carolina 29171 
 

With a Copy to: City Attorney 
City of Cayce 
1800 12th Street  
P.O. Box 2004 
Cayce, South Carolina 29171 
 

To GRANTEE: Chief Network Officer 
4100 Mendenhall Oaks Pkwy, Suite 300 
High Point, NC 27265 

 
With a Copy to: General Counsel 

4100 Mendenhall Oaks Pkwy, Suite 300 
High Point, NC 27265 

 
(b) Either party may change the address at which it will receive notices by 

providing written notice of the change to the other party. 
 

  



18  

 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have duly executed this Agreement. 

 
 
 

LUMOS FIBER OF SOUTH CAROLINA, LLC 
A limited liability company 

 
By:   

 
Name:  

 
Title:  

 
 

State of   
Town/County of  , TO WIT; 

 
The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me this   day of 

 , 2024 by   , of 
Lumos Fiber of South Carolina, LLC, a  company. 

 
 

Notary Public 
 

My commission expires:    
My registration number:   



19  

CITY OF CAYCE        
A South Carolina municipal corporation 

 
By:   

 
Name:  

 
Title:  

 
 
 

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
CITY OF CAYCE , to-wit: 

 
The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me this   day of 

 , 2024, by Tracy Hegler, City Manager of the City of Cayce, on its behalf. 
She is personally known to me. 

 

 
Notary Public 

 
My commission expires:    
My registration number:   



City of Cayce 
Committee Appointments/Reappointments 

January 2, 2024

COUNCIL ACTION REQUIRED 

PLANNING COMMISSION – ONE (1) POSITION 
Mr. Ed Fuson recently resigned from the Planning Commission.  The City has three potential member applications 
in the que – Mr. Danny Creamer, Ms. Donna Zeigler and Mr. Dan Gooch received in that order.  Their potential 
member applications are attached for Council’s review.   

BEAUTIFICATION FOUNDATION – TWO (2) POSITIONS  
Ms. Debra Carter’s term on the Foundation expires in January and she would like to serve again.  Ms. Carter has 
served on the Foundation since 2010, is currently the Secretary of the Foundation and regularly attends the 
meetings.  Her reappointment application is attached for Council’s review.  Mr. Eric Shealy’s term on the 
Foundation expires in January as well.  He has served on the Foundation since 20210, is currently the Vice 
President of the Foundation and regularly attends the meetings.  His reappointment application is attached for 
Council’s review.       

NO COUNCIL ACTION REQUIRED 

The following positions remain open until receipt of potential member applications. 

ACCOMMODATIONS TAX COMMITTEE – TWO (2) POSITIONS 
The Accommodations Tax Committee advises Council on the expenditure of local accommodations tax funds for the 
purpose of promoting tourism, the arts and cultural affairs in the community.  Members are selected from the hospitality 
and lodging industries, as well as from the community at large.  The Committee currently has two (2) open positions 
that must be filled by someone who works at a Cayce restaurant.   

CAYCE MUNICIPAL ELECTION COMMISSION – TWO (2) POSITIONS 
Commissioners observe the voting process on Election Day that is handled by Lexington County. 

EVENTS COMMITTEE – TWO (2) POSITIONS 
Works with City staff to plan and coordinate community events that encourage and foster good community relations 
and citizen participation.   

PUBLIC SAFETY FOUNDATION – ONE (1) POSITION 
The Public Safety Foundation is a 501 C (3) that raises funds to provide equipment and supplies to the Cayce Police 
and Fire Departments which are not available through other means.     

STANDARD TECHNICAL CODES BOARD OF APPEALS – ONE (1) POSITION 
Meets as needed.  Reviews citizen appeals to ensure building codes, property maintenance codes and fire codes are 
properly interpreted and implemented fairly.  Members who serve on this Board must be either an Engineer, Contractor, 
Architect or Design Professional. 

BOARD OF ZONING APPEAL – ONE (1) POSITION 
Reviews zoning appeals and makes final determination as to whether appeals are denied or upheld. 

APPOINTMENT PROCESS 

Cayce citizens have an opportunity to actively participate in the City through their services on a number of 
advisory boards, commissions, foundations and committees. These groups help shape and carry out policy. 

Applications are accepted at any time for all City of Cayce boards, commissions, foundations and committees.  
Cayce citizens wishing to apply for appointment may submit a potential member application to the Municipal Clerk, 
P. O. Box 2004, Cayce, SC 29171. More information and a copy of the application can be found on our website at 
caycesc.gov or by calling City Hall at 803-796-9020. 

City Council considers received applications at a meeting immediately following an opening. 

ITEM VI. A. 



ITEM VI. A. 



ITEM VI. A. 



ITEM VI. A. 



CITY OF CAYCE 
COMMITTEE MEMBER REAPPOINTMENT APPLICATION 

Name: ________________________________________________________________________ 

Home Address: ___________________________  City, State, Zip _________________________ 

Telephone: ________________________ E-Mail Address _______________________________  

Resident of Cayce:    { Yes    { No     Number of Years  ______________   

Please check the Committee for which you are applying for reappointment:  

{ Accommodations Tax Committee    { Beautification Foundation { Event Committee 
{ Cayce Housing Authority     { Museum Commission { Planning Commission 
{ Consolidated Board of Appeals         { Board of Zoning Appeals    { Public Safety Foundation 

Have you ever been convicted of a felony or misdemeanor other than a minor traffic 
violation?     Yes        No If yes, specify below: 
_____________________________________________________________________________ 

_____________________________________________________________________________ 

Work Address 

Company:  __________________________________  Position ___________________________ 

Address: ______________________________________________________________________ 

City, State, Zip _____________________________ Telephone: ___________________________ 

Fax: __________________________________  E-Mail  ________________________________ 

Work Experience: ______________________________________________________________ 

_____________________________________________________________________________ 

Educational Background:  ________________________________________________________ 

_____________________________________________________________________________ 

Membership Information (Professional, Neighborhood and/or Civic Organizations): 

_____________________________________________________________________________ 

Volunteer Work: _______________________________________________________________ 

_____________________________________________________________________________ 

Hobbies: ______________________________________________________________________ 

______________________________________________________________________________ 

Return to: 
Mendy Corder, Municipal Clerk 

City of Cayce, P.O. Box 2004, Cayce, SC 29171-2004 
Telephone: 803-550-9557  Fax: 803-796-9072 ▪ mcorder@cityofcayce-sc.gov 

ITEM VI. A. 



 

{ { 

{ 
{ 
{ 

{ 
{ 
{ 

CITY OF CAYCE 
ITEM VI. A. 

COMMITTEE MEMBER REAPPOINTMENT APPLICATION 

City, State, Zip Cayce, SC 29033 
Name: Eric Shealy 

Home Address: 716 Naples Ave 

Telephone: _8037603651 E-Mail Address greeneryisforme@gmail.com

Resident of Cayce: ✔ Yes No Number of Years 7 
Please check the Committee for which you are applying for reappointment: 

Accommodations Tax Committee 
Cayce Housing Authority 
Consolidated Board of Appeals 

✔ { Beautification Foundation 
{ Museum Commission 
{ Board of Zoning Appeals 

Event Committee 
Planning Commission 
Public Safety Foundation 

Have you ever been convicted of a felony or misdemeanor other than a minor traffic 
violation?  Yes No If yes, specify below: 

Work Address 

Company: Riverbanks Zoo and Garden Position Greenhouse Manager 

Address: 500 Wildlife Pkwy 

City, State, Zip _Columbia, SC 29210 Telephone: 8036020898 

Fax:   E-Mail eshealy@riverbanks.org 
 

Work Experience: _Highlands Biological Station: 2007-2009, Riverbanks Hortic 

Educational Background: _Clemson '10, BS in Environmental Horticulture 

Membership Information (Professional, Neighborhood and/or Civic Organizations): 

Volunteer Work: Elections Poll Worker, Current Beautification Foundation Vic 

Hobbies: Gardening, Travel, Hiking 

Return to: 
Mendy Corder, Municipal Clerk 

City of Cayce, P.O. Box 2004, Cayce, SC 29171-2004 
Telephone: 803-550-9557  Fax: 803-796-9072 ▪ mcorder@cityofcayce-sc.gov 

mailto:greeneryisforme@gmail.com
mailto:eshealy@riverbanks.org
mailto:mcorder@cityofcayce-sc.gov

	Binder2.pdf
	Agenda 010224.pdf
	Tuesday, January 2, 2024
	6:00 p.m. – Cayce City Hall – 1800 12th Street
	I. Call to Order

	Binder1.pdf
	Item 1. B - December 5, 2023 Council Meeting Minutes 
	Item III. A. - Distinguished Budget Presentation Award Press Release
	Item III. B. - Excellence in Financial Reporting Award Letter
	Item III. B. - Press Release
	Item III. C. - Comprehensive Annual Financial Report
	Item IV. A. - Resolution Danny Crowe
	Item V. A. - Cayce Ordinance amending  2-66
	Item V. A. - White Paper - New meeting schedule
	Item V. B. - Cayce Ordinance granting franchise
	Item V. B. - Lumos Franchise Agreement_
	Item V. B. - White Paper -Lumos franchise agreement 12
	Item VI. A. - Appts and Reappts Report
	City of Cayce
	COUNCIL ACTION REQUIRED
	PLANNING COMMISSION – ONE (1) POSITION
	Mr. Ed Fuson recently resigned from the Planning Commission.  The City has three potential member applications in the que – Mr. Danny Creamer, Ms. Donna Zeigler and Mr. Dan Gooch received in that order.  Their potential member applications are attache...
	BEAUTIFICATION FOUNDATION – TWO (2) POSITIONS
	Ms. Debra Carter’s term on the Foundation expires in January and she would like to serve again.  Ms. Carter has served on the Foundation since 2010, is currently the Secretary of the Foundation and regularly attends the meetings.  Her reappointment ap...
	NO COUNCIL ACTION REQUIRED
	APPOINTMENT PROCESS

	Item VI. A. - Carter Reappointment Application
	Item VI. A. - Creamer Potential Member Application
	Item VI. A. - Gooch Potential Member Application
	Item VI. A. - Shealy Reappointment Application
	Item VI. A. - Zeigler Potential Member Application
	Save a Life Day CFD


	Item VI. A. - Shealy Reappointment Application.pdf
	CITY OF CAYCE
	COMMITTEE MEMBER REAPPOINTMENT APPLICATION
	Riverbanks Zoo and Garden
	eshealy@riverbanks.org



	Have you ever been convicted of a felony or misdemeanor other than a minor traffic: Off
	Name: Debra S. Carter
	Home Address: 
	City State Zip: Cayce SC 29033
	Telephone: 
	EMail Address: 
	Number of Years: 60 yrs
	violation 1: 
	violation 2: 
	Company: The Carter Ins Group
	Position: Owner
	Address: 4727 A Sunset Blvd
	City State Zip_2: Lexington, SC 29072
	Telephone_2: 803-520-5266
	Fax: 803-520-5273
	EMail: debra@carterinsgroup.com
	Work Experience 1: Owner of The Carter Insurance Group for 7 year, prior work experience
	Work Experience 2: Countybanc Insurance for 10 years.
	Educational Background 1: High School Brookland Cayce High School
	Educational Background 2: Some college at USC
	Volunteer Work 1: Beautification Foundation, Moss Creek Neighborhood Assoc,
	Volunteer Work 2: Pink Posse Breast Cancer Survivor Group, Moss Creek Christmas Trees
	Hobbies 1: Shopping, crafts, and walking 
	Hobbies 2: 
	Check Box1: Yes
	Check Box2: Off
	Check Box3: Off
	Check Box4: Off
	Check Box5: Off
	Check Box6: Yes
	Check Box7: Off
	Check Box8: Off
	Check Box9: Off
	Check Box10: Off
	Check Box11: Off


